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Hooksett Kiwanis

Hookoett Small Business of the Year
Paradigm Plumbing & Heating

Paradigm Plumbing & Heating, with 16 employees, is owned by Hooksett resident Steve Labbe.
For the past 20 years, Paradigm has been providing service to residential and commercial
customers in New Hampshire, Maine, and Massachusetts.

Its motto, “Experience the Paradigm Shift”, is coined
to develop an industry shift in the ideology of a
plumbing, heating or air conditioning contractor by
providing excellence in customer service and

developing long term relationships with its customers.

¥ Paradigm and its president Steve Labbe are an integral
i part of the Greater Hooksett community with
| personnel, financial, and in-kind contributions. Among
the more than 20 organizations supported each year are
Hooksett Old Home Day, Red Cross blood drives,
Salvation Army, and Big Brothers/Big Sisters.

Taking advantage of technology Paradigm promotes other businesses and individuals through its
website, blogs, twitter, Facebook and by word of mouth. Paradigm shows a commitment to its
employees by offering a comprehensive benefit package, including education reimbursement,
and matching retirement funds. Steve and his wife Doris reach beyond the norm of business
owners and prepare a full breakfast for their entire workforce at company meetings.

For all of their contributions, we congratulate Paradigm Plumbing & Heating for being selected
as Hooksett’s Small Business of the Year.

Hootsett Large Business of the Year
Shaw’s Supermarket

Since the late 1970s, Shaw’s has been a
stable landmark in Hooksett. Originally
located in the K Mart Plaza, Shaw’s
currently operates a bright and clean
facility located at the Granite State
Marketplace. Shaw’s recognizes and
promotes its more than 120 employees. | |
This is visible in the longevity of many 555 : '

of the associates. It maintains a friendly and approachable staff, generous director, and
supporting managers and associates.




Shaw’s is the most generous supporter of the Hooksett Community Food Pantry in the Pantry’s
mission to provide food assistance to people in need. In 2011 this included Shaw’s largest
charitable fundraiser, the Spirit of Giving Food Drive.

Along with monetary donations, Shaw’s donated packaging supplies to Hooksett schools for an
array of different projects. It helped the Salvation Army to raise 26% more in donations in
2011. Shaw’s supported a number of other Hooksett organizations including Old Home Day,
Hooksett-ites, PTA, Builders Club, Girl and Boy Scouts, Public Library, Congregational Church,
Lions Club, as well as Central and West High Schools.

Its demonstration of leadership in the community can be seen on its store shelves by the
integration and promotion of over 17 local NH made products, including two from Hooksett.

It is for that reason that Shaw’s was selected as Hooksett’s Large Business of the Year.
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Foatert Youth Volunteer of the Year
Adelyn “Addie” Curran

Adelyn Curran, a 17-year old junior at Central High School, is Hooksett’s Youth Volunteer of
the Year. In 2011, she completed over 400 volunteer hours to the Hooksett community, her high
school, and to the elections process surrounding New Hampshire’s first in the nation Presidential
Primary.

The primary focus of her volunteer service in 2011 was serving
as president of the Central High Key Club, a 200 member
organization where the members “run” the organization and
complete tasks similar to those they will face later in life. As
an effective and focused leader, she led 23 Club and Board of
Directors meetings, chaired the Central High Recycling
Program, Central High Open House, and the Hooksett Public
Library Children’s Tea Party. She also did volunteer work for
the Adopt-A-Block Clean-up Project, water stops at the
Hooksett 5k road race and Manchester Marathon, Merrimack River Regatta, Mt. Carmel Nursing
Home, Kid’s Tent at Hooksett Old Home Day. She also participated in training the board
members of the Cawley School Builders’ Club.

Addie participates in Amnesty International where she writes letters to diplomats of countries
where tragic crimes against human rights are taking place. As assistant literary editor of
Central’s “Oracle", she puts together the publication, edits and chooses submissions, plans the
magazine's layout and publicizes it. In 2011, Addie worked 250 volunteer hours on the campaign
staff of a US Presidential candidate. She advocates the importance of youth involvement in the
nation’s political process and encourages her peers to get involved in whatever capacity they
possibly can. What is so amazing is that with all of her volunteer hours, Addie continues to
maintain a 3.8 GPA. She is an exceptional young woman and an outstanding volunteer.



Hooksett Educator of the Year
Donna Tremblay

Donna Tremblay is Hooksett’s Educator of the Year. Donna has been the Advanced Learning
Program (ALP) teacher at David Cawley Middle School since August 2007. Principal Benson
considers Donna to be the consummate professional who has high expectations for all students.
Her creative and innovative thinking in personalizing education and

cultivating the unique strengths of students have helped her to become

an outstanding educator.

During her 5 years at Cawley, she developed and implemented the
Advanced Learning Program for students in grades 6, 7, and 8. Donna
inspires her students by learning right along with them. Her focus is to
encourage the students to be in charge of their learning and thinking.
She is a highly motivated professional who actively participates in
curriculum and professional development opportunities that she embeds
into her instruction and interaction with students.

Donna works with other teachers planning Community Challenges, and field trips that involve
extensive connections of the staff and students between the elementary school and middle
school. She has worked to bring various technology aspects to the entire school. Her efforts
have helped our school take the necessary steps to providing Hooksett students with 21* Century
technology integration.

Donna is an integral member of the school community participating in a number of school
initiatives. Some of these are the Math Curriculum Committee, Technology Committee,
Literature Circles, American Math Challenge, and the School in Need of Improvement
Committee. For all of the students and parents that she has helped during her years in the
Hooksett School District, it is an honor to recognize Donna Tremblay as Hooksett Educator of
the Year.
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Diane Boyce

In your first visit to the Hooksett Recycling and Transfer Station
you may have remarked to yourself “who is that petite woman
driving the payloader”? Well, that lady is Diane Boyce, Hooksett’s
Municipal Employee of the Year.

Diane started as a part-time employee doing paperwork for the
Landfill Superintendent. When he retired in 2004 Diane was
promoted to Superintendent.

Diane has been very instrumental in the planning and
implementation of the town-wide recycling program. She has a



recycling trailer that collects recyclables at several locations throughout town. The hours of
operation at the transfer/recycling center have been increased on Saturdays, and during the
summer it remains open until 7:00 pm on Wednesday evenings.

She has worked for many years to implement the single-stream-recycling program, that will be
implemented in 2012 This will make it easier for the residents of Hooksett to recycle, and will
take additional materials out of the waste stream so that what does go to landfills will be
lessened. All of these efforts help lessen the cost of disposal for the residents of Hooksett. Diane
has offered friendly assistance on many occasions to other departments. Even when she is on
vacation, she calls in to make sure things are running smoothly.

Diane is also a champion of health and wellness. In that role she created and serves as chair of
the Town’s Employee Wellness Committee. In 2011 she co-initiated and organized the
“Hooksett Goes Healthy Walk for Charity”. For all of these accomplishments we thank and
recognize her as the Hooksett Municipal Employee of the Year.
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Hookoett Adult Volunteer of the UYear
Elmer Lajoie

When one thinks about volunteerism in Hooksett, the name Elmer Lajoie immediately comes to
mind. He is one of Hooksett’s most capable and dedicated volunteers. You never have to ask
Elmer to volunteer. Elmer volunteers to volunteer! His volunteer work embraces several
Hooksett organizations. He is a dedicated volunteer for the Knights of Columbus and helps
Father Crowley deliver presents and food baskets to the needy during the holidays, and has even
been spotted in the spring cleaning up the parking lot at the church. He chaired a special raffle
and helped host a Valentine’s Dance that generated much needed funds for Katie Chase and her
family.

Elmer is a regular volunteer for the Hooksett Emergency Relief
Committee (HERC) and the Hooksett Salvation Army. This year
Elmer’s redesign of the Adopt-A-Family program helped it to reach
over 190 children. Elmer also helped out with the Thanksgiving and
Christmas Food Basket program which provided over 300 baskets
during the holidays.”

Elmer is probably best known a dedicated volunteer for the

Hooksett Community Food Pantry. He serves on the pantry

committee as the Facilities and Maintenance Supervisor. He

regularly picks up donated bakery items from Shaw’s Supermarket,

Walmart, and the USDA. Elmer volunteers for every food drive

making preparations to the gym for delivery, receiving donations
and cleaning up after each drive.

Elmer has a positive attitude and encourages others to do likewise. It is always refreshing to see
his energetic smile, and to know that he is helping out because he truly cares. For this we thank
and recognize him as the Hooksett Adult Volunteer of the Year



Hooksett Lions Club
Citizen of the Year

Mary Farwell was born in New Haven, Connecticut, to Harry and Elizabeth Jacobs and grew up
in the suburb of Hamden with her brother Joe. When Mary was a high school sophomore, the
family moved to East Walpole, Massachusetts.

She attended the University of Vermont (UVM) and was awarded a Bachelor of Science Degree
in Nursing. While at UVM, Mary met Peter Farwell, an engineering major and the two began a
four-year courtship. In her senior year, Peter, who was then working for the New England
Telephone Company, was transferred to Manchester, NH. After her UVM graduation, Peter and
Mary married and settled into a duplex in the north end of Manchester. She was employed by
the Visiting Nurses Association of Manchester until shortly before giving birth to their son,
David, in 1968. 1971 saw the birth of daughter, Robin, and their duplex was suddenly too small
for their burgeoning family. In August of that year, the family moved to Grant Drive in the
Village area of Hooksett. It proved to be the perfect location to raise their children with the
Village School and Donati field just a few steps away.

From 1976 to 1983 Mary was a professional fundraiser and event planner for the NH Chapter of
the National Multiple Sclerosis Society. She was the inaugural coordinator for the Readathon
program. This program alone raised over $150,000 for research and for services dedicated to
MS patients in NH. In 1981 she was promoted to Special Event Coordinator and was



responsible for the planning and successful execution of events as diverse as bicycle tours, ugly
bartender contests, and youth events.

In 1983, she and a friend co-founded Customer Perspectives, a business that evaluated the
customer service and sales skills of front-line personnel in a variety of industries. In just over 15
years, the company grew from a three-person office with less than 10 clients to a national firm
with over 300 clients and 4000 independent contractors. Mary retired from Customer
Perspectives in 1999, and she and Peter embarked on a new chapter of their lives. The
appearance of grandchildren followed shortly after retirement. Matthew Farwell, son of David
and his wife Dominique was born in January of 2000 and twins Ryan and Meghan Farwell were
born in September 2001. Caroline Schuh, the first daughter of Robin and Dennis Schuh arrived a
month later, so suddenly, life was full of babies. Emma, Isabelle and Phoebe Schuh arrived at
roughly two to three year intervals thereafter. Today, Mary and Peter have seven grandchildren.

Mary’s first encounter with service to the Town of Hooksett was at the behest of a friend who
convinced her that being a member of the Hooksett Budget Committee would be fun as well as
serving her community. And she did so from 1983 to 1989, and while it was not always “fun” it
certainly provided Mary with an invaluable window into how the Town of Hooksett operates.
She was elected to the Charter Commission in 1989 and that Commission created the inaugural
charter under which the town still operates today.

After her service on the Budget Committee, Mary was ready for a new challenge. A life-long
reader who spent many happy hours in the Hooksett Library with her two children, she was
pleased to be elected as a Trustee of the Hooksett Library in 1989. She has served the Library
since and regards this position as a true labor of love. She was Chairperson of Hooksett Library
Building Committee (1997-1998) which was responsible for renovation of the existing 25,000
square foot building to successfully meet the requirements of a modern library. In 2010 she was
chosen by the NH Library Trustee Association as the Lillian Edelman NH Library Trustee of the
Year.

She is a charter member of the Hooksett Garden Club and served as its treasurer from 2003-2006
and treasurer for its annual wreath sale for the last eight years.

Mary has been the Human Service Secretary of the Hooksett Unit of the Salvation Army since
2003 and is co-chair of the annual Red Kettle campaign which provides funding for needy
Hooksett families. Thanks to an army of citizens, clubs, businesses, and organizations all
coming together to help their less fortunate neighbors, the Red Kettle campaign raised almost
$60,000 in 2011. Mary has also served as Chair of Brookside Congregational Church Outreach
Committee and Chair of its Stewardship Committee.

In the coming years, Mary hopes to continue with her volunteer positions in the community,
spend time with her grandchildren, and enjoy some quiet time at their lake house with Peter. She
is looking forward to another term as Library Trustee with her recent successful election and is
currently seeking new bell ringers to help make 2012 the best year ever for donations to the
Hooksett Unit of the Salvation Army.



In Memoriam

Oscar Morin, Jr., 87, passed away after a long illness on December 10, 2011. He was
born on November 14, 1924 in Hooksett to Oscar and Blanche (Lemay) Morin. Mr. Morin
retired after 30 years as an installer for New England Telephone Company. He served his
country as a Navy Seabee during WWII. He spent many years as an elected official in the Town
of Hooksett. For his dedication to his Town, he was honored as Hooksett’s Citizen of the Year
in 1966. During his retirement years, fishing was his favorite past-time and he traveled to some
of the best fishing areas in New Hampshire and Canada. In his advancing years, he always read
the Hooksett Banner to keep informed of his Town’s progress. Mr. Morin leaves his loving wife
of 65 years, Laurette (Bernard) Morin; a son, Richard Morin and his wife Kerin; a daughter,
Carol Morin and her partner, Linda Riedle; five grandchildren and four great-grandchildren.
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Raymond T. Robb, 78, passed away peacefully on March 18, 2012. He was born on July
26, 1933 in Beverly, Massachusetts to Cedric S. and Dorothy (Twombly) Robb. He graduated
from the Culinary Institute of America. Mr. Robb was a member of the Hooksett Congregational
Church for 40 years. He served five years in the Navy. He had been employed by the State of
New Hampshire and retired from both the State and the New Hampshire Air National Guard
after 20 years of service. He was a Mason for 50 years and served as Secretary for 26 years. He
also served as a Town Councilor and was a member of the Sewer Commission for the Town of
Hooksett. Mr. Robb leaves his loving wife Virginia; three sons Kenneth and his wife Linda;
Glenn and his wife Shawn; Cedric and his wife Becky; a granddaughter, Amanda; and three
stepchildren and their spouses.
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Robert JOS(th Steiner, 83, passed away on June 24, 2012 at the Hackett Hill Health
Care Facility after a long illness. He was born on November 8, 1928 in Bridgeport, Connecticut
to Gilbert and Ruth Steiner. He attended the Vermont Technical College and received his
bachelor’s degree in agriculture from the University of Connecticut. He also served as the
trainer for the UConn Husky Dog. He received his master’s degree in education from the
University of Rhode Island. He served as a member of the Counterintelligence Corps in the US
Army during the Korean War and was recently recognized by Gen. Robert Cone for his 35 years
of dedicated work with the students seeking admission to the US Military Academy at West
Point, NY. Mr. Steiner spent a career working in the field of education. He was a member of the
Hooksett Conservation Commission at the time of his death. He is survived by his wife, Norma
Haines Bolduc Steiner; three children, R. James Steiner and his wife, Theresa; Martha Steiner
Jones; Jonathan Steiner and his wife, Robin; three stepsons, Michael Bolduc and his Karen;
Jeffrey Bolduc and his wife, Debra and Thomas Bolduc; five grandchildren, Ryan, Bethany,
Elise, Erica and Isabelle; four step-grandchildren, Joshua, Timothy, Craig and Kevin. He was
predeceased by his first wife, Lee Anne Schnizer Steiner in 2007.

Our respect and gratitude goes out to all of those people who passed away this year who lived their lives in
such a way as to make Hooksett a better community.
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Town Warrant

To the inhabitants of the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire, in the county of Merrimack in said state,
qualified to vote in Town affairs.

You are hereby notified to meet at the David R. Cawley Middle School on Saturday, April 7, 2012 at
9:00 am for the first session of the Town Meeting to discuss and amend, as required, warrant articles 3
through 27.

The final ballot vote for warrant articles will take place at David R. Cawley Middle School on Tuesday,
May 8,2012. The polls will be open from 6 am until 7 pm.

Article 1
To choose all necessary Town officers for the year ensuing.

Article 2

Zoning Amendments

Amendment No. 1

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 1, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 3, Section P. General Provisions, to change the
reference of Hooksett’s Open Space Plan “from June 2004” to “the latest version”?

Amendment No. 2

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 2, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 3, Section A., General Provisions, “No permits in any
district for any nonresidential or multi-family uses, nor any change, or expansion of use, or construction
shall be issued prior to site plan approval by the Planning Board per NH RSA 674:43 and as detailed in
the Non-Residential Site Plan Review Regulations of the Town of Hooksett as adopted and amended by
removing “nor any change”?

Amendment No. 3

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 3, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 22, Definitions, by adding a definition for “Change of
Use” — Any proposed use that differs from the currently approved use and has an impact on certain
aspects of the use, including but not limited to water, sewer, traffic, noise, parking, lighting, hours of
operation and drainage, or a change of use as recognized by the currently adopted Building Code.

Amendment No. 4

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 4, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 26, Section 3 Non-Conforming Uses, Lots and
Structures, by eliminating the entire text requiring the merger of two or more contiguous lots in single
ownership and by adopting all provisions of RSA 674:39-aa, which provides for the opportunity to
reverse previous involuntary mergers?

Amendment No. 5

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 5, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 22, Definitions, by adding a definition for a buffer —
“Whenever a commercial or industrial use abuts a residential use, zone or district, a buffer zone shall be
provided subject to the approval of the Planning Board. The buffer is an area within a property or site,
generally adjacent to and parallel with the property line, either consisting of natural existing vegetation or
created by the use of trees, shrubs, fences and/or berms, designed to limit continuously the view of and/or
sound from the site to adjacent sites or properties. The buffer shall be not less than fifty (50) feet in width
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and shall be planted with a dense screen of shrubbery and trees not less than eight (8) feet in height at the
time of planting. The screen shall be at least twenty-five (25) feet in width and shall be permanently
maintained suitably by the owner. The buffer shall provide a year-round dense visual screen in order to
minimize adverse impacts. In order to maintain dense screen year-round, at least fifty (50) percent of the
plantings shall be evergreens. Existing natural growth may be included as part of the screen. No
penetration of this buffer zone shall be allowed. With the approval of the Planning Board, a suitable
combination of other elements, such as fencing, berms, boulders, may be incorporated within the buffer
zone”?

Amendment No. 6

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 6, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend the following articles: Article 10, Commercial, Section I.
Buffer Zone; Article 11, Industrial, Section D. Buffer Zone; Article 12, Mixed Use 1, Section G. Buffer
Zone; Article 13, Mixed Use 2, Section H.d) Buffer Zones; Article 14, Mixed Use 3, Section G. Buffer
Zones; Article 15, Mixed Use 4, Section G Buffer Zones, by replacing these Sections with the following
language: Buffer Zone — Whenever a commercial or industrial use abuts a residential use, zone or
district, a buffer zone shall be provided subject to the approval of the Planning Board. Please see Article
22, Definitions, for details”?

Amendment No. 7

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 7, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 8, Conservation Subdivision, Section C. Definition of
Open Space to change the last sentence to read: “Developable (unconstrained) land excludes
jurisdictional wetlands, steep slopes greater than 25 percent or flood hazard areas™?

Article 3

Shall the Town raise and appropriate as an operating budget, not including appropriations by special
warrant articles, the amounts set forth on the budget posted with the warrant for the purposes set forth
therein, and other appropriations voted separately totaling $15,968,007.00.  Should this article be
defeated, the operating budget shall be $15,640,927.00, which is the same as last year, with certain
adjustments required by previous action of the Town meeting, or by law or the Town Council may hold
one special meeting, to take up the issue of a revised operating budget only. Note: This article does not
include special warrant articles 4 through 27. Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 4

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $160,000.00 to purchase a Front End
Loader for the Recycling and Transfer Department and to authorize the withdrawal from the Solid Waste
Disposal Special Revenue Fund. No amount to be raised from taxation. Recommended by the Town
Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 5

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $150,000.00 to be placed in the Town
Building Maintenance Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council (8-
0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 6

To see if the Town will vote to approve the cost items included in the collective bargaining agreement
reached between the Hooksett Police Commission and the Hooksett Police Union Local 46, NEPBA
which calls for the following increases in salaries and benefits at the current staffing level:
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Estimated increase over prior vear

Fiscal Year Salaries Benefits Estimated Increase
2012-13 $91,907 $23,884 $115,791
2013-14 $37,771 $10.861 $ 48,632

and further to raise and appropriate the sum of $115,791.00 for the current fiscal year, such sum
represents the additional costs attributable to the increase in salaries and benefits required by the new
agreement over those that would be paid at current staffing levels. Recommended by the Town Council
(9-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 7
Shall the Town, if article 6 is defeated, authorize the governing body to call one special meeting, at its
option, to address article 6 cost items only?

Article 8

To see if the Town will vote to approve the cost items included in the collective bargaining agreement
reached between the Hooksett Town Council and the Hooksett Permanent Firefighters Association Local
3264, IAFF which calls for the following increases in salaries and benefits at the current staffing level:

Estimated increase over prior vear

Fiscal Year Salaries Benefits Estimated Increase
2012-13 $86,374 ($13,269) $ 73,105
2013-14 $40,232 $13,261 $ 53,493
2014-15 $41,236 $13,559 $ 54,795

and further to raise and appropriate the sum of $73,105.00 for the current fiscal year, such sum represents
the additional costs attributable to the increase in salaries and benefits required by the new agreement
over those that would be paid at current staffing levels. Recommended by the Town Council (9-0),
Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 9
Shall the Town, if article 8 is defeated, authorize the governing body to call one special meeting, at its
option, to address article 8 cost items only?

Article 10

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of purchasing Plow Dump Trucks for the Public Works Department and to raise and appropriate
the sum of $80,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to
expend. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 11

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $68,500.00 to be placed in the
Revaluation Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0),
Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 12

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of purchasing Fire Apparatus for the Fire-Rescue Department and to raise and appropriate the
sum of $50,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend.
Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).
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Article 13

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $50,000.00 to be placed in the
Emergency Radio Communication Development Capital Reserve Fund already established.
Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 14

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of Drainage Upgrades throughout several failing areas in Town and to raise and appropriate the
sum of $50,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend.
Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 15

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $47,000.00 to purchase financial
software, including data conversion, 1* year’s maintenance and support, and hardware. This will be a
non-lapsing appropriation per RSA 32:7, VI and will not lapse until the software conversion is completed
or by June 30, 2016, whichever is sooner. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by
the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 16

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $30,000.00 to purchase a new Fire
Prevention utility vehicle for the Fire-Rescue Department. Recommended by the Town Council (7-1),
Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 17

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of Upgrading the Diesel Tanks and Fuel Dispenser at the Recycling and Transfer Department and
to raise and appropriate the sum of $25,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town
Administrator as the agent to expend. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the
Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 18

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $24,000.00 to purchase personal
protective equipment for firefighters. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the
Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 19

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $20,000.00 to be placed in the Air Pack
and Bottles Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council (5-3),
Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 20

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in the Town of
Hooksett’s Master Plan Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council
(7-1), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 21

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in the Town
Wide Computer Development Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town
Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 22

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of Infrastructure Improvements on Conservation Land and to raise and appropriate the sum of
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$10,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend.
Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 23

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in the Parks and
Recreation Facilities Development Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town
Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 24

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of purchasing Automated Collection Equipment for the Recycling and Transfer Department and
to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town
Administrator as the agent to expend. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the
Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 25

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $7,500.00 to replace the fence at
Riverside Cemetery. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget
Committee (8-0).

Article 26

Shall the Town rescind $2,000,000.00 of bonding authority that was authorized at a Town Meeting in
October 2007 for the construction of certain public and related project improvements in a newly created
tax increment finance district related to the Cabela’s Project? (3/5 ballot vote required.) Recommend by
the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Article 27

To see if the Town will vote to adopt the provisions of RSA 261:153 VI to collect a $0.00 surcharge fee
on vehicle registrations for the purpose of supporting municipal bridge, road construction, reconstruction
and maintenance projects and to establish a Municipal Bridge, Road Construction, Reconstruction and
Maintenance Capital Reserve Fund for this purpose governed by the RSA 35:1. Not recommended by the
Town Council (0-8), Not recommended by the Budget Committee (0-7).
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Budget Status Report FY 2011-2012

2011-12 Year to Date (Over) Under Percent

Department *Appropriation Encumbered  Expenditures Spent Expended
Administration $ 1,143407 $ - $ 1,124590 $ 18,817 98%
Assessing 177,708 - 177,128 580 100%
Bonded Debt Interest 18,113 - 18,113 - 100%
Bonded Debt Principal 370,000 - 370,000 - 100%
Budget Committee 5,914 - 5,735 179 97%
Building (renamed Public Works - Code Enforcement)

Capital Leases 129,056 - 129,055 1 100%
Cemetery Commission 850 - 303 547 36%
Community Development 198,146 - 183,899 14,247 93%
Conservation Commission 10,441 - 10,441 0 100%
Emergency Management 27,046 - 24,724 2,322 91%
Family Services 185,732 - 144,201 41,531 78%
Finance 191,167 - 191,166 1 100%
Fire-Rescue 3,507,125 - 3,476,424 30,701 99%
Forest Fire 21,639 - 20,740 899 96%
Library 529,757 - 525,600 4,157 99%
Police Commission 3,385,135 (57,017) 3,149,848 178,270 95%
Public Works - Highway Division 1,686,537 (11,849) 1,602,634 72,054 96%
Public Works - Parks & Recreation Division 499,489 - 499,488 1 100%
Public Works - Town Buildings Division 442,354 - 432,586 9,768 98%
Public Works - Code Enforcement Division 161,148 - 150,576 10,572 93%
Recycling & Transfer 1,115,260 - 1,067,302 47,958 96%
Sewer Department 1,952,077 - 1,952,077 - 100%
Tax Anticipation Interest 1 - - 1 0%
Tax Collector 233,479 - 221,257 12,222 95%
Town Clerk 23,833 - 23,111 722 97%
Total Operating $ 16,015,414 (68,866) $ 15,500,998 $ 445,550 97%
#5 Lease of Fire-Rescue Tanker $ 56,712 (56,712) $ - $ - 0%
#6 Automated Collection 920,000 - 843,906 76,094 92%
#7 Master Plan Reserve 6,250 - 6,250 - 100%
Total Warrant Articles $ 982,962 $ (56,712) $ 850,156 $ 76,094 92%
Grand Totals $ 16,998,376 $ (125,578) $ 16,351,154 $ 521,644 97%

* Includes Budget Transfers, Grants, and Donations approved by Town Council.

Submitted by:

Chriatine Sewede. Finance Director
603-485-2712

All expenditures are preliminary and unaudited.
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Revenue to offset Taxes FY 2011-2012

2011-12 Year to Date  Over (Under) Percent
Type Source *Budgeted Collected Collected Collected
Taxes
Timber Tax $ 5,000 $ 9,153 § 4,153 183%
Interest and Penalties on Taxes 250,000 288,632 38,632 115%
Activity Tax 7,500 7,444 (56) 99%
Licenses, Permits & Fees -
Motor Vehicles Permits 2,435,000 2,656,914 221914 109%
Building Permits 40,000 52,887 12,887 132%
Other Licenses, Permits & Fees 12,725 17,275 4,550 136%
From State -
Meals & Rooms Tax 600,904 600,904 - 100%
Highway Block Grant 283,795 280,559 (3,236) 99%
State & Federal Forest Land 1,182 940 (242) 80%
Other - Railroad 1,337 1,337 - 100%
From Other Governments
Hooksett School District 82,651 82,651 - 100%
Charges For Services
Tax Collector 1,500 1,486 (14) 99%
Town Clerk 100 125 25 125%
Assessing 600 457 (143) 76%
Community Development 14,550 15,002 452 103%
Police 14,000 17,294 3,294 124%
Fire 38,439 41,575 3,136 108%
Ambulance 150,000 150,942 942 101%
Public Works 22,300 36,085 13,785 162%
Miscellaneous
Sale of Town Property 207,000 203,088 (3,912) 98%
Interest on Investments 20,000 17,248 (2,752) 86%
Rental of Town Property 73,000 75,628 2,628 104%
Welfare Reimbursement 8,000 20,621 12,621 258%
Cable Franchise Fee 125,000 135,180 10,180 108%
Other 20,936 36,755 15,819 176%
Other Funds
Special Revenue Fund - TIF District 274,950 274,950 - 100%
Special Revenue Fund - Solid Waste Disposal 700,000 700,000 - 100%
Enterprise Fund - Sewer 1,952,077 1,952,077 - 100%
Trust Funds 2,500 3,262 762 130%
Totals Revenues $ 7,345,046 $ 7,680,471 $§ 335,425 105%

* Includes Budget Transfers, Grants, and Donations approved by Town Council.

Submitted by:

Christine Sowede. Finance Director

603-485-2712

All revenues are preliminary and unaudited.
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General Obligation Debt

Long-term Debt Payable at June 30, 2012 is comprised of the following issues:

General Obligation Bonds:
$2,600,000 2002 TIF District Bond Expires August 15,2012 260,000
Total $ 260,000

The annual requirement to amortize all debt as of June 30, 2012 including interest payments are

as follows:
Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total
2013 260,000 5,200 265,200
Total $ 260,000 $ 5200 $§ 265,200

Capital Leases

Lease Agreement Payable at June 30, 2012 is comprised of the following issues:

Capital Lease Obligations:
$127,432 Plow Truck Expires on December 15, 2012 27,549
Total $ 27,549

The annual requirement to amortize all debt as of June 30, 2012 including interest payments are

as follows:
Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total
2013 27,549 1,116 28,665
Total $ 27,549 § 1,116 $ 28,665
Submitted by:

Chriatsne Sawede.  Finance Director
603-485-2712

All expenditures are preliminary and unaudited.
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Other Town Funds FY 2011-2012

Balances as of Balances as of

Name of Fund 6/30/2011 Revenues Expenses Interest 6/30/2012
Capital Reserve Fund
Rite of Way for West Alice Ave $ 23,449 $ - $ - $ 213§ 23,662
Feasibility Study Southern Leg Parkway 59,368 - - 539 59,907
Town Wide Compute Development 23 - - 0 23
Town Building Maintenance 152,795 - (15,800) 1,330 138,324
Revaluation 43,541 - - 396 43,936
Permanent Records Archiving System 22,046 - - 200 22,246
Town Wide Digitized mapping System 23,773 - - 216 23,989
Air Pack & Fire Bottles for Fire Department 91,657 - - 833 92,490
Fire Cistern 20,684 - - 188 20,872
HVAC System Development for Library 8,583 - (1,866) 66 6,783
Parks & Recreation Facilities Development 81,066 - (60,458) 328 20,935
Police Computer System Development 26,944 - - 245 27,189
Emergency Radio Communications 173,382 - - 1,575 174,957
Sanitary Landfill 105,825 - (11,699) 941 95,068
Town of Hooksett's Master Plan 10,181 6,250 - 144 16,576
Road Impact Fee Traffic Study 36,303 - (4,680) 315 31,938
Town Wide Opti- Com System - - - - -
Special Revenues Funds

Heritage Commission 7,543 9,250 (2,001) 6 14,798
Heritage Markers 3,964 250 (1,830) 2 2,386
Heads' School 2,650 1,830 (262) 3 4,220
Conservation 16,367 2,748 (894) 14 18,236
Conservation Current Use 929,164 104,000 (508,478) 2,273 526,959
Fire Impact Fee 57,111 82,258 - 96 139,465
Police Impact Fee 84,992 9,413 (1,250) 69 93,224
Public Recreation Facilities Impact Fee 158,048 26,035 (17,165) 134 167,052
Traffic\Roadway Impact Fee 925,317 48,002 - 2,637 975,956
School Impact Fee 86,975 107,070 (118,107) 52 75,990
Solid Waste Disposal Fund 798,852 123,854 (700,000) 708 223,414
Police Detail 84,034 60,515 (50,755) 71 93,865
Fire Detail 2,512 3,591 (5,254) 1 849
Recreation Revolving 18,165 45,168 (43,833) 14 19,515
Ambulance Service - 140,634 (106,397) 28 34,264

Submitted by:

Christsne Swwede. Finance Director
603-485-2712

All numbers are preliminary and unaudited.
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%VACHON CLUKAY CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

608 Chestnut Street + Manchester, New Hampshire 03104

& COMPANY PC (603) 622-7070 « Fax: (603) 622-1452 + www.vceepas.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Mcmbers of the Town Council
Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major lund, and the agpregate remaining fund information of the Town of
Hookseit, New Hampshire (thc Town) as of and for the ycar ended June 30, 2011, which collectively
comprise the Town’s basic financial statemcnts as listed in the table of contents. These financial
slatements are the responsibility of the Town’s management. Cur responsibility is to express opinions on

these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in aceordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain rcasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit ineludes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the aiounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and the significant cstimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions,

In our opinion, the financial statemcnts referred to above present [zirly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Hooksetl, New Hampshirc as of June
30, 2011, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for
the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

Ameriea.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issucd our report dated January
4, 2012 on our consideration of the Town’s inlcrnal control over finaneial reporting and on our tests of iis
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements. The purpose of
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over
financial reporting or on eompliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

The management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and schedule of
funding progress for other post-cmployment benefits on pages i-viii and 30-32, respectively, are not a
required part of the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by the
Governmental Aecounting Standards Board.  We have applied cerlain limited procedures, which
consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation
of the required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no

opinion on it.
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Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial stalements that
collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures
of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by U.S. Office of
Management and Budget Circular A-133, Auwdits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit
Organizations, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. The combining nonmmajor fund
Mnancial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the
basic financial stalements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is lairly stated in all material respects in
relation to the basic linancial statements taken as a whole.

Jackow (ko - Company P

Janvary 4, 2012

55



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The Town of Hooksett’s (Town) discussion and analysis is designed to (1) assist the reader in focusing on
signilicant financial issues, (2} provide an overview ol the Town’s financial activily, (3) identily changes
int the Town’s financial position (its ability to address the next and subsequent year’s challenges), and (4)
identify any material deviations from the financial plan {(the approved budget).

Financial Highlighis:

Government — wide highlights
¥ The assets ol the Town cxceeded its liabilities at June 30, 2011 by $22,834,200 (tote! net assets).

OF this amount, $6,555,066 (unrestricted net assets) may be used to meet the Town’s ongoing
obligations to iis citizens.

» The Town’s expenditures exceeded revenues by $474,120, thereby decreasing the Town’s net
assets for the year,

¥  QOutstanding bonds and other long-term payable at the close of the current fiscal year is
$10,018,654, an increcase of $2,826,323 in comparison to the prior year. This increase is due to
the wastewater treatment facility upgrades in the Sewer Fund.

Fund highlights
» Al the close of the current year, the Town’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund

balance of $5,273,535, which is an increase of $587,888 in comparison with the prior year,

> The increase in fund balance for the Town’s governmental funds was $587,888 or 4% of total
expenditures at the end of the fiscal year.

> Unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $855,900, which is available for spending at
the government’s discretion this is an increase of $494,337 from the prior year,

Overview of the Financial Statements:

This discussion and analysis is infended 1o scrve as an introduction te the Town's basic financial
statements. The Town’s basic financial statements include three componeats: 1) povernment-wide
financial statements, 2} fund financial statements, and 3} notes to the financial statements. in addition to
the basie financial statemcnts, this report contains other supplementary information.

Government-wide financial statentents
The government-wide financial statemenis provide a broad view of the Town’s finances. These

statements (Statement of Net Assets and the Statenent of Activities) provide both short-term and long-term
information about the Town's overall financial position. They are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting, which recognizes all revenues and expenses connected with the current year even if cash has

not been received or paid.

The Starement of Ner Assets presents information on all of the Town’s nen-fiduciary assets and liabilitics,
with the difference of the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in the net assels
may serve as a useful indicator of whether the Nnancial position of the Town is improving or

deteriorating,

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the Town's nef assets changed during the
most recent year, All changes in net asscts are reported as soon as the underlying evenl occurs, regardless

i
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of the timing of related cash Mows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some
items that will nol result in cash flows until future periods {such as uncollected taxes and licenses). This
statement also presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each function of

the Town.
The Statement of Net Assets and the Statentent of Activities divide the Town into two types of activitics:

= Governmental Activities — Most of the Town’s basic functions are reported here which include
the general government, public safely, highways and streets, health and welfare, sanitation,

culture and recreation, economic development and debt service. Property laxes,
intergovernmental revenues, permits and fees, and state and federal grants finance most of these
activitics.

« Business-type Activities — The Town charges a fee to customers with the intention of recovering
all or a signilicant portion of the costs through user fees and charges. The Town’s Sewer fund is

reporied here,
The government-wide [inancial statements can be found on pages 1 and 2 of this report,

Fund financial statements
Unlike government-wide financial statements, the focus of the fund financial statements is directed to

specilic activities of the Town rather than the Town as a whole, Except for the General Fund, a specific
fund is established to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or
objectives. The Town, like other local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate
compliance with [linance-related legal requirements. The fund financial statements, focus on the
individual parts of the Town government, and reporl the Town’s operations in more detail than the
government-wide statements. The Town’s funds are divided into three categories: 1) governmental 2)

proprietary and 3) fiduciary.

Governmental Tunds: Most of the basic services provided by the Town are financed (hrough
governmental funds. Unlike the government-wide financial statements, the governmental fund linancial
statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows ol spendable resources, as well as on balances of
spendable resources available at the end of the year. Such information may be usefu!l in evaluating a

government’s near-lerm requirements.

Because the locus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, i is nseful to compare the information presented here with similar information presented in
the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may beiter undersiand the long-term
impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund Balance Sheet
and the governmental fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances provide
reconciliation to the government-wide statements in order to facilitate this comparison between

governmental funds and governmental activities.

The Town maintains ten individual governmental funds. Information is presented in the Govermmental
Fund Balance Sheei and in the Statement of Revenies, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances for

the funds can be found on page 3 and 4.

The Gencral Fund is considered to be a major fund. The General I'und accounts lor governmental service
provided to the Town’s residents. As of June 30, 2011, to comply with GASD Statement 54, the Town
moved the Library, Heritage Commission, Head's Chapel Preservation and the Capital Reserve [unds into
the General Fund from the Nonmajor Governmental Funds.
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Data from the other nine governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation termed
Nonmajor Governmental Funds.  More information can be found on pages 41-44 regarding these

nonmajor governmental funds.

Proprietary funds: The Town charges sewer customers for the services it provides; they are reported in
proprietary funds, which can be found, on pages 5-7. Proprietary [unds are reported in the same way that
all business-type aclivities are reported in the governmental-wide financial statements but provide more
detail and a statement of cash flows.

Fiduciary funds: These funds are used to account for resources held for the benelit of parties outside the
government, While these lunds represent trust responsibilities of the Town, these assets are restricted in
purpose and do not represent discretionary assets of the government. Therefore, these assets are nol
presented as part of the government-wide financial statements. The Town’s fiduciary funds statements

can be found on page 8 of this report.

Notes to the financial statements
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in

the government-wide and the fund financial statements, and are required by generally accepted
accounting principles. The notes to the financial statements begin on page 9.

Required supplementary informalion; The basic [(inaneial statements and accompanying notes are

followed by a seclion of required supplementary information. This section includes a budgetary
comparison schedule for the General Fund and Funding Progress for Other Post-Employment Benelits,

Government-wide Financial Analysis:

The following is a summary of condensed government-wide financial data for the current and prior ycars.
In the case of the Town, assets exceeded liabilities by $22,834,200 as of June 30, 2011.

Town of Hooksett
Net Assets as of June 30, 2010 and 2011

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Curcenl and other a5sefs $ 25565501 5 24,902,932 $ 3319015 § 32957 $ 20004516 § 28112503
Capitd assels, nat 8,432,392 8,711,291 17,324,811 15,005,908 25,157,203 23,747,199
Total assets $ 307893 § 33,614,223 $ 20643826 § 18245479 § 54,661,719 § 51,859,702
Current liabilites $ 19521884 & 19173445 $ 4757581 0§ 1743395 %8 21279565 % 18421955
Long-lerm liabilities 1,206,500 1,451,526 9,341,454 6,178,016 10,547,954 2,696,871
Total liabilities $ 20,728,484 § 20,629,971 $ 14,009,035 & TOM4t 0§ 31,821,519 § 28,551,382

Nel assefs:

Invested in capital assels,
nelofrelated debt 8,172,197 §  §,223,526 $ 7936157 5 &B43577 5 16108364 § 17,067,103

Restricled 170,760 3,543,644 - - 170,780 3,543,644
Unrestricted 4,946,432 1,217,082 1,608,634 1,480,491 6,556,006 2,697,513
Total net assets $ 13,289,409 % 12,984,252 $ 9,544,791 § 10324068 5§ 22,834,200 § 23,308,320

iii
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The bulk of the Town’s net assets $16,108,354 (70%) represent investment in assets such as land,
buildings, cquipment, and infrastructure (roads and bridges), less any outstanding related debt used to
acquire those assets, are used to provide serviees 1o citizens; consequently, thesc assets are not available
for future spending. Another $170,780 (1%) of the Town’s net assets are legally restricted as to use. The
remaining net assels $6,555,066 (29%) are unrestricled and may be used to meet the Town’s operating
needs and ongoing obligations. The Town’s unrestricted net assets increase $3,857,493 during the year.

The large change in the classification of net asscts between restricted and unrestricted is primarily due to
the Town’s implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 54, Fund Balance
Reporting and Goverrmental Fund Type Definitions.

The following is a summary of the information presented in the Statement of Activities for the current and
YO Yedrs.

Town of Hooksett
Changes in Net Asset for year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

Revenues Governmenfal Aclvities Business-type Activiias Combined Tolals
Program revenues: 2011 2010 2011 2010 20M 2019
Charges for services $ 0 572139 0§ 328314 § 1834708 § 1733432 § 2406847 § 2056746
Operaling grants and conlribuions 572,630 786,118 - - 572,630 786,118
Capilat grants and confributions - 44,529 74,796 3,000 74,798 47,529
General revenues:
Property and olher taxes 8,792,147 9,626,197 - - 9,792,147 9,626,197
Licenses and permits 2,693,571 2,651,892 - - 2,693,571 2,651,892
Grants and confribulions 605,160 608,010 - - 605,160 608,010
Inlerest and inveslment earnings 57,908 100,899 5,304 6,603 83212 107,502
Miscellaneous 587,807 1,017,204 - - 587,807 1,017,204
Gain on sale of capital assels - - 10,000 2,500 10,000 2,500
Contributions lo permanent fund 4,866 1,610 - - 4,866 1,610
Total revenues T T 1555773 Y L9ME Y 175535 § T6BTL0S8 T 15,905,303 |
Expenses
General governmenl $ 2788337 & 2819509 § - $ - § 27883y § 2819523
Public safely 7,540,323 7,534,568 - - 7,540,323 7,534,568
Highways and stesls 1,783,780 2,110,582 - - 1,783,780 2,110,582
Heallh and welfare 168,945 175,382 . - 168,945 175,382
Sanitation 1,054,697 1,005,637 - - 1,054,697 1,005,637
Cuitura and recreation 1,144,532 1,249,361 - - 1,144,532 1,249,361
Economic development 9,830 6,885 - 9,830 6,885
Inferest and fiscal charges 35,647 56,559 - - 35,647 56,559
Intergov ernmental pay menls 55,000 43,000 - - 55,000 43,000
Sewer - - 1,991,577 1973.514 1,991,577 1,973,514
Poliution remediation obligation - - 712510 - 712,510
Total expenses $ 14,581,091 § 15001,503 $ 2,704,087 § 1,973,514 § 17285178 % 16,575,017
Increase(decrease) in net assels 305,157 158,270 (779,277} (227,979 (474,120 (69,709)
Net assels, beginning of year 12,984,252 12,826,982 10,324,068 10,552,047 23,306,320 23,376,089

Net assefs, end of year  § 13,280,409 § 12,984,252 $ 954791 3 10,324,088 § 22834200 § 23,308,320
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yovernmental Activities

The governmental activilies increase in net assets was $305,157 this is an improvement of 2% [rom the
prior year,

The total cost of governmental activities this year was $14,581,091. [However, as shown in the Statement
of Activities, the amount that our taxpayers ultimately financed for these activities through Town property
taxes was only $9,792,147 (66%) because those who directly benefited from the programs paid $572,139
(4%) and other governments and organizations subsidized certain programs in the amount ol $572,630

(4%).

The Town paid for the remaining governmental activities with revenue not specifically targeted for
specific programs. 26% of all revenues arc known as general revenues, which include: interest,
miscellaneous, motor vehicle permit fees, and other licenses and permits.

Revenue by Source - Governmental Activities

Operating
_prants and
contributions
4%

1 Charges for
i SErvices
4%

The Town’s expenses cover a range of services. The largest expenses were for Public Safety, which
accounts for 52% of toral expenses. Program revenue consisting of grants and charges for services in the
amount of $587,275 was collected to offset these expenses. Pubiic safety is made up of police, fire,
ambulance, building inspections and emergency services.

Business-type Activities
The charges for goods and services for the Sewer business-type activities were inadequate to cover the

operating expenses resulting in a Joss of $66,767. Additional loss is reported as “Special item —Pollution
Remediation Obligation” in the amount of $712,510, was due 1o the release of plastic disks into the
Merrimack River on March 6, 2011, The cleanup has been completed and the Town expects any

additional cost to be minimal,

Long-term obligations increased by $3,277,230 of approximately $5,969.561 whicl was authorized lor
upgrades to the wastewater treatment facility funded under the State of New MHampshire, State Water
Pollution Control Revolving Loan Fund. The Town did receive a federal award of $3,112,187 or up to
50% of the principal cost fram American Recovery and Reinvestment Act,
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Financial Analysis of the Town’s Funds:

As noted earlier, the Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements.

Governmental funds

The governmental fund financial statements for the Town are provided on pages 3 and 4. The focus of
the Town’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows and balances of
spendable resources, Such information is useful in assessing the Town’s financing requirements. In
particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a uselul measure of a government’s net resources
available for spending at the end of the year,

At the end of the current year, the Town’s tolal governmental funds reported a combined ending fund
balance of $5,273,535, an increasc of $587,888, in comparison with the prior year,  This increase is
partly due to the lollowing revenues higher than anticipated: ambulance fees, interest and penalties on

taxes and building permit fecs.

Approximately 16% or $855,900 of the total governmental funds $5,273,535 constilutes unassigned fund
balance, which is available for spending at the government’s discretion. The remainder of fund balance
has some type restriction, internal or external, for which the funds can be spent.

Budgetary Highlights:

During the fiscal year 2010-11, there was an increase of $29,437 in the original budget, which was offset
by the same amount with unanticipated revenues.

The fund balance for the general fund increased by $447,691 during the current fiscal year. Key factors
in this change are as follows:

Revenues collected niore than budgeted $ 226,283
Exeess appropriations unspent by departments 531,839
Use of fund balance as a funding source (300,000}
Other financing sources {uses) (10,431)

Total h) 447,691

For the fiscal year 2011-12, the taxpayers approved a $16,979,751 operating and capital budget. The
operaling budget was 1.53% lower than prior year going into the deliberative session of Town Meeling.
There the voters increased the budget by $202,000 for a one-time purchase of land for recreation
purposes. The funding for the land will be [rom the salc of a conservation easement on Town property, so

no lax dollars will be raised.

The $16,979,751 also includes the startup cost for the automated recycling and trash collection program
in the amount of $920,000. The program is due (o start in the spring of 2012 and will provide curbside

collection of both recyclables and trash.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration:

Capital assets
The Town’s investment in capital assets lor its governmental and business-type aclivities as of June 30,

2011 amounts to $25,757,203 (nct of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets
includes land, construction in progress, buildings and improvements, vchicles and cquipment and
infrastructure,

v]
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Additional information on the capital assets can be found in Note 6 in the Notes to the Basic Financial

Statements.
Capital Assets

Governmental Activitles Business-type Activities Combined Totals

2011 010 201 2010 2011 2010
Lang 3 1.1289%9% 3§ 764,769 $ 00000 5 00000 § 1428959 % 1,064,769
Infrastructure 92,754,515 92,754,515 11,314,929 11,314,929 104,069,444 104,069,444
Land improvements 79,428 37,357 - - 79,428 37,357
Buiidings and improvements 8,310,032 8,310,032 10,542,148 10,667,148 18,852,180 18,977,180
Vehicles and equipment 7,022,881 7,252,294 586,322 567,844 7.609,201 7,820,138
Conslruction in progress - - 6,303,067 3,449 409 6,303,067 3,449,409
Total 109,295,625 109,118,967 29,046,466 26,289,330 138,342,291 135,418,297
Accumulated depreciation (100,863,433} (100,407,676) {11,721,655) {11,263,422) {112,585,088) {111,671,008)
Total capital assets $ 8432392 § 8,711,294 $ 1324811 § 15035908 § 25751203 § 23,7479

Major capital asset activity for the governmental activities during the current year included the following:
* lLand
Conservation Pinnacle Property was purchased adding $364,200
= Land improvements
4 Tennis Courts $42,071
*  Vehicles and equipment:
| Electronic Message Board was purchased adding $12,226
| 2006 Ford Crown Victoria was sold removing $23,670
1 1985 Fire Engine was seld removing $150,000
1 2002 Ford Crown Victoria was sald removing $23,098
1 1994 Ford Pickup Fruck was sold removing $14,905
1 1985 Yankec Live Bottom Refluse Trailer was scraped removing $30,000

Major capital asset activity for the business-type activities during the current year included the following;:
*  Conslruetion in progress:
Wastewaler Facility upgrades added $2,853,658
= Vehicles and equipment:
1 John Deer Tractor was purchased adding $18,487

Debt administration

At the end of the current fiscal year, the Town had total bonded debt outstanding of $4,049,093 of which
$3,419,093 was related to the Sewer Fund. In addition, the Sewer Fund has $5,969,561 in other long term
obligation and the Town has $150,195 of capital lease obligation outstanding.

vii
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Additional information on the debt can be found in Note 9 in the Notes o the Basic Financial Statements,

Cutstanding Debt

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Combined Totals
2011 2010 201 010 2044 2009
General obligation bonds $ 110000 § 220,000 $ 3419003 § 3,500,000 $ 352,000 0§ 3,720,000
TIF bond pay able 520,000 780,000 - 520,000 780,000
T otaf long- term debt $ 630,000 § 4,000,000 $ 345003 § 3,500,000 $ 4049093  § 4,500,000
Anaual Change {deciease) (370,000} {80,907) {450,907)

Economic Factors and the Future:

Statistical information available at the NI Employment Security website reports Merrimack County’s
unemployment rate for August 2011 at 4.7%, which is a decrease from a rate of 5.3% a year ago. This
compares to the State’s average unemployment rate of 5.2% and the national average rate of 9.1%.

To reduce the tax rate for 2011 the Town applied $260,000 from the general fund unassigned fund
balance.

The ongoing challenge regarding budgets is to provide an acceptable level of service to local residents
while also funding a responsible capital improvement plan. This challenge will become more of an issue
in the Tuture as our munieipality bears greater personnel costs, notably due to the rising costs of retirement
and other post employment benefils.

Requests for Information:
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town of Hooksett’s {inances for all

of the citizens, taxpayers, custoners, investors and creditors. This financial report seeks to demonstrate
the Town’s aceountability for the money it reecives. Questions concerning any of the information
provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to: Town of Hooksett,
Finance Department, 35 Main Street, [Hooksett, NH 03106, The Finance Drirector can also be reached at

(603) 485-2017 or at csoucie@hooksett.org.

viit
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EXHIBIT A

TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Statement ol Net Assels

June 30,2011

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
[nvestments
Taxes receivable, net
Accounis reccivable, net
Unbilled charges for service
Due from other governments
Prepaid expenscs
Total Currenl Assels

Nencurrent Asscts:
Tax decded property
Non-depreciable capital assets
Depreciable capital asscts, net
Total Noncurrent Assets
Tolal Assets

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:

Accounls payable

Accrued expenscs

Pollution remediation obligation

Retainage payable

Deferred revenue

Due 1o olher governments

Beposits

Current portion of bonds payable

Currenl portion of capilal leases payable

Curreat pottion of estimated liability for

landfill postelosure care costs
Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilitics:

Bonds payable

Other long-term cobligations

Capital [cascs payable

Compensated absences payable

Other post-ciaployment benefits payable

Estimated liability for landfifl postelosure care costs
Total Noncurrent Liabilitics
Total Liabilities

NET ASSETS
Invesled in capital assets, net ol related debt
Restricted
Unrestricled
Total Nct Asscts
Totai Liabilitics and Nel Assets

See accompanying notes (o the basic financial stateinents
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Governmental
Activitics

Business-type
Aglivitics

§ 16974670 § 412,478 $ 17,387,148
3,677,741 1,665,013 5,342,754
4,699,259 4,699,259

78,348 97,164 175,512
870,997 870,997

6,000 273,363 279,363
8,677 8,677
25,444,695 3,319,015 28,763,710
140,806 140,806
1,128,969 6,603,067 7,732,036
7,303,423 10,721,744 18,025,167
8,573,198 17,324,811 25,898,000

% 34,017,893

§ 20,643,826

$ 54,661,719

$ 486,644 5 226115 §  T12,759
520,621 163,816 684,437
207,647 207,647

257,659 257,659

17,969,828 725,782 18,695,610
42,246 42,246
52,654 52,654

370,000 123,908 493,908
122,645 122,645
10,000 10,000
19,521,984 1,757,381 21,279,565
260,000 3,295,185 3,555,185
5,969,561 5,969,561

27,550 27,550
42,352 42,352

748,950 34,356 783,306
170,000 170,000
1,206,500 9,341,454 10,547,954
20,728,484 11,099,035 11,827,519
8,172,197 7,936,157 16,108,354
170,780 170,780
4,946,432 1,608,634 6,555,066
13,289,409 9,544,791 22,834,200

$ 34,017,893

$ 20,643,826

§ 54,601,719




EXHIBIT B

TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEV [IAMPSITIRE

Statement of Activilies

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Functions/Programs

Governmental Activities:
General government
Public safcty
Highways and streel(s
Health and welfare
Sanitation
Cudture and recreation
Econamic development
Interest and [iscal charges
[ntergovernmental payments

Total governmental activitics

Busincss-type aclivitics:
Sewer
‘Total business-type activitics
Total primary government

Program Revenues

Net (Expense) Revenaue and

Changes in Net Assels

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-lype
Cxpenses Services Contributions  Conlributions Aclivilies Activilics Total
$ 2,788,337 $ 37,247 $ (2,751,090) $ (2,751,090)
7,540,323 348,400 § 238475 (6,953,048) (6,953,048)
1,783,780 25,757 333,541 (1,424,482} (1,424,482)
168,945 (168,945) (168,945)
1,054,697 120,966 (933,731) (933,731}
1,144,532 39,769 214 (1,104,54%) (1,104,549}
9,830 {9,830) (9,830)
35,647 (35,647 (35,647)
55,000 ) (55,000) (55,000)
14,581,091 572,139 572,630 M - (13,436,022 % - (13,436,322)
1,991,577 1,834,708 74,798 (82,071 (82,671)
1,991,577 1,834,708 - 74,798 - (82,071) (82,071)
$ 16,572,668 § 2,406,847 § 572,630 $ 74,798 (13,436,322) (82,071) (13,518,39)
General revenues:
Property and other taxes 9,792,147 9,792,147
Licenses and permits 2,693,571 2,693,571
Grants and contributions:
Rooms and meals tax distribution 601,630 601,636
State and federal fovest land 1,182 1,182
Railroad tax 2,342 2,342
Interest and invesiment carnings 57,908 5,304 63,212
Miscellaneous 587,807 587,807
Gain on salc of capital assels 10,000 10,000
Contributions to permancnt fund principal 4,886 4,886
Special item - Pollution remediation obligation (712,510 (712,510)
Tolal general revenues, contributions
to permanent fund principal, and special item 13,741,479 (697,206) 13,044,273
Change in nict assets 305,157 (779,277 (474,120)
12,984,252 §0,324,068 23,308,320

Net assets - beginning
Net assets - ending

See accompanying notes i the basic financial statements
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$ 13,289,409

$ 9,544,791

§ 22,834,200




EXHIBIT C

TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds

June 30, 2011
Nonntajor Total
General Governmentat Governmental
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,378,937 $ 2,595,733 $ 16,974,670
Investinents 2,912,068 765,673 3,677,741
Taxes receivable, net 4,699,259 4,699,259
Accounts receivable, net 77,706 042 78,348
Due from other governments 6,000 6,000
Due from other funds 8,124 32,324 40,448
Prepaid expenses 8,677 8,677
Tax deeded property 140,806 140,806
Total Assets $ 22,231,577 $ 3,394,372 $ 25,625,949
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable hY 365,121 hS 365,121
Accrued expenses 504,028 3 2,557 506,585
Due to other governments 42,246 42,246
Due to other funds 153,847 8,124 161,971
Deferred revenue 19,276,491 19,276,491
Total Liabilities 20,341,733 10,681 20,352,414
FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable 8,677 170,780 179,457
Restricted 5,198 5,198
Committed 835,205 3,181,801 4,017,006
Assigned 190,062 25,912 215,974
Unassigned 855,900 855,900
Total Fund Balances 1,889,844 3,383,691 5,273,535
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 22,231,577 $ 3,394372
Amounts reported for governmentat activities in the statement of
net assets are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds 8,432,392
Property taxes are recognized on an accrual basis in the
statement of net assets, not the modified accrual basis 1,306,663
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current
period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. Long-term
liabilities at year end consist of:
Bonds payable (630,000)
Capital leases payable (150,193)
Other post-cmployment benefits payable (748,950)
Accrued interest on long-term obligations (14,036)
Estimaied tiability for landfill postclosure care costs {180,000}

Net assets of governmental activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statenienis
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$ 13,289,409
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EXHIBIT E

TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Statement of Net Assets
Proprietary Fund
June 30, 2011

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable
Unbilled charges for service
Due from other governments
Total Current Assets

Nonecurrent Assets:
Non-depreciable capital assets
Depreciable capital assets, net

Total Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Pollution remediafion obligation

Refainage payable

Deferred revenue

Deposits

Current portion of bonds payable

Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Bonds payable
Other long-term obligations
Compensated absences payable
Other post-employment benefits payable
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Unrestricted
Total Net Asscts
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

See accompanying noles to the basic financial statements
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Sewer
Fund

$ 412,478
1,665,013
97,164
870,997
273,363
3,319,015

6,603,067
10,721,744
17,324,811

§ 20,643,826

$ 226,115
163,816
207,647
257,659
725,782

52,654
123,908
1,757,581

3,295,185
5,969,561
42,352
34,356
9,341,454
11,099,035

7,936,157
1,608,634
9,544,791
§ 20,613,826



EXHIBITF

TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Statement of Revenues, Expenscs and Changes in Net Assets
Proprietary Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2011

QOperating revenugs:
Charges for services
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Personnel services
Contractual services
Materials and supplies
Utilities
Depreciation
Miscellaneous

Total operating expenses

Operating income
Non-operating revenues {expenses):
Gain on sale of assets
Iiterest revenue
Interest expense

Net non-operating revenues (expenses)

(Loss) before capital contributions and special item

Capital contributions
Special item - Pollution remediation obligation

Change in net assets
Total net assets at beginning of year

Total net assets at end of year

See accompanying notes to the basic Sfinancial siatements
6
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Sewer
Fund

S 1,834,708
[,834,708

596,271
182,713
211,294
235,659
583,233
9,464
1,818,634

16,074

10,000
5,304

(172,943)
(157,639)
(141,565)

74,798
(712,510}

(779,277)
10,324,068

$ 9,544,791



EXHIBIT G

TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprictary Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2011

Cash flows from operating activitics:
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to suppliers
Cash paid to employees
Cash paid to others
Net cash (used) by operating activilies

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Capital contributions
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Purchases of capital assets
Proceeds from long-term debt
Net cash {used) for capital and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Nei increase in investments
Interest on investiments
Net cash (used) by investing activities

Net {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash (used) by
operating activities:
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
cash {used) by operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Special item - Pollution remediation obligation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) in unbitled charges for service
(Increase) in due from other governments
(Decrease) in accounts payable
Increase in accrued expenses
Increase in pollution remediation ebligation
(Decrease) in compensated absences payable
Increase in deposits
Increase in other post-amployment benetits
Net cash (used) by operating activities

Supplemental disclosure of nen-cash transactions:
Cost basis of disposed capital assets

See accompanying notes o the basic financial statements
7
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Sewer
FFund

$ 1,827,227
(800,690)
(392,076)

(712,510}
(78,049}

74,798
10,000
(2,951,164)
2,758,293
(108,073)

(1,151,592)
5,304
(1,146,288)

(1,332,410)
1,744,888
3 412478

§ 16,074

583,233
(712,510)

3,906
(21,007)
(5.596)
(186,388)
11,260
207,647
(1,702)
15,216
11,318

$  (78,049)

$ 125,000



EXHIBIT H

TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Statement of Fiduciary Net Asscts

Fidueciary Funds

June 30, 201§

ASSETS
Investments
Due from other funds
Total assets
LIABILITIES

Due to other governments
Due to developers
Total liabilities

See accompanying noies 1o the basic financial siatements
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Agency
Funds

$ 2,977,329
121,523
$ 3,098,852

$ 2,107,490
991,362
$ 3,008,852



TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 39, 2011

NOTE I—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies of the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire conform to accounting policies
generally accepted in the United States of America for local governmental units, except as indicated
hereinafter. The following is a summary of significant accounting policies.

Financial Reporting Enlily

The Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire (the Town) was incorporated in 1822. The Town operates under
the Town Meeting/Town Council form of government and performs local governmental functions as

authorized by State law,

The financial statements include those of the various departments governed by the Town Council and
other officials with financial responsibility. The Town has no other separate organizational units, which
meet criteria for inclusion in the financial statements as defined by the Governmental Accounting

Standards Board {(GASDB).

Basis of Presentation

The Town’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of
net assets and a statement of activities, and fund financial statcments which provide a more detailed level

of financial information.
1. Government-Wide Financial Statements:

The statement of net assets and the statement of activities display information about the Town as a whole.
These statements include the financial activities of the primary government, except for fiduciary funds.

The statement of net assets presents the financial conditions of the governmental and business-type
activities of the Town at fiscal year end. The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct
expenses and program vevenues for each program or function of the Town’s governmental and business-
type activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program or
department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particuiar function. Program revenues include charges
paid by the recipient of the goods or scrvices offered by the program, grants and contributions that are
restrictcd to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program and interest earned on
grants that is required to be used to support a particular program. Revenues which are not classified as
program revenues are presented as general revenues of the Town. The comparison of direct expenses
with program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental function is self-financing or

draws [rom the general revenues of the Town.

2. Fund Financial Statements:

During the year, the Town segregates transactions related (o certain Town functions or activities
separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Fund financial
statements are designed to present financial information of the Town at this more detailed tevel. The
focus of governmental and proprietary fund financial slalements is on major funds. Each major fund is
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TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

June 30, 2011

presented in a separate column. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and presented in a single column. The
fiduciary funds are reported by type.

Fund Accounting

The Town uses funds to maintain its financial records during the fiscal year. A fund is defined as a fiscal
and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. There are three categories of funds:

governmental, proprietary and fiduciary.

1. Governmental Funds;

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed.
Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial resources.
Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purposes for which
they may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid. The
difference between governmental fund assets and liabilities is reported as fund balance. The following is

the Town’s major governmental fund:

The General Fund is the main operating fund of the Town and is used to account for all financial
resources excepl those required to be accounted for in another fund.

2. Propriectary Funds:

Proprietary fund reporting focuses on the determination of operating income, changes in net assets,
financial position and cash flows. Proprietary funds are classified as enterprise or internal service. The
Town has no internal service funds. The following is the Town’s major proprietary fund:

The Sewer Fund accounts for all revenues and expenses pertaining to the Town’s wasiewater operation.

The Sewer Fund is utilized to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar fo
private business enterprises. The stated intent is that the cost (i.e. expenses including depreciation) of
providing goods or services to the residents on a continuing basis are financed or recovered primarily

through user charges.

3. Fiduciary Funds:

Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net assets and changes in net assets. The Town maintains one
category of fiduciary funds known as agency funds, The Town’s agency funds are custodial in nature
(assets equal liabilities) and do not involve the measurement of results of operations. The Town’s agency
funds account for the capital reserve funds of the Hooksett School District, the Central Hooksett Water
Precinct and the Hooksett Village Water Precinct, which arc held by the Town as required by State law.
Other agency funds consist of cscrow funds from developers which are held by the Town.
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TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

June 30, 2011

Measurement Focus
1. Government-Wide Financial Statcments:

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement
focus. All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of the Town are included on the Statement

of Net Assets.

2. Fund Financial Statements:

All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial resources measurement focus.
With this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities generally are included on the
balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances reports on the
sources (i.e., revenues and other finaneing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other Mnancing uses)
of current financial resources. This approach differs from the manner in which the governmental
activities of the governmeni-wide financial statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial
statements therefore include a reconciliation with brief explanations to belter identify the relationship
between the govermnent-wide statements and the statements for governmental funds.

Like the government-wide statements, the proprietary fund type is accounted for on a flow of economic
resources measurement focus. All assets and all liabilities associated with the operation of thesc funds are
included on the statement of net assets. The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net assets
present increascs (i.c., revenucs) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total assets. The statement of cash
flows provides information about how the Town finances and meets the cash flow needs of its proprictary

activities.

Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on
the financial statements. Government-wide financial statements arc prepared using the acerual basis of
accounting. Proprietary and fiduciary funds also use the accrual basis of accounting. Governmental
funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and the modified acerual
basis of accounting arise in the recognition of revenuc, the recording of deferred revenue, and in the

presentation of expenses versus expenditures.

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund statements, private-scetor standards of
accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, are followed to the extent that those
standards do not conflict with or contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.
The Town has elected not to follow the FASB pronouncements issued subsequent to November 30, 1989.

1. Revenues — Exchange and Non-exchange Trausaetions:

Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal
value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange takes place. On a modified accrual basis,
revenue is recorded in the [fiscal year in which the resources are measurable and become available.
Available means that the resources will be collected within the current fiscal year or are expected to be
collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilitics of the current fiscal year. For the Town,
available means cxpeeted to be received within sixty days of fiscal year end.
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TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

June 30, 2011

Non-exchange transactions, in which the Town receives value without divectly giving cqual value in
return, include property taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from
property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied (see Note 2). Revenue from
grants, cntitlements and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements
have been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when
the resources are required to be used or the fiscal year when use is first permitted; matching requirements,
in which the Town must provide local resources to be used for a specified purpose; and expenditure
requirements, in which the resources arc provided to the Town on a reimbursement basis. On a nrodified
accrual basis, revenue from non-exchange transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and
available at fiscal year end: property taxes and interest on invesfments.

Licenses and permits, charges for services, and miscellaneous revenues (except interest on investments)
are recorded as revenues when received in cash because they are generally not measurable until actually

received.

2. Deferred Revenues

Deferred revenue arises when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteria have been
satisfied. Grants and entitlements received before the eligibility requirements are met are recorded as
deferred revenue. On governmental fund financial statements, receivables that will not be collected
within the available period have also been reported as deferred revenue.

3. Expenses/Expenditures:
On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are incurred.

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financiaf resources
(expendilures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in
which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable. Alloeations of cost, such as depreciation and

amortization are not recognized in governmental funds.

Budgetary Data

The Town's budget represents functional appropriations as authorized by annual or special Town
meetings. The Council may transfer funds between operating catcgories as they deem necessary. The
Town adopts its budget under State regulations, which differ somewhat from accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America in that the focus is on the entire governmental unit

rather (han on the basis of [und types.

State law requires balanced budgets but permits the use of beginning fund balance to reduce the property
tax rate. For the year ended June 30, 2011, the Town applied $300,000 of its unappropriated fund balance

to reduce taxes,
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TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

June 30, 2011

Encumbrance Accounting

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders and other commitments for expenditure of monics
are recorded in order to reserve a portion of the applicable appropriation, is employed as an
extension of formal budgetary integration in Governmental Funds. Encumbrances outstanding at year end
are reported as a component of fund balance since they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities, but
rather commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods and services.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:

Cash
Proprietary Fund:
Sewer Fund $ 412,478

Investments

[nvestments are stated at their fair value in all funds. Certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements
with a maturity of greater than ninety days from the date of issuance are included in investments.

Accounis Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded net of reserves for estimated uncollectibles of $67,971, in the General
Fund.

Taxes Receivable

Taxes levied during the current fiscal year and prior and uncollected at June 30, 201 | are recorded as
receivables net of reserves for estimated uncollectibles of $760,000.

Prepaid Expenses

Payments made to vendors for services that will benelit periods beyond June 30, 2011 are recorded as
prepaid items.

Capital Assets

General capital assets result from expenditures in the governmental funds. These assets are reported in
the government-wide statement of net assets, but are not reported in the povernmental fund [inancial

statements.

All capital assets including infrastructure are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated
for additions and retirements during the year. Donated capital asscts are recorded at their fair values as of
the date received. The Town maintains a capitalization threshold of $10,000. The Town’s infrastructure
consists of roads, bridges, sidewalks, sewer collection and treatment systems, and similar ifems.
Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of
(he assel or materially extend an assct’s life are not. Interest incurred during the construction phase of

13
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TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {(CONTINUED)
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capifal assets of business-type activities is also capitalized. During the year ended June 30, 2011, the
Town implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 51, dccounting and Financial Reporting for

Intangible Assets.

All reported capital asscts except for land and eonstruction in progress are depreciated. Improvements are
depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Useful lives for infrastructure
were estimated based on the Town's historical records of necessary improvements and replacement.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Descriplion Years
Infrastructure 50-100
20

Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles and equipment

20-40
5-135

Compensated Absences

Employecs earn vacation and sick leave as they provide services. Provision is made in the annual budget
for vacation and sick leave. Pursuant to Town personncl policy and collective bargaining agreements,
employecs may accumulate up to 30 days of unused vacation pay earned and, upon retirement,
resignation or death will be compensated for such amounts at current rates of pay.

For governmental fund financial statements, compensated absences are reported as labilities and
expenditures as payments come due each period upon the occurrence of employee death or retirement.
The entire compensated absence liability is reported on the government-wide financial statements.

Accrued Liabilities aid Long-Term Obligations

All payables, acerued liabilitics, and long-tenm obligations are reported in the government-wide finaneial
statements. In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in
a timely manner and in full from current resources are reported as obligations of the funds. However,
compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as liabilities in the fund
financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the current fiscal year.

General obligation bonds, capital leases and other long-term obligations that will be paid from
governmental funds are recognized as a liability in the fund financial statements when due.

Ner Assels

Net assets represent the difference between asscts and liabilities. Nel assets invested in capital assets, net
of related debt consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding
balances on any borrowings used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net
assefs are reporled as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their usc cither through the
enabling legislation adopted by the Town or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors

or laws or regulations of other governments.

The Town's policy is to first apply restricted resources when an cxpense is incurred for purposes for
which both restricted and unrestricied net assets are available.
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Fund Balance Policy

During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Town implemented GASB Statement 54, Fund Balance
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. Statement 54 established new fund balance
classifications and changes the definition of governmental fund types. Under Statement 54, the Town has
segregated fund balance into five classifieations; Non-spendable, Restricted, Committed, Assigned, and
Unassigned. These compenents of fund balance are defined as follows:

o Non-spendable Fund Balance: Amounts that are not in a spendable form or are required to be
inaintained intaet.

o Restricted Fund Balance: Amounts constrained to specific purposes stipulated by external
resource providers or through enabling legislation. Restrictions may be changed or lifted only
with the consent of the resource providers or by the enabling legislation.

«  Committed Fund Balance: Amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes determined by
a formal action of the Town’s highest level of decision making authority (Town Council).
Commitmenis may be changed or lifted only by the Town Couneil taking the same forinal action
that imposed the constraint originally. The Town Council’s actions must either be approved or
rescinded, as applicable, prior to (he last day of the fiscal year for which the commitment is made.
The amount subject to the constraint may be determined in the subsequent period.

o Assigned Fund Balance: Amounts a Town intends to use for specific purposes. For all
governmental funds other than the General Fund, any remaining positive amounts are to be
classified as “assigned”. The Town Council expressly delegates this authority to the Town
Administrator. :

o Unassigned Fund Balance: Amounts (hat are available for any purpose; these amounts are
reported only in the General Fund.

In circumstances where expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unresiricted
fund balanee is available, restricted fund balance is considered to have been spent first. When
expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance
classification can be used, committed amounts should be reduced first, followed by assigned amounts

then unassigned amounts.

Pursuant to the Town’s policy at year end, if any of the special revenue funds has a deficit unassigned
fund balance, the Town Administrator is authorized to transfer funds from the General Fund to cover the
deficit, providing the General Fund has the resources to do so. For any remaining unassigned fund
balance, the Town shall strive to achieve and maintain a minimum fund balance of 5% of the General

Fund’s annual appropriations of the community.

Tuterfund Activity

Transfers between governmental and business-type activitics on the government-wide statements are
reported in the same manner as general revenues.

Exchange transactions between funds arc reported as revenues in the seller funds and as
expendituresfexpenses in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another without a
requirement for repayment are reported as interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are reported as other
financing sources/uses in governmental funds and after non-operating revenues/expenses in the
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proprietary funds. Repayments from funds responsible for particular expenditures/expenses to the funds
that initially paid for them are not presented on the mancial statements.

Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the
proprietary funds. For the sewer fund, these revenues are charges to customers for sales and services.
Operating expenses, which include depreciation on capital assets, are necessary costs incurred o provide
the service that is the primary activity of the proprietary fund. All revenues and expenses not meeting this
definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain
reported amounts and disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results may differ from those estimates.
Significant estimates include depreciation expense, the allowance for uncollectible taxes and accounts

receivable, and the liability for other post-employment benefits.

NOTE 2---PROPERTY TAXES

Taxes are levied on the asscsscd valuation of all taxable real property as of the prior April 1
($1,625,229,734 as of April 1, 2010) and are duc in two installments on July 2, 2010 and December 1,
2010. Taxes paid after the due dates accrue interest at 12% per annum, Property taxes ate recognized as
revenue when reccived in cash or if available to finance current period operations (within sixty days of

year end).

Under State law, the Tax Collector obtains tax licns on properties which have unpaid taxes in the
following calendar year after taxes were due for the amount of unpaid taxes, interest and costs. These
priority tax liens accrue interest at 18% per annum. If the property is not redeemed within a two year

redemption period, the property is tax deeded to the Town.

In accordance with State law, the Town collects taxes for the Fooksett School District and Merrimack
County, both independent governmental units, which are remitted to them as required by law. The Town
also collects State of New Hampshire Education taxes, which are remitted directly to the school distriet.
Total taxes appropriated during the year were $20,932,439 and 34,320,851, for the Hooksett School
Distriet and Merrimack County, respectively. These taxes are not recognized as revenues in these
financial statements. The Town bears responsibility for uncolleeted taxes,

NOTE 3—RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town is exposed to various risks of losses related fo torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. During the ycar ended June 30,
2011, the Town was a member of the Local Government Center (LGC). The Town eurrently reports all
of its risk management activities in its General Fund. The Trust is classified as a "Risk Pool" in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepled in the United States of America.
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The Trust agreement permits the Trusts to make additional assessments to members should there be a
deficiency in Trust assets to meet its liabilities. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America require members of pools with a sharing of risk to determine whether or not such
assessment is probable and, if so, a reasonable estimate of such assessment. At this time, the Trust
foresees no likelihood of an additional assessment for any of the past years. Claims expenditures and
liabilitics are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be
reasonably estimated. These losses include an estimate of claims that have been incurred but not
reported. Based on the best available information there is no liability at June 30, 2011.

Property and Liability Insurance

The LGC provides certain property and liability insurance coverage to member towns, cities, and other
qualified political subdivisions of New Hampshire. As a member of the LGC, the Town shares in
contributing to the cost of and receiving benefit from a self-insured pooled risk management program.
The program includes a Self Insured Retention Fund from which is paid up to $500,000 for each and
every covered property, crime and or liability loss that exceeds $1,000.

Waorker’s Compensation

The LGC provides statutory worker's compensation coverage to member towns, cities, and other qualified
political subdivisions of New Hampshire. The Trust is self-sustaining through annual member premiums
and provides coverage for the statutorily required workers' compensation benefits and employer's liability
coverage up to $2,000,000. The program includes a Loss Fund froim which is paid up to $500,000 for

each and every covered claim.

NOTE 4—DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

The Town has combined the cash resources of its governmental fund types. For accounting and reporting
purposes, that portion of the pooled cash balance is reported in the specific fund as an interfund balance.

Deposits and investments as of June 30, 201t are classified in the accompanying financial statements as
foltows:

Statement of Net Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 17,387,148

[nvestments 5,342,754

Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets:
[nvestments 2,977,329
Total deposits and investments $ 25,707,231

Deposits and investments at June 30, 2011 consist of the following:

Cash on hand $ 1,560
Deposits with financial institutions 22,372,697
3,332,974

Investments

Total deposits and investments $ 25,707,231
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The Town’s investment policy for governmental and business-type funds requires that deposits be made
in New Hampshire based financial institutions that are participants in one of the federal depository
insuranee programs, The Town limits its investments to demand deposits, money market accounts,
certificates of deposit, and overnight repurchase agreements in accordance with New Hampshire State law
(RSA 41:29) or the New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool (NHPDIP), an external investment
pool. Investments of the library fund are at the discretion of the Library Trustees. Responsibility for the
investments of the expendable trust funds, permanent funds and school district agency funds is with the

Board of Trustees.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value

to changes in market interest rates.

The Trustee’s investment policy regarding interest rate risk states notes and bonds to be invested in
maturities of no longer than 10 years. Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Town’s
jnvestments to market interest rate fiuctuations is provided by the following table that shows the

distribution of investments by maturity:

Remaining

Maturity

Investiment Type 1-5 Years
Federal agency securities $ 70,427 $ 70,427
U.S. Treasury notes 35412 35,412

$ 105,839 $ 105,839

Credif Risk

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder
of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally reeognized statistical
rating organization. The federal agency securities and the U.S. Treasury notes are the only rated
investments with eredit ratings at fiscal year end of AAA. Investments in mutual funds and the state

investment pool are not rated.

Custodial Credir Rivk

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a
transaction a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that

are in the possession of another parly.

The Town’s policy states that the Treasurer shall ensure prior to the deposit or investment of funds the
federally insured bank shall have the funds secured by collateral having a market value at least cqual to
102% of the amount deposited or invested. The Treasurer is expecied to display prudence in the sclection

of investments in a way 1o minimize defaulf risk.

Of the Town’s deposits with financial institutions at year end, $12,392,534 was collateralized by
securities held by the bank in the bank’s nante.
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Tnvestmenty in NHIPDIP

The Town is a volunfary participant in the New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool (NHPDIP).
The NHPDIP is not registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission as an
investment company. The NHPDIP was created by state law and is administered by a public body of

state, local and banking officials.

Tnvestiments in the NHPDIP are not investment securities and, as such, are not categorized by risk. The
Town’s exposure to derivatives is indirect through its participation in thc NHPIHP. The Town’s
proportional share of these derivatives is not available. The fair value of the position in the investment

pool is equal to the value of the pool shares.

NOTE 5--DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS

Receivables from other governments for the governmental activities and business-type activities at June
30, 2011 consist of federal and state fundings in the amounts of $6,000 and $273,363, respectively. All
receivables are considered collectible in full and will be received within one year.

NOTE 6—CAPITAL ASSETS

The following is a summary of changes in capital assets in the governmental funds:

Governmental activities:
Capital assets not depreciated:
Land
Total capital assets not being depreciated
Other capital assets:
Infrastructure
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles and equipment
Total other capital assets at historical cost
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Infrastructure
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles and equipment
Total accumulated depreciation
Total other capital assets, net
Total capital assets, net

Balance Balance
7172010 Additions Reductions 6/30/2011
$ 764,769 $ 364,200 $ 1,128,969
764,769 364,200 $ - 1,128,969
92,754,515 92,754,515
37,357 42,071 79,428
8,310,032 8,310,032
7,252,294 12,260 (241,673) 7,022,881
108,354,198 54,331 (241,673) 108,166,856
(92,754,515) (92,754,515)
(1,245) (2,920) (,165)
(3,546,603) (188,625) (3,735,228)
(4,105,313) (497,009 232,797 (4,369,525)
(100,407,676) (688,554) 232,797 (100,863,433)
7,946,522 (634,223) (8,876) 7,303,423
$ 8,711,291 $ (270,023) § (8,876) $ 8,432,392
19
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Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows:

General government $ 26,397
Public safety 403,719
Highways and strects 151,277
Sanitation 57,748
Culture and recreation 49,413

Total governmental activities depreciation expense § 688,554

The balance of the assets acquired through capital leases as of June 30, 201 1 is as follows:

Vehicles and equipment $ 747466
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Vehicles and equipment (289,164)
§ 458,302

The following is a summary of changes in capital assets in the proprietary fund:

Balance Balance
7/1/2010 Additions Reductions 6/30/2011
Business-type activities:
Capital asscts not depreciated:
Land b 300,000 h 300,000
Construction in process 3,449,409 $ 2,853,058 6,303,067
Total capital assets not being depreciated 3,749,409 2,853,658 b - 6,603,067
Other capital assels:
Infrastructure 11,314,929 11,314,929
Buildings and improvements 10,667,148 {125,000) 10,542,148
Vehicles and equipment 567,844 18,478 586,322
Total other capital assets at historical cost 22,549,921 18,478 (125,000) 22,443,399
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Infrastructure (7,069,948) (140,791) (7,210,739}
Buildings and improvements (3,675,543} (419,324) 125,000 (3,969,807}
Vehicles and equipment (517.931) (23,118) (541,049)
Total accumulated depreciation (11,263,422} (583,233) 125,000 (11,721,655)
Total other capital assets, net 11,286,499 (564,755) - 10,721,744
Total capital asscls, net $ 15035908 $ 2,288,903 3 § 17,324,811

Depreciation expense was charged to proprictary fund as follows:

Sewer IFund $ 583,233
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NOTE 7—DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

Plan Descriptions

The Town contributes to the New Hampshire Retirement System (NHRS), a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the NHRS Board of Trustees. The plan provides
service, disability, death and vested retirement allowances to plan members. Bencfit provisions are
established and may be amended by the New Hampshire State legislature. The NHRS issues a publicly
available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for
NHRS. That report may be obtained by writing to New Hampshire Retirement System, 54 Regional
Drive, Concord, New Hampshire 03301.

Funding Policies

Covered public safety employees are required to contribute 9.3% of their covered salary, whereas general
employees are required to contribute 5.0% of their covered salary. The Town is required to contribute at
an actuarially determined rate. The Town's contribution rates for the covered payroll of police officers,
fire employees, and peneral employees were 14.63%, 18.52% and 9.16% respectively. The Town
contributes 75% of the employer cost for police officers and fire employees, and the State contributes the
remaining 25% of the employer cost. The Town contributes 100% of the employer cost for general
employees of the Town. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (GASB Statement #24), on-behalf fringe benefits contributed by the State of New Hampshire
of $209,432 have been reported as a revenue and expenditure in the General Fund in these financial

statements.

Per RSA-100:16, plan member contribution rates are established and may be amended by the New
Hampshire State legislature and employer contribution rates are determined by the NHRS Board of
Trustees based on an actuarial valuation. The Town's contributions to the NHRS for the years ending
June 30, 2011, 2010, and 2009 were $859,974, $778,286, and $708,442, respeciively, equal to the

required contributions for each year
NOTE 8—OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

in addition to providing pension benefits, the Town provides post-employment health cate and life
insurance benefits fo its eligible retirees and their spouses. The Town provides medical, prescription drug,
mental health and substance abuse benefits, as well as life insurance, to retirees and their covered
dependents. All active employees who retire from the Town and meet the eligibilily requirements will
receive these benefits. Retirees pay the full cost of the medical premium. These benefits, benefit levels,
employee contributions and employer contributions are governed by RSA 100-A:50. As of July 1, 2008,
the actuarial valuation date, approximately 17 retirees and 125 active employees meet the eligibility
requirements. The plan does not issue a separate financial report.

Annnal OPEBR Costs

The Town’s annual OPEB expense is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the
employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB
Statement 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid, on an ongoing basis, is projected to
cover the normal cost each year and amortize the unfunded actuarial liability over a period of thirty years.
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The Town’s annual OPEB cost for the year ending June 30, 2011 including the amount actually
contributed to the plan, and the change in the Town’s nct OPEB obligation based on an actuarial valuation

as of July 1, 2008 is as follows:

Annual Reguired Contribution (ARC) $ 314,026
Interest on Net OPEB abligation (NOO) 20,555
NOO amortization adjustment to ARC (22,107)
Annual OPED cost 312,474
Contributions made (43,038)
Increase in Net OPED obligation 269,436
513,870

Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year

Net OPEB obligation - end of year $ 783,306

The Town’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net
OPEB obligation for years ending June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

Percentage of

Year Annual OPEB Cost Net OPEB Covered OPEB Cost

Ended OPEB Cost Contributed Obligation Payroll % of Pay
6/30/2009 $ 278,129 9.8% § 250,885 $ 5,622,099 4.9%
6/30/2010 § 295,192 10.9% § 513,870 $ 5,762,651 5.1%
6/30/2011 $ 312474 13.8% $ 783,306 $ 5,762,651 5.4%

The Town’s Net OPEB obligation as of June 30, 2011 is recognized as a liability in these financiai
statements,

Funded Status and Funding Progress for OPER

The funded status of the plan as of July 1, 2008, the date of the most recent actuarial valuation is as
follows:

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) $ 1,088,285
Actuarial value of plan assets LA
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) § 1,988,285
Funded ration (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0.0%
Covered payroll (active plan members) $ 5,622,099
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 35.4%

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the
probability of cvents in the future. The total cost of providing post-employment benefits is projected,
taking into account assumptions about current claim cost, turnover, mortality, health care trends, and
other actuarial assumptions. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual
required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared fo
past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The required schedule of funding progress
presented as required supplementary information provides multi-year trend information that shows
whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial

accrued liability for benefits, when available.
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Actuarial Methods and Assumptions for OPEB

Projections of benefits for finaneial reporting purposes are based on the plan as understood by the Town
and the plan members and include the types of benelits provided at the time of each valuation and the
historieal pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the Town and plan members to that point. Actuarial
calculations reflect a long-term perspective and employ methods and assumptions that are designed to
reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets.

In the July 1, 2008 actuarial valuation the Entry Age Normal Method was used. The actuarial vafue of
assets was not determined as the Town has not advance funded its obligation. The actuarial assumptions
included a 4.0% investment rate of return and an initial annual healthcare cost trend of 9.0% which
decreases to a 5.0% long-term rate for all healthcare benefits afler seven years. The amortization costs for
the initial Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) is a level percentage of payroll for a period of
thirty years on a closed basis, This has been calculated assuming the amortization payment increases at a

rate of 2.5%.
NOTE 9—LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
Changes in Long-Term Obligations

The changes in the Town’s long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2011 are as follows:

Balance Balance Due Within
/12010 Additions Reductions  6/30/2011 One Year

Governmental activities:
Bonds payable § 220,000 $ (110,000) § 110,000 § 110,000

Tax increment financing bonds payable 780,000 (260,000) 520,000 260,000
Capital leases payable 267,765 (117,570) 150,195 122,645

Estimated liability for landfill

posiclosure care costs 190,000 {10,000) 180,000 10,000
Total governmental activities $ 1,457,765 % - $ (497,570) § 960,195 § 502,645
Business-lype activitics:
Bonds payable $ 3,500,000 $ (80,907 33419093 § 123,908
Other long-tern obligations 2,692,331 $ 3,277,230 5,969,561
Compensated absences 44,054 (1,702) 42,352
Total business-type activities $ 6,236,385 $3,277,230 § (82,609) $9431,006 § 123,908

Payments on the general obligation bonds, capital leases and estimated liability for landfill postclosure
care costs of the governmental activities are paid out of the General Fund. Payments on the general
obligation bonds and other long-term obligations of the business-type activities are paid out of the Sewer
Fund. Compensated absences will be paid from the fund where the employee’s salary is paid.

General Obligation Bonds

Governmental Activities;

Bonds payable at June 30, 2011 are comprised of the following individual issue:
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Criginal Final Balance
Issue Interest Maturity at
Amount Rate Date 6/30/2011
Safety Center Bond $ 1,700,000  5.625-5.75%  August2001 3§ 110,000

Debt service requirements to retire general obligation bonds for governmental activities at June 30, 2011
are as follows:

Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Totals
2012 $ 110,000 § 3,163 % 113,163

As included on the Statement of Activitics (Exhibit B), interest for the year ended June 30, 2011 was
$35,647 on general obligation debt for governmental activities.

Tax Increment Financing Bonds

Tax increment financing bonds payable at June 30, 201 | is comprised of the following individual issue:

Original Final Balance
issue Interest Maturity at
Anrount Rate Date 6/30/2011

TIF District $ 2,600,000 3.5%-4.0%  August 2012 § 520,000

Debt service requirements (o retire the tax increment financing bond outstanding at June 30, 2011 are as

follows:
Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Totals
2012 $ 260,000 $ 14950 3 274,950
2013 260,000 5,200 265,200

$§ 520,000 $ 20,150 5 540,150

The Town has pledged a portion of future tax increment financing revenues to repay the debt issued to
finance infrastructure and facilities within the Exit 10 Tax Increment Financing District. The bonds are
payable solely from the tax increment financing taxes. Ineremental taxes were projected to, and do,
produce in excess of 100% of the debt service requirements over the life of the bonds. Total principal and
interest remaining on the bonds is $540,150, payable through 2013. For the current year, principal and
interest paid and total tax increment revenues were $284,050 and $291,030 respectively.

Business-type Activities:

Bonds payable at June 30, 2011 are comprised of the foltowing individual issue:

Original Final Balance
[ssue Interest Maturity at
Anmount Rate Date 6/30/2011
Wastewater Treatment Facility Upgrade § 3,500,000 3.728% January 2030 § 3,419,093
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Debt service requirements to retire general obligation bonds for business-type activities at June 30, 2011

are as follows:

Year ending

June 30 Principal Intetest Tolals
2012 $ 123908 § 127464 § 251,372
2013 128,527 122,845 251,372
2014 133,318 [18,053 251,371
2015 138,289 113,083 251,372
2016 143,444 107,927 251,371

2017-202) 801,535 455,323 1,256,858
2022-2026 962,503 294,354 1,256,857
2027-2029 987,569 98,071 1,085,640

$3419,003 §1437,120 § 4,856213

As included on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets — Proprietary Fund
(Exhibit F), interest expense for the year ended June 30, 2011 was $172,943 on general obligation debt

for the business-type activities.
Other Long-Term Obligations

Business-type Activities;

The Town has drawn $5,969,561 of approximately $6,224,375 in funds under the State of New
Hampshire, State Water Pollution Control Revolving Loan Fund Program for improvements to the
Wastewater Treatment Facility. Payments are not scheduled to commence until the first anniversary of
the scheduled completion of the project or the date of substantial completion, whichever is earliest.
Interest is accrued at 1% during the construction period of the project and is to be paid upon completion

of the construction project within the following year.

As authorized by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act, the Town shall be provided federal
financial assistance for the above Wastewater Treatment Facility Project, whereby a portion of the
principal sum, not to cxceed $3,112,187 or 50% of aggregate disbursements, whichever is less, will be
forgiven, The principal forgiveness will be applied at the time of each loan repayment over a period not

fo exceed 20 years.

Capital Lease Obligations

Capital lease obligations represent lease agreements entered into for the financing of equipment
acquisitions. These contracts are subject to cancellation should funds not be appropriated to mect
payment obligations. Amounts are annually budgeted in the applicable function, The following are the
individual capital lease obligations of the governmental activities at June 30, 2011:
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TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINULED)

June 30, 2011
Vehicles, due in annual installments of $100,390, including
interest at 4.05%, through October 2011 $ 96,169
Vehicle, due in annual installments of $28,665, including
interest at 4.05%, through Dccember 2012 54,026
5 150,195

Debt service requirements to retire capital lease obligations outstanding for governmental activities at
June 30, 2011 are as follows:

Year Ending

June 30, Principal Interest Totals
2012 $ 122,645 % 6410 3% 129,055
2013 27,550 1,116 28,666

§ 150,195 § 7,526 % 157,721

Auathorized and Unissued Debt

The following debt was authorized and unissued as of June 30, 2011:

Sewer Construction $ 14,424
Wastewater Treatment Plant 6,224,375
2,000,000

TIF District
$ 8238709

NOTE 10—LANDFILL POSTCLOSURE CARE COSTS

State and federal laws and regulations require that the Town place a final cover on its landfifl when closed
and perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the tandfill site for thirty years after closure.
During 1999, a final cover was placed on the {andfill. An estimated liability has been recorded based on
the future postclosure care costs that will be incurred after the date the [andfill no longer accepts waste.
The estimated liability for postclosure care costs has a balance of $180,000 as of June 30, 2011. The
estimated total cutrent cost of the landfill postclosure care is based on the amount that would be paid if all
equipment, facilities, and services required to close, monitor and maintain the landfill were acquired as of
June 30, 2011, However, the actual cost of posiclosure care may be higher due to inflation, changes in
technology, or changes in landfill laws and regulations. The Town has established a landfill capital
reserve to finanee the postclosure costs. At June 30, 2011, the balance in the landfill capital reserve is

$105,825.

The following is a summary of changes in the estimated liability for posticlosure care costs for the year
ended June 30, 2011:

Balance - July 1, 2010 $ 190,000
Expenditures recognized in Landfill Capital Reserve Fund (11,464)
Net change in estimated liability for postclosure care costs 1,464
Balance - June 30, 2011 $ 180,000
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TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

June 30,2011
NOTE | I—INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS

The Town has combined the cash resources of its governmental fund types. For accounting and reporting
purposes, that portion of the pooled cash balance is reported in the specific fund as an interfund balance.

Interfund balances at June 30, 2011 are as follows:

Nonmajor
General Governmental
Fund Funds Totals
8124 5 8,124
Nonmajor Governmental Funds § 32,324 32,324
121,523 121,523

Agency Funds
$ 153,847 $ 8124 § 161,971

During the year, several interfund transactions occurred between funds. The various transfers were made
in accordance with budgeftary authorizations. Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2011 are as

follows:

Nonmajor
General Governmental
Fund Funds Totals
eneral Fund $§ 287,196 § 287,196
onmajor Governimental Funds b 18,262 18,262

§ 18,262 5 287,196 5 305458

NOTE 12—RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Net assets are restricted for specific purposcs as follows:

Governmental
Actlivilies

Endowments $ 170,780

NOTE I3—COMPONENTS OF FUND BALANCE

The Town’s fund balance components are comprised as follows:
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TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

June 30,2011
Nonmajor Total
General Governmental  Governmental
Fund Balances Fund Funds Funds
Non-spendable:
Prepaid expenses 3 8,677 3 8,677
Endowments § 170,780 170,780
Restricted for:
Drug Forfeiture Fund 5,198 5,198
Committed for:
Conservation Commission 945,531 945,531
Solid Waste Disposal Fund 798,852 798,852
Recreation Revelving Fund 16,449 16,449
Potice Special Details Fund 83,052 83,052
Fire Special Details Fund 1,425 1,425
Capital Reserve Fund 835,205 835,205
TIF District 15,630 15,630
Impact Fees 1,320,862 1,320,862
Assigned for:
Permanent Fund 25,912 25,912
Encumbrances 57,050 57,050
Library Fund 119,141 119,141
Heritage Commission 92,391 9,391
Head's Chapel Preservation 4,480 4,480
Unassigned 855,900 855,900

$ 1,889,844 $ 3,383,691 $ 5,273,535

NOTE 14—PERMANENT FUNDS

Permanent funds accouni for resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only earnings and not
principal may be used for purposes that support the Town’s programs. Principal and income balances at
June 30, 2011 are as follows:

Principal Income Total
Cemetery Funds $ 165,289 h) 25,541 $ 190,830
Library Funds 5,491 371 5,862

¥ 170,780 b 25,912 ¥ 196,692

NOTE 15—~COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Special Item - Polfution Remediation Obligation

During the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011, the Town incurred $712,510 of pollution remediation
expenses in the Sewer Fund caused by the release of hazardous material into New Hampshire and
Massachuselts’s waterways. The Town las worked with New Hampshire Department of Environmental
Services and affected communities 1o take appropriate corrective action,
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TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMDPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
June 30, 2011

As of June 30, 2011, the balance of the pollution remediation obligation in the Sewer Fund is $207,647.
The liability is based on amounts duc to affected communities for cleanup costs and amounts due for legal
fees. The Town expects any additional costs, if any, to be immaterial.

Litigation

The Town's general counsel estimates that any potential claims against the Town, which are not covered
by insurance, are immaterial and would not affect the financial position of the Town,

Federal Grants

The Town participates in a number of federally assisted grant programs. These programs are subject to
financial and compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives. The amounts, if any, of
expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agency cannot be determined at this time, although
the Town expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

NOTE 16—RESTATEMENT OF EQUITY

Governmental Funds

Effective July 1, 2010, the Town retroactively changed its method of financial reporting to conform to a
recent pronouncement of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (Statement No. 54). This new
standard changes how fund batance is reported for governmental fund types. As a result, the Town’s
previously reported capital reserve fund was combined into the general fund for reporting purposes. The
impact of the restatement on the governmental funds is as follows:

Nonmajor
General Governmental
Fund Funds

Fund Balance - July 1, 2010 (as previously reporied) $ 304,321 $ 4,381,326

Amount of restatement due to:
Reclassification of fund balance
Fund Balance - July I, 2010, as restated

1,091,186 (1,091,186)
$ 1395507 $ 3,290,140

29

92



SCHEDULE 1

TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis) - General Fund

For the Year Ended Junc 30, 2011

Variance with
Budgeted Anounts Final Budget -
Actual Favorable
Qriginal Final Amounts {Unfavorable}
Revenues:
Taxes $ 9,613,815 $ 9,613,815 $ 9,501,116 $ (112,699)
Licenses and perimits 2,615,050 2,615,050 2,693,571 78,521
[ntergovernmental 890,334 911,271 968,144 56,873
Charges for services 181,600 181,600 368,648 187,048
Interest income 75,000 75,000 28,171 (46,829)
Miscellaneous 129,500 138,000 201,369 63,369
Total Revenues 13,505,299 13,534,736 13,761,019 226,283
Expenditures:
Current operations:
General government 2,550,424 2,572,861 2,503,474 69,387
Public safety 6,872,128 6,873,128 6,738,512 134,616
Highways and streets 1,738,505 1,744,505 1,627,862 116,643
Health and welfare 217,327 217,327 168,945 48,382
Sanitation 1,143,791 1,143,791 979,953 163,838
Culture and recreation 470,416 470,416 461,615 8,801
Economic development - - 9,830 (9,830)
Debt service:
Principal retirement 370,000 370,000 370,000 -
Interest and fiscal charges 33,539 33,539 33,537 p
Lease payments 129,056 129,050 129,056 -
Total Expenditures 13,525,186 13,554,623 13,022,784 531,839
Excess revenues over
{under) expenditures (19,887 (19,887) 738,235 758,122
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 284,650 284,650 287,200 2,550
Transfers out (564,763) (564,763} (577,741) (12,981)
Total other financing sources (uses) (280,113} (280,113) (290,544) (10,431}
Net change in fund balance (300,000} (300,000) 447,691 747,691
Fund balance at beginning of year
- Budgetary Basis §,723,549 1,723,549 1,723,549 -
Fund balance at end of year
- Budgetary Basis $ 1,423,549 $ 1,423,549 $ 2,171,240 $ 747,691

See accompanying notes (o the required supplementary information
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SCHEDULE 2
TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Schedule of Funding Progress for Other Post-Employment Benefits

For the Year Ended June 30, 2011

Actuarial
Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Unfunded
Valuation Value of  Liability (AAL) - AAL Funded Covered
Date Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll
77172008 R - $ 1,088,285 $ 1,988,285 0.0% $ 5,622,099
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TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

June 30, 2011
NOTE 1--BUDGET TO ACTUAL RECONCILIATION

Amounts recorded as budgetary amounts in the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund
Balance — Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis) — General Fund (Schedule 1} are reported on the basis
budpeted by the Town. Those amounts differ from thesc repotted in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances — Governmental Funds (Exhibit ). Property tax budgetary revenues are recognized when
levied rather than when susceptible to accrual. General Fund budgetary revenues and cxpendifures were
adjusted for encumbrances, on-behalf payments for fringe benefits, and non-budgetary activity.

Revenues Expenditures
and Other and Other
Financing Financing
Sources Uses
Per Exhibit D $ 14,551,571 $ 14,057,234
Difference in property taxes meeting
susceptible to accrual criteria (253,160)

Encumbrances, June 30, 2010 (140,595)

Encumbrances, June 30, 201 | 57,050

Non-budgetary activity (40,760) (163,729)

On-behalf fringe benefits (209,432) (209,432)
Per Schedule | $ 14,048,219 $ 13,600,528

Under Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 54 certain funds previously
accounted for as special revenue funds no longer meet the criteria to be classified as special revenue funds.
These funds’ activities are combined with the General Fund for reporting purposes on the Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances — Governmental Funds {Exhibit D). Other financing
sources and uses have been removed between these funds and the General Fund for reporting purposes. For
budgetary purposes these other financing sources and uses are added back to the Schedule of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance — Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis) — General Fund (Schedule

1).
NOTFE 2—ENCUMBRANCES

Functional encumnbrances at June 30, 2011 are as follows:

General government 5 20,010
Highways and streets 37,040
5 57.050

NOTE 3—SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS FOR OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT
BENEFITS

In accordance with GASB Statement #45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-
Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions, the Town is required to disclose the schedule of funding progress
for each of the three most recent actuarial valuations. The Town implemented the provisions of GASB
Statement #45 during the year ended June 30, 2009. Accordingly, the funding progress has only been
presented for the most recent actuarial valuation reporl. Additional disclosures will be made as the information

becomes available.
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SCHEDULE]

TOWN OF HOOKSETT

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2011

Federal Granting Agency/Recipient

State Agency/Grant Program/State

Grant Number

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Pass Through Payments from the Department of Justice

Passed Through the County of Merrimack, New Hampshire

Passed Through the City of Concord, New Hampshire
Recovery Act - Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG)

Program/Grants to Units of [Local Governnments

#2009-SB-B9-2339

Total Department of Justice

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Pass Through Payments from the New Hampshire Department
of Transportation
State and Community Highway Safety
#612-11B-002
Totat Department of Transportation

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

Pass Through Payments from the New Hampshire Department
of Environmental Services
Capitalization Grants for Clean Water State Revolving Funds, Recovery Act
BCS-333187-05

Total Environmental Protection Agency

DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY

Pass Through Payments firom New Hampshire Department of Safely
Emergency Management Performance Grants
#2009EPES0044

Total Department of Homeland Security

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards

See notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards
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16.804

20.600

66.458

97.042

Expenditures

5 6,006
6,006

6,000
6,000

1,638,615
1,638,615

19,937
19,937

$ 1,670,558



TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMI'SHIRE
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

June 30, 2011

NOTE |—GENERAL

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all federal
financial assistance programs of the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire (the Town). The Town's
reporting entity is defined in Note ! of the Town's basic financial statements. AH federal funds are

included on the schedule.

NOTE 2—BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented on the modified accrual
basis of accounting, which is described in Note | of the Town's basic financial statements.

NOTE 3—RELATIONSHIP TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The recognition of expenditures of federal awards has been reported in the Town’s basic financial
statements as intergovernmental revenues of $31,943 in the General Fund. The $1,638,615 represents
fifty percent of the drawdowns from the State Water Pollution Control Revolving Loan Fund Program
related to the Wasterwater Treatment Facility improvements. This is the amount that will be forgiven on

the principal of the loan over the length of the loan.
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gVACHON CLUKAY CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

608 Chestnul Street « Manchester, New Hampshire 03104

& COMPANY PC {603) 622-7070 » fax: (603) 622-1132 « www.vceepas.com

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Town Council
Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities,
each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2011, which collectively comprise the Town of Hooksett, New
Hampshire’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thercon dated January 4, 2012. We
conducted our audit in aceordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire is responsible for establishing and
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. In planning and performing our audit, we
considered the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire's internal control over finaneial reporting as a basis
for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of cxpressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of
Hooksett, New Hampshire’s internal control over financial reporting. Aceordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire’s internal control over financial

reporting,

A deficiency in internal conirol exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correet misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the Town'’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis,

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose
described in the first paragraph and was not designed Lo identify all deficiencies in internal control over
financial reporting that might be deficiencics, significant deliciencies, or malerial weaknesses. We did
not identily any deficicneics in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material

weaknesses, as defined above.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining rcasonable assurance about whether the Town of Hooksett, New
Hampshire’s financial statements are frec ol material misstatement, we performed tests of its eompliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agrecments, noncompliance with whieh
could have a direct and material effect on the determination ol linancial siatement amounts. However,
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providing an opinion on comptiance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The resulis of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required 1o be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Town Council, and
federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by
anyone other than these specified parties.

dw (JQ)LJQDJ:B %Qﬂm(wmﬂ C

January 4, 2012

99



%VACHON CLUKAY CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

608 Chestnut Streer « Manchester, New Hampshire 03104

& COMPANY PC (603) 622-TOT70 + Fax: (03) 622-1452 « www.vccepas.com

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITII REQUIREMENTS THAT COULD
ITAVE A DIRECT AND MATERIAL EFFECT ON EACH MAJOR PROGRAM
AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE
WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133

To the Town Council
Town of [Hooksett, New Hampshire

We have audited the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire’s compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that could have
a direct and material effeet on each of the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire’s major federal programs
for the year ended June 30, 2011, The Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire's major federal program is
identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying Schedule of Findings and
Questioned Costs. Compliance with' the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants
applicable to its major federal program is the responsibility of the Town of Hooksett, New [Hampshire's
management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire's

compliance based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of Anerica; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Govermment
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133,
Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular
A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rcasonable assurance about whether
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and
material cffect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence about the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire's comnpliance with those requirements and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a rcasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination on
the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire's compliance with those requirements.

In our opinion, the Town of Hooksctt, New Hampshire complied, in all material respects, with
the compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material cllect on its major

fedcral program for the year cnded June 30, 2011.

Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire is responsible for establishing and
maintaining effective intcrnal control over compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grants applicable to fcderal programs. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the
Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire's internal control over compliance with the requirements that could
have a direct and material effect on a major federal program to determine the auditing procedures for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on internal control over
compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire’s internal control over compliance.
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A deficiency in infernal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employces, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internai control over
compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be deficiencics, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We did net
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be malerial weaknesses,

as defined above.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Town Council, and
federal awarding agencics and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by
anyone other than these specificd partics,

Joc o W@-M PC

January 4, 2012
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Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2011

Section I--Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor’s report issued:
Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness{es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified
not considered to be material weaknesses?

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

Federal Awards

lnternal Control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficieney(ies) identified
not considered to be material weakiesses?

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance
for major programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required
to be reported in accordance with

ungualified

yes
Ye§

ycs

YCS§

yes

X

X

unqualified

no
none reported

no

no

none reported

Circular A-133, Section .510(a)? yes X no
[dentification of major programs:
CFDA Number(s) Nawe of Federal Propram or Cluster
66.458 Capitalization Grants for Clean Water State Revolving FFunds
Dollar threshold used to distinguish
between Type A and Type B prograni: $ 300,000 _ .
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? yes X no
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Section II--Financial Statement Findings

There were no findings relating to the financial statements required to be reported by GAGAS.

Section II--Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

There were no findings and questioned costs as defined under OMB Circular A — 133.510(a).
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SCHEDULE A

TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Combining Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds - All Nonmajor Funds

June 30, 2011

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable
Due from other funds
Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses
Due to oiher funds
Total Liabilities

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Total Fund Balances
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances

Special

Revenue Permanent Combining

Funds Funds Totals
$ 2,593,102 3 2,631 $ 2,595,733
568,466 197,207 765,673
042 642
32,324 12,324
$ 3,194,534 $ 199,338 § 3,394,372
3 2,557 ¥ 2,557
4,978 3 3,146 8,124
7,535 3,146 10,681
170,730 170,780
5,198 5,198
3,181,801 3,181,801
25912 25,912
3,086,999 196,692 3,383,691
$ 3,194,534 § 199,838 § 3,394,372
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SCHEDULE B

TOWN OF HOOKSETT, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds - All Nonmajor Funds

For the Year Ended June 33, 2011

Revenues:
Taxes
Charges for services
[nvestiment income
Miscellaneous
Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current operations:
General government
Public safety
Culture and recreation
Capital outlay
Intergovernmental payments
Total Expenditurcs

Excess of revenues over expenditures
Other financing sources {uses):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances

Fund balances al bepinning of year

Fund balances at end of year

Special

Revenue Permanent Combining

Funds Funds Totals
$ 291,031 5 291,031
188,912 188,912
9,393 £ 11,500 20,893
376,517 4,886 381,403
865,853 16,386 882,239
77 77
29,996 29,996
56,416 56,416
378,265 378,265
55,000 55,000
519,677 77 519,754
346,176 16,309 362,485
18,262 18,262
(284,050} (3,146) (287,196)
(265,788) (3,146) (268,934)
80,188 13,163 93,551
3,106,611 183,529 3,290,140
$ 3,186,999 3 166,692 $ 3,383,691
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Town Meeting Minutes

First Session
April 7, 2012

Attendees:

Town Council: Vincent Limbo, Jim Sullivan, Todd Lizotte, John Danforth, Susan Lovas Orr, Michael
Downer, Leslie Boswak

Town Moderator: Don Riley

Town Administrator: Dr. Dean E. Shankle, Jr.

Town Clerk: Linda Pischetola

Town Finance Director: Christine Soucie

Town Counsel: Steve Buckley

Supervisors of the Checklist: Sally Humphries, Mike Horne, Bob Ehlers

Meeting called to order at: 9:01 AM

Moderator gave discussion to acceptable rules of the meeting. Stated when and where the posting where
to declare the date and time of the Town Deliberative.

Amendments 1 and 2 moved directly to the ballot
Election will be held on May 8, 2012 from 6 AM to 7 PM at the Cawley Middle School

Zoning Amendments
Amendment 1
Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 3, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 22, Definitions, by adding a definition for “Change of
Use” — Any proposed use that differs from the currently approved use and has an impact on certain
aspects of the use, including but not limited to water, sewer, traffic, noise, parking, lighting, hours of
operation and drainage, or a change of use as recognized by the currently adopted Building Code.
Moved: Todd Lizotte
2" Nancy Comai
Discussion: Todd Lizotte

- Amendment moved to ballot as stated

Amendment 3
Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 3, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 22, Definitions, by adding a definition for “Change of
Use” — Any proposed use that differs from the currently approved use and has an impact on certain
aspects of the use, including but not limited to water, sewer, traffic, noise, parking, lighting, hours of
operation and drainage, or a change of use as recognized by the currently adopted Building Code.
Moved: Unknown
2" Unknown

- Amendment moved to ballot as stated
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Amendment 4
Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 4, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 26, Section 3 Non-Conforming Uses, Lots and
Structures, by eliminating the entire text requiring the merger of two or more contiguous lots in single
ownership and by adopting all provisions of RSA 674:39-aa, which provides for the opportunity to
reverse previous involuntary mergers?
Moved: Vincent Limbo
2": Michael Downer
Discussion: Vincent Limbo, Diane

- Amendment moved to ballot as stated

Amendment 5

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 5, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 22, Definitions, by adding a definition for a buffer —
“Whenever a commercial or industrial use abuts a residential use, zone or district, a BUFFER ZONE
SHALL BE PROVIDED SUBJECT TO THE APPROVAL OF THE Planning Board. The buffer is an
area within a property or site, generally adjacent to and parallel with the property line, either consisting of
natural existing vegetation or created by the use of trees, shrubs, fences and/or berms, designed to limit
continuously the view of and/or sound from the site to adjacent sites or properties. The buffer shall be not
less than fifty (50) feet in width and shall be planted with as dense screen of shrubbery and trees not less
than either (8) feet in height at the time of planting. The screen shall be at least twenty-five (25) feet in
width and shall be permanently maintained suitably by the owner. The buffer shall provide a year-round
dense visual screen in order to minimize adverse impacts. In order to maintain dense screen year-round,
at least fifty (50) percent of the plantings shall be evergreens. Existing natural growth may be included as
part of the screen. No penetration of this buffer zone shall be allowed. With the approval of the Planning
Board, a suitable combination of other elements, such as fencing, berms, boulders, may be incorporated
within the buffer zone”?

Moved: Unknown

2": Unknown

- Amendment moved to the ballot as stated

Amendment 6
Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 6, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend the following articles: Article 10, Commercial, Section I.
Buffer Zone; Article 11, Industrial, Section D. Buffer Zone; Article 12, Mixed Use 1, Section G. Buffer
Zone; Article 13, Mixed Use 2, Section H.d) Buffer Zones; Article 14, Mixed Use 3, Section G. Buffer
Zones; Article 15, Mixed Use 4, Section G Buffer Zones, by replacing these Sections with the following
language: Buffer Zone — Whenever a commercial or industrial use abuts a residential use, zone or
district, a buffer zone shall be provided subject to the approval of the Planning Board. Please see Article
22, Definitions, for details”?
Moved: Unknown
2": Unknown

- Amendment moved to the ballot as stated

Amendment 7

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 7, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for
the Hooksett Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 8, Conservation Subdivision, Section C. Definition of
Open Space to change the last sentence to read: “Developable (unconstrained) land excludes
jurisdictional wetlands, steep slopes greater than 25 percent or flood hazard areas”?
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Moved: Vincent Limbo
2™ Unknown
- Amendment moved to ballot as read

Article 3

Shall the Town raise and appropriate as an operating budget, not including appropriations by special
warrant articles, the amounts set forth on the budget posted with the warrant for purposes set forth therein,
and other appropriations voted separately totaling $15,968,007.00. Should this article be defeated, the
operating budget shall be $15,640,927.00, which is the same as last year, with certain adjustments
required by previous action of the Town meeting, or by law or the Town Council may hold one special
meeting, to take up the issue of a revised operating budget only. Note: This article does not include
special warrant articles 4 through 27.

Moved: Vincent Limbo
2": Nancy Comai

Discussion: Vincent Limbo
Michael Williams -- speak in support
Michael Sentura — stated that the Banner misstated the information in the article.
Lembo asked Moderator for the Banner to make the correction.
- Article moved to the ballot as read

Article 4

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $160,000.00 to purchase a Front End
Loader for the Recycling and Transfer Department and to authorize the withdrawal from the Solid Waste
Disposal Special Revenue Fund. No amount to be raised from taxation.

Moved: Vincent Limbo
2™. Michael Downer

Discussion: Vincent Limbo; Diane Boyce
- Article moved to ballot as read

Article 5
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $150,000.00 to be placed in the Town
Building Maintenance Capital Reserve Fund already established.

Moved: Nancy Comai
2" James Sullivan

Discussion: Nancy Comai
Marc Miville spoke generally to article. Capital Reserve Plan from Sept. to now. Advise the “frame” the
discussion. How articles are presented. It is a 6 year plan. Large ticket items are spread out over a 6 year

plan and how it will be implemented.
- Article moved to ballot as read
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Article 6

To see if the Town will vote to approve the cost items included in the collective bargaining agreement
reached between the Hooksett Police Commission and the Hooksett Police Union Local 46, NEPBA
which calls for the following increases in salaries and benefits at the current staffing level:

Estimated increase over prior vear

Fiscal Year Salaries Benefits Estimated Increase
2012-13 $91,907 $23,884 $115,791
2013-14 $37,771 $10,861 $ 48,632

And further to raise and appropriate the sum of $115,791.00 for the current fiscal year, such sum
represents the additional costs attributable to the increase in salaries and benefits required by the new
agreement over those that would be paid at current staffing levels.

Moved: Joanne McHugh
2" Marc Miville
Recognized: Joanne McHugh, Ken Scherer. Discussion — No contract 6/30/10 no raises since then.
John Proctor: driven by pay or new benefits? Ken Scherer $2,125 — vacation accumulated differently —
Marc Miville — full support — 2™ year is subject to increase
Brian Williams — President of Police Union — speaks in favor of article
Michael Sacura — verification of vacation calculation: -- Ken Scherer — vacation shall be accumulated as
follows: 1-5 year received 88 hours -6-15 years additional 8 1/5 — 16 and beyond ----vacation shall now
be based on hours worked 1-4 years at 11 days 5-9 years an additional 5 and 10-14 years an additional 5
days . 15 years and over would have a total of 25 days
Question: Capt. Daigle — vacation is use or loose
Pete Farwell — compared to article 8 — pay scale — Ken Sharon -- “Front loading” employees have not had
raises since 2010 — some employees are being brought current
Tom Broughton — spoke in favor of article
Michael DiBito — what brought the fire insurance
Dean Shankle — Police auto moves automatically with the town
Joanne McHugh — regards to compression of pay — steps important to understand commission needed to
bring salaries in line with surrounding communities.
Ken Scherer — steps — 2% added two additional steps within the term of the step scale for both sides

- Article moved to ballot as read

Article 7
Shall the Town, if article 6 is defeated, authorize the governing body to call one special meeting, at its
option, to address article 6 cost items only?
Moved: Michael Downer
2": Vincent Limbo
Discussion: Michael Downer
- Article moved to ballot as read

Article 8

To see if the Town will vote to approve the cost items included in the collective bargaining agreement
reached between the Hooksett Town Council and the Hooksett Permanent Firefighters Association Local
3264, IAFF which calls for the following increases in salaries and benefits at the current staffing level:

111



Estimated increase over prior vear

Fiscal Year Salaries Benefits Estimated Increase
2012-13 $86,374 ($13,269) $73,105
2013-14 $40,232 $13,261 $53,493
2014-15 $41,236 $13,559 $54,795

And further to raise and appropriate the sum of $73,105.00 for the current fiscal year, such sum represents
the additional costs attributable to the increase in salaries and benefits required by the new agreement
over those that would be paid at current staffing levels.

Moved: Vincent Limbo

2": Nancy Comai

Discussion: Vincent Limbo & Michael Williams
- Article Moved to the ballot as read

Article 9

Shall the Town, if article 8 is defeated, authorize the governing body to call one special meeting, at its
option, to address article 8 cost items only?

Motion: James Sullivan

2": Todd Lizotte

Discussion: James Sullivan
- Article moved to the ballot as read

Article 10

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of purchasing Plow Dump Trucks for the Public Works Department and to raise and appropriate
the sum of $80,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to
expend.

Moved: Nancy Comai

2" James Sullivan

Discussion: Nancy Comai

Marc Miville spoke to the attention to document: Capital Reserve Plan: Sept. through now: 6 year plan
Capital Improvement will be spread over that time frame.
- Article moved to ballot as stated

Article 11
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $68,500.00 to be placed in the
Revaluation Capital Fund already established.
Moved: Nancy Comai
2" James Sullivan
Discussion: Nancy Comai
- Article moved to ballot as stated

Article 12

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of purchasing Fire Apparatus for the Fire-Rescue Department and to raise and appropriate the
sum of $50,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend.
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Moved: Mike Downer
2™ Todd Lizotte
Discussion: Mike Downer

Marc Miville — support

Michael Sutura — guarantee for continuance for each year

Nancy Comai — CIP document leveling playing field — 6 year plan

Michael Downer — explanation — not to have continuance — would have to be put on the ballot for an
increase

Michael Williams — support of article

Michael DiBitetto — discussion — had the capital fund always been about 90% short in the past. Lease was
the alternative — not in favor of article

Ken Sharon — lease/own comments

Mike Williams

Michael DiBitetto — savings of financing — equip was increasing in cost annual —too high—had to lease
Leslie Boswak — to speak in favor of article to use for the purpose of grants

Moved to ballot as read

Article 13

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $50,000.00 to be placed in the
Emergency Radio Communication Development Capital Reserve Fund already established.

Moved: Susan Lovas Orr

2": Todd Lizotte

Discussion: Orr — crucial to the fire dept. - destroyed by lightening in 2011 — base could not
communicate with cruisers

Michael Sutcur — error in banner — issue again
Joanne McHugh — understand the importance — current system has been evaluated since the damage —
assessment noted that the components would not be made continually — now pieces for repair — request
for new equipment
Mary Farwell - how old is current system
Capt. Daigle — 10 years
Longevity of equipment is 7-10 years
Mary Farwell — what is the insurance coverage for lightening
Joanne McHugh — fully covered
Ken Scherer — unit will no longer be made after 2014
Paul Broughton — in favor radio is a life line for officers
Capt. Daigle — number of power sites are 4 different sites — up keep for 4 sites
Marc Miville — highlight the urgency to this article
Ken Suture — reliability of current system — forced to switch to analog — not as reliable.
Susan Orr — if the ordinance does not pass and the system fails will the funds need to be paid immediately
Joanne McHugh — would have to go to Town Council for approval — when the system went down we had
back up from purchaser
- Article moved to ballot as read
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Article 14

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of Drainage Upgrades throughout several failing areas in Town and to raise and appropriate the
sum of $50,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend.

Moved: James Sullivan
2™ Vincent Lembo

Discussion: James Sullivan
David Boutin — question to Capital reserve — Moderator is allowed to expend and others do not. Must go
back to legislative body. Once the dollar amount is reached the town administrator must go to trustee of
trust funds or go back to legislative body for approval.
Dean Shankle — any purchase made must go through the process. $15K must have approval from the
council. As this is set up it would not need to go back to the council.
David Boutin — prudent to set monies aside — the voters should have final vote

- Article moved to ballot as read

Article 15

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $47,000.00 to purchase financial
software, including data conversion, 1* year’s maintenance and support, and hardware. This will be a
non-lapsing appropriation per RSA 32:7, VI and will not lapse until the software conversion is completed
or by June 20, 2016, whichever is sooner.

Moved: Todd Lizotte
2™ John Danforth

Discussion: Todd Lizotte — in support and speaking to the importance of update software and how it will
allow the town to move forward with procedures imperative to creating a positive process

Heather Rainier — spoke in favor of article and importance of upgrading our software
Christine Soucie — money is reserved until 2016.
- Article moved to ballot as read

Article 16
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $30,000.00 to purchase a new Fire
Prevention utility vehicle for the Fire-Rescue Department

Moved: Michael Downer
2™ Susan Orr

Discussion: Michael Downer- car currently has 110 miles with many repairs

Michael Williams — speaks in favor

Marc Miville — Town council has a negative vote—Why

Vincent Lembo — reason was many vehicles were turned over without voter approval
- Article moved to ballot as read

Article 17

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of Upgrading the Diesel Tanks and Fuel Dispenser at the Recycling and Transfer Department and
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to raise and appropriate the sum of $25,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town
Administrator as the agent to expend.

Moved: Leslie Boswak
2™ Susan Lovas Orr

Discussion: Leslie Boswak importance of updating the fuel pumps — visibility
Diane Boyce — in favor — system since 1985 — environmental issue — fuel pump — good time 1972
recycled at that time

- Article moved to ballot as read

Article 18
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $24,000.00 to purchase personal
protective equipment for firefighters.

Moved: Leslie Boswak
2™ Vincent Lembo

Discussion: Leslie Boswak — gear when they respond to issues — important to protect or firefighters —
recommended to be replaced every 10 years. Old equipment would be used as backup

Michael Williams — in favor — maintenance program — because of this it has been proven to save the lives
of our firefighters
Chuck LaBonte - $24K for outright expenditure — does it cover 14 or 28 sets?
Michael Williams — > this year and 'z next year.
- Article moved to Ballot as read

Article 19
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $20,000.00 to be placed in the Air Pack
and Bottles Capital Reserve Fund already established.

Moved: James Sullivan
2™ Todd Lizotte

Discussion: James Sullivan — vital to firefighters — under CIP reserve — 15 year mandated to be replaced
Marc Miville — asking about negative votes — Lembo — against — puts stock in dept heads. Chief said at
this time he didn’t feel it necessary
Michael Williams — Lembo — based on 2020 8 years from now. Difficult to be able to know what will be
needed. He feels it is necessary to add to make sure we have the funds available when needed to replace

- Article moved ballot as read

Article 20
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in the Town of

Hooksett’s Master Plan Capital Reserve Fund already established.

Moved: John Danforth
2™: Todd Lizotte

Discussion: John Danforth — figures come from master plan
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Michael Staturo — question with increasing amount each year? Asking for clarification.

Marc Miville — $10K Capital Reserve requires a different amount - $12K

Dean Shankle — started at $12 and was decreased to $10K

Vincent Limbo — against — recommendation of CIP

Chuck LaBonte — clarification on description (recommended) is this a requirement or required? John
Danforth - Dictates — recommends time frame

Dean Shankle — changes need to be made across the board in order to keep continuity would like to
internalize the process rather than farming it out. Important to be done.

Chuck LaBonte — Is it law to have a master plan

Dean Shankle — master plan needs to address future development

Michael Staturo - Plan for $10-$12K can it be amended? -
Change to amendment must be written and given to Moderator — time given for this to be done.

Vincent Lembo — past several years seen CIP doing a wonderful job to secure a good master plan

Todd Lizotte — to go with Dr. Shankle’s advise — should rely on this group (CIP) to know what is best for
the town and what we need to get there.

Proposed Amended Article to read — To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $0
to be placed in the Town of Hooksett’s Master Plan Capital Reserve Fund already established.

Moved: Michael Staturo

2": Chuck LaBonte

Leslie Boswak — negative

John Proctor — an issue with $0 out an amendment. Should just be voted down

Marc Miville- Master Plan is 8 years old and only 7 years left. This is an important amendment

Matt Mercier — spoke in favor of leaving the amendment as is....would like to bring the work in house —
money saving — how to accomplish —

Alan Forrest —started in 2004 how much does it cost to do the master plan.

Danforth — CIP estimates $65K for the master plan

Alan Forrest — When does it end? Does not end

Danforth — as long as we have a Zoning board than it would have to continue

Vincent Limbo — 2017 to 2018 would be the last $50K payment. Then it would start again to continue
with the Master Plan. Speaks again to the CIP’s work

Ken Scherer — comment — looking forward to community to grow in a managed order

Todd Lizotte — As a policy maker and not administrator it is important to listen to and take the
recommendations from those that are in charge. Technical issues should come before the Town Council
for approval.

Call the question: Don Riley

ond

Called
Amendment failed:
Question:

2nd.

What is your pleasure for article 20: Not to be amended
- Article will be moved to ballot as originally read
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Article 21
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in Town Wide
Computer Development Capital Reserve Fund already established.

Moved: Todd Lizotte
2": Nancy Comai

Discussion: Todd Lizotte — computers offered were antiquated and we need to have updated equipment
- Article moved to ballot as read

Article 22

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of Infrastructure Improvements on Conservation Land and to raise and appropriate the sum of
$10,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend.

Moved: Todd Lizotte
2™. Michael Downer

Discussion: Todd Lizotte
- Article moved to ballot as read

Article 23
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in the Parks and
Recreation Facilities Development Capital Reserve Fund already established.

Moved: Michael Downer
2™ James Sullivan

Discussion: Michael Downer
Vincent Lembo questioned balance — John Proctor clarified
- Article moved to ballot as read

Article 24

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the
purpose of purchasing Automated Collection Equipment for the Recycling and Transfer Department and
to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town
Administrator as the agent to expend.

Moved: Susan Lovas Orr
2™ Vincent Lembo

Discussion: Susan Lovas Orr
- Article 24 is moved to ballot as read

Article 25
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $7,500.00 to replace the fence at

Riverside Cemetery.

Moved: John Danforth
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2™ John Pieroni

Discussion: John Danforth — RSA 249:4 maintenance of municipal public cemetery
- Article 25 is moved to ballot as read

Article 26

Shall the Town rescind $2,000,000.00 of bonding authority that was authorized at a Town Meeting in
October 2007 for the construction of certain public and related project improvements in a newly created
tax increment finance district related to the Cabella’s Project?

Moved: Leslie Boswak
2™. Todd Lizotte

Discussion: Leslie Boswak — Housekeeping measure — $2M stays on financials until that has been
rescinded — affects bond rating
- Article 26 moved to ballot as read

Article 27

To see the Town will vote to adopt the provisions of RSA 261:153 VI to collect an additional $5.00 fee
for the purpose of supporting municipal and transportation improvements and to establish a Municipal
Transportation Improvement Capital Reserve Fund for the purpose governed by the RSA 35:1; further to
restrict $4.50 from the fee to go into this fund and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to
expend. The remaining .50 cents would lapse to the General Fund.

Moved: Nancy Comai

2": James Sullivan

Discussion: Nancy Comai - Council was asked to find a way to increase revenue. This would be a fair
and equitable way of raising funds to town expenditures

Peter Farwell — This will be tacked onto our registration fees — 17,000 vehicles are registered each year
Chuck LaBonte — in favor — concerned with wording of article — used to take care of roads — not used for
anything else.

James Sullivan — those items will only be used for transportation avenues. This will be also for
businesses that also would register vehicles and would be responsible for this fee as well.

Senator David Boutin: Not in favor nor against. This would set a new president. Wants to amend article
to read-----see Moderator for verbiage. Surcharge on motor vehicle registration. As so stated it can be
used for a myriad of items. The change is to make it clear it is only for roads and affected areas used by
vehicles. Does not want it used for operational issues. Used only for roads and bridges. Should not be
administered by Town Administrator. Should be administered by legislative body for votes.

Motion to move:
2™ John ?

Discussion: Joanne McHugh — question — the town is looking to have this fee attached to registration.
Do we know if the dealerships can have their vehicles registered in other places?

Leslie Boswak — they would have to move their headquarters to another location to not incur this cost.

Joe Webster — supports amended article — has questions regarding sidewalks — extremely dangerous for
children — leave to voters — would like bicycle paths etc.

Mary Farwell — spoke against article — fears we would lose revenue because of businesses moving out of
town to avoid fees
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James Sullivan — communication on next agenda

Nancy Comai — Senator needs to present to public.

Jodi — does not support amended article

Vincent Lembo — question — is there an RSA that states we should have had a public notice hearing before
it got to this venue.

Nancy Comai: Public hearing is on Wednesday

Don Riley, Moderator asked for guidance from Steve Buckley, Town Attorney — there is not a public
hearing necessary.

David Boutin — All funds will go to roads and bridges.

Town Moderator: Based on Buckley & Boutin we can do what we will need to do today and then the
public hearing cannot change the wording put in place today.

Michael Downer — cannot have a public hearing on something that does not exist. RSA clarifies

Vincent Lembo — feels we should have a public hearing prior to deliberative

David Boutin — issue with SB2 — we are not voting today but not until May 8"

Joanne McHugh — Hearing question — if at the public meeting people do not want the article what would
happen.

Town Moderator explains that this warrant will go to the ballot either amended or not.

David Pearl — support on principal

Dean Shankle — He brought forth the original article. At this point the issues brought forth are a concern
he had not considered prior to bring this forth.

Nancy Comai — does not support the amendment to the article. Feels it should go to the voters to make
that decision.

Leslie Boswak — understanding that the hearing would have a hearing prior to the warrant being done.
Vincent Lembo — confusion — will support $0 out amendment

Don Winterton — support amendment — not a referendum it is a vote — want to $0 out warrant

Michael Sentura — article in the paper for this warrant. Issues addressed at the meeting

Marc Miville — Public Meeting Budget Committee

Matt Mercier — does not support $0 our warrant — bad idea to jeopardize the revenue

Heather Renier - $0 out a warrant is not a good idea.

David Pearl — is this required to go as a warrant? Yes it does have to be presented as a warrant.

Marc Miville - $0 out a warrant — supported

James Sullivan — Flaws in presentation — 4-4 vote and he is still in favor of bringing this to the voters
Called to Question: Bob

2": Heather

Moderator asked for pleasure to amend the amended warrant

Passed to $0 out amendment
Article 27 is amended to read as: To see if the Town will vote to adopt the provisions of RSA 261:153
VI to collect a $0.00 surcharge fee on vehicle registrations for the purpose of supporting municipal
bridge, road construction, reconstruction and maintenance projects and to establish a Municipal Bridge,
Road Construction, Reconstruction and Maintenance Capital Reserve Fund for the purpose governed by
the RSA 35:1

- Revised Article is moved to ballot as amended to $0

Call to end Town Meeting of 2012 by Town Moderator at 12:45PM

Linde . W, Town Clerk
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Town Election Results 2012

Article 1
To choose all necessary Town officers for the year ensuing.

Town Council, Councilor-At-Large, Term Exp.

06/2015 Cemetery Trustee, Term Exp. 06/2015
Leslie Boswak 535 Votes Mike Horne 531 Votes
Town Council, District 1, Term Exp. 06/2015 Library Trustees, Term Exp. 06/2015
Todd Lizotte 112 Votes Mary Farwell 517 Votes
Francis Broderick 471 Votes
Town Council, District 2, Term Exp. 06/2014
John Danforth 114 Votes Sewer Commission, Term Exp. 06/2013
Sidney Baines 514 Votes
Town Council, District 4, Term Exp. 06/2015
Susan Lovas Orr 39 Votes Sewer Commission, Term Exp. 06/2015
Frank Kotowski 529 Votes
Budget Committee, Term Exp. 06/2015
Marc Miville 466 Votes Supervisor of the Checklist, Term Exp. 06/2018
Frank Bizzarro 452 Votes Mike Horne 542 Votes
Tabitha Jennings Write-in
Town Moderator, Term Exp. 06/2014
Budget Committee, Term Exp. 06/2014 Don Riley 542 Votes
Steven Peterson 513 Votes
Trustee of the Trust Funds, Term Exp. 06/2015
Budget Committee, Term Exp. 06/2013 Paul Loiselle Write-in
Tom Young Write-in
Chris Morneau Write-in
Article 2

Zoning Amendments

Amendment No. 1

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 1, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for the Hooksett
Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 3, Section P. General Provisions, to change the reference of Hooksett’s Open Space
Plan “from June 2004” to “the latest version”? Yes 476 No 134

Amendment No. 2

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 2, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for the Hooksett
Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 3, Section A., General Provisions, “No permits in any district for any nonresidential
or multi-family uses, nor any change, or expansion of use, or construction shall be issued prior to site plan approval by
the Planning Board per NH RSA 674:43 and as detailed in the Non-Residential Site Plan Review Regulations of the Town
of Hooksett as adopted and amended by removing “nor any change”?  Yes 482 No 132

Amendment No. 3

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 3, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board for the Hooksett
Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 22, Definitions, by adding a definition for “Change of Use” — Any proposed use that
differs from the currently approved use and has an impact on certain aspects of the use, including but not limited to water,
sewer, traffic, noise, parking, lighting, hours of operation and drainage, or a change of use as recognized by the currently
adopted Building Code. Yes 461 No 155

Amendment No. 4
Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 4, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for the Hooksett
Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 26, Section 3 Non-Conforming Uses, Lots and Structures, by eliminating the entire
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text requiring the merger of two or more contiguous lots in single ownership and by adopting all provisions of RSA
674:39-aa, which provides for the opportunity to reverse previous involuntary mergers? Yes 448 No 161

Amendment No. 5

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 5, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for the Hooksett
Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 22, Definitions, by adding a definition for a buffer — “Whenever a commercial or
industrial use abuts a residential use, zone or district, a buffer zone shall be provided subject to the approval of the
Planning Board. The buffer is an area within a property or site, generally adjacent to and parallel with the property line,
either consisting of natural existing vegetation or created by the use of trees, shrubs, fences and/or berms, designed to
limit continuously the view of and/or sound from the site to adjacent sites or properties. The buffer shall be not less than
fifty (50) feet in width and shall be planted with a dense screen of shrubbery and trees not less than eight (8) feet in height
at the time of planting. The screen shall be at least twenty-five (25) feet in width and shall be permanently maintained
suitably by the owner. The buffer shall provide a year-round dense visual screen in order to minimize adverse impacts. In
order to maintain dense screen year-round, at least fifty (50) percent of the plantings shall be evergreens. Existing natural
growth may be included as part of the screen. No penetration of this buffer zone shall be allowed. With the approval of
the Planning Board, a suitable combination of other elements, such as fencing, berms, boulders, may be incorporated
within the buffer zone”? Yes 476 No 142

Amendment No. 6

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 6, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for the Hooksett
Zoning Ordinance to amend the following articles: Article 10, Commercial, Section I. Buffer Zone; Article 11, Industrial,
Section D. Buffer Zone; Article 12, Mixed Use 1, Section G. Buffer Zone; Article 13, Mixed Use 2, Section H.d) Buffer
Zones; Article 14, Mixed Use 3, Section G. Buffer Zones; Article 15, Mixed Use 4, Section G Buffer Zones, by replacing
these Sections with the following language: Buffer Zone — Whenever a commercial or industrial use abuts a residential
use, zone or district, a buffer zone shall be provided subject to the approval of the Planning Board. Please see Article 22,
Definitions, for details™? Yes 467 No 146

Amendment No. 7

Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 7, as proposed by the Hooksett Planning Board, for the Hooksett
Zoning Ordinance to amend Article 8, Conservation Subdivision, Section C. Definition of Open Space to change the last
sentence to read: ‘“Developable (unconstrained) land excludes jurisdictional wetlands, steep slopes greater than 25 percent
or flood hazard areas”? Yes 498 No 114

Article 3

Shall the Town raise and appropriate as an operating budget, not including appropriations by special warrant articles, the
amounts set forth on the budget posted with the warrant for the purposes set forth therein, and other appropriations voted
separately totaling $15,968,007.00. Should this article be defeated, the operating budget shall be $15,640,927.00, which
is the same as last year, with certain adjustments required by previous action of the Town meeting, or by law or the Town
Council may hold one special meeting, to take up the issue of a revised operating budget only. Note: This article does not
include special warrant articles 4 through 27. Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 315 No 323

Article 4

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $160,000.00 to purchase a Front End Loader for the
Recycling and Transfer Department and to authorize the withdrawal from the Solid Waste Disposal Special Revenue
Fund. No amount to be raised from taxation. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget
Committee (8-0). Yes 413 No 223

Article 5

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $150,000.00 to be placed in the Town Building
Maintenance Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the
Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 330 No 306

Article 6

To see if the Town will vote to approve the cost items included in the collective bargaining agreement reached between
the Hooksett Police Commission and the Hooksett Police Union Local 46, NEPBA which calls for the following increases
in salaries and benefits at the current staffing level:
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Estimated increase over prior vear

Fiscal Year Salaries Benefits Estimated Increase
2012-13 $91,907 $23,884 $115,791
2013-14 $37,771 $10.861 $ 48,632

and further to raise and appropriate the sum of $115,791.00 for the current fiscal year, such sum represents the additional
costs attributable to the increase in salaries and benefits required by the new agreement over those that would be paid at
current staffing levels. Recommended by the Town Council (9-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Yes 366 No 280

Article 7
Shall the Town, if article 6 is defeated, authorize the governing body to call one special meeting, at its option, to address
article 6 cost items only? Yes 344 No 280

Article 8

To see if the Town will vote to approve the cost items included in the collective bargaining agreement reached between
the Hooksett Town Council and the Hooksett Permanent Firefighters Association Local 3264, IAFF which calls for the
following increases in salaries and benefits at the current staffing level:

Estimated increase over prior vear

Fiscal Year Salaries Benefits Estimated Increase
2012-13 $86,374 ($13,269) $ 73,105
2013-14 $40,232 $13,261 $ 53,493
2014-15 $41,236 $13,559 $ 54,795

and further to raise and appropriate the sum of $73,105.00 for the current fiscal year, such sum represents the additional
costs attributable to the increase in salaries and benefits required by the new agreement over those that would be paid at
current staffing levels. Recommended by the Town Council (9-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Yes 357 No 286

Article 9
Shall the Town, if article 8 is defeated, authorize the governing body to call one special meeting, at its option, to address
article 8 cost items only? Yes 336 No 297

Article 10

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the purpose of
purchasing Plow Dump Trucks for the Public Works Department and to raise and appropriate the sum of $80,000.00 to be
placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend. Recommended by the Town Council (8-
0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 346 No 293

Article 11

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $68,500.00 to be placed in the Revaluation Capital
Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee
(8-0). Yes 307 No 327

Article 12

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the purpose of
purchasing Fire Apparatus for the Fire-Rescue Department and to raise and appropriate the sum of $50,000.00 to be
placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend. Recommended by the Town Council (8-
0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 383 No 262
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Article 13

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $50,000.00 to be placed in the Emergency Radio
Communication Development Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0),
Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 321 No 318

Article 14
To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the purpose of
Drainage Upgrades throughout several failing areas in Town and to raise and appropriate the sum of $50,000.00 to be

placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend. Recommended by the Town Council (8-
0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 368 No 277

Article 15

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $47,000.00 to purchase financial software, including data
conversion, 1* year’s maintenance and support, and hardware. This will be a non-lapsing appropriation per RSA 32:7, VI
and will not lapse until the software conversion is completed or by June 30, 2016, whichever is sooner. Recommended by
the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 329 No 311

Article 16

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $30,000.00 to purchase a new Fire Prevention utility
vehicle for the Fire-Rescue Department. Recommended by the Town Council (7-1), Recommended by the Budget
Committee (8-0). Yes 303 No 332

Article 17

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the purpose of
Upgrading the Diesel Tanks and Fuel Dispenser at the Recycling and Transfer Department and to raise and appropriate
the sum of $25,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend.
Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 373 No 264

Article 18

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $24,000.00 to purchase personal protective equipment for
firefighters. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0).

Yes 474 No 171

Article 19
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $20,000.00 to be placed in the Air Pack and Bottles

Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council (5-3), Recommended by the Budget
Committee (8-0). Yes 323 No 312

Article 20

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in the Town of Hooksett’s Master
Plan Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council (7-1), Recommended by the Budget
Committee (8-0). Yes 266 No 368

Article 21

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in the Town Wide Computer
Development Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the
Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 310 No 322

Article 22
To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the purpose of
Infrastructure Improvements on Conservation Land and to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in this

fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0),
Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 305 No 328
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Article 23

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in the Parks and Recreation
Facilities Development Capital Reserve Fund already established. Recommended by the Town Council (8-0),
Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 334 No 306

Article 24

To see if the Town will vote to establish a Capital Reserve Fund under the provisions of RSA 35:1 for the purpose of
purchasing Automated Collection Equipment for the Recycling and Transfer Department and to raise and appropriate the
sum of $10,000.00 to be placed in this fund, and to name the Town Administrator as the agent to expend. Recommended

by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 333 No 301

Article 25

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $7,500.00 to replace the fence at Riverside Cemetery.
Recommended by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 375 No 262
Article 26

Shall the Town rescind $2,000,000.00 of bonding authority that was authorized at a Town Meeting in October 2007 for
the construction of certain public and related project improvements in a newly created tax increment finance district

related to the Cabela’s Project? (3/5 ballot vote required.) Recommend by the Town Council (8-0), Recommended by the
Budget Committee (8-0). Yes 496 No 142

Article 27

To see if the Town will vote to adopt the provisions of RSA 261:153 VI to collect a $0.00 surcharge fee on vehicle
registrations for the purpose of supporting municipal bridge, road construction, reconstruction and maintenance projects
and to establish a Municipal Bridge, Road Construction, Reconstruction and Maintenance Capital Reserve Fund for this
purpose governed by the RSA 35:1. Not recommended by the Town Council (0-8), Not recommended by the Budget
Committee (0-7). Yes 199 No 412
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Officials, Boards, Commissions & Committees

For more information, please contact Evelyn F. Horn, Administration Department, 603-485-8472.

U.S. President
Barack H. Obama

U.S. Senators
Kelly Ayotte
Jeanne Shaheen

U.S. Congress
Frank Guinta

Governor
John Lynch

Governor’s Council
Raymond Wieczorek

Representatives to General Court

David W. Hess
Frank Kotowski
Todd P. Smith
Molly Smith

State Senator
David R. Boutin

Budget Committee

. Frank Bizzaro

. Kathey Hughes

. Nicholas Haas

. Thomas Keach

. Marc Miville

. Arthur “JR” Ouellette

. David Pearl

8. Gail Smith

Todd Lizotte, Council Rep.
Tony Amato, Village Water
Gregory Weir, Central Water
Dana Argo, School Rep.

NN AW~

Cemetery Commission
1. Sharron Champagne
2. Michael Horne

3. John Pieroni

Conservation Commission
1. David W. Hess

2. Timothy Johnson

3. Cindy Robertson

4. Bob Steiner

5. James Walter

Steve Couture, Alternate
Philip Fitanides, Alternate.
John Turbyne, Alternate
Todd Lizotte, Council Rep.

Council

. Leslie A. Boswak, At-Large

. Nancy Comai, District 6
John H. Danforth, District 2

. Michael Downer, District 5
Vincent Lembo, Jr., At-Large
James Levesque, District 3
Todd Lizotte, District 1

. Susan Lovas Orr, District 4

. James Sullivan, At-Large

LN R W~

Economic Development
. Craig Ahlquist

Tom Barrett

. Jesse Marchand

. Matt Mercier

. Mark Sanborn

SRS

6. David Scarpetti
7. William E. King
Leslie A. Boswak, Council Rep.

Dean E. Shankle, Jr., Town Admin

John Gryval, Planning Board
Jo Ann Duffy, Town Planner

Nicholas Mercier, Advisory Member

Mike Reed, Advisory Member

Emergency Management
Michael Williams
Harold Murray, Deputy Director

Heritage Commission

1. Roxanne Kate

2. Kathie Northrup

3. David J. Rogers

4. Peggy Teravainen

James Sullivan, Council Rep

Library Trustees

1. Francis J. Broderick
2. Barbara Davis

3. Mary Farwell

4. Tammy J. Hooker
5. Linda Kleinschmidt

Moderator
Don Riley

Parks and Recreation Advisory

Board

. David Elliott

. Susanna Hargreaves

. Mike Horne

. Jacqueline McCartin

. Dustin Raiche

Ray Miclette, Alternate
Michael Downer, Council Rep.

[ O R S

Planning Board

. Marin Cannata

. John Gryval

. Frank Kotowski

. Richard Marshall

. Brendan S. Perry

. Tom Walsh

Robert Duhaime, Alternate
Yervant Nahikian, Alternate
David J. Rogers, Alternate
Susan Lovas Orr, Council Rep.
Leo Lessard, Town Admin, Rep.

AN AW =

Dean E. Shankle, Jr., Town Admin.

Police Commission

1. Clark M. Karolian
2. Joanne McHugh

3. Kenneth P. Scherer

Recycling & Transfer Advisory

Committee

1. Richard Bairam

2. Merrill E. Johnson

3. Sean McDonald

4. Robert H. Worrell

James Levesque, Council Rep.
Raymond Bonney, Alternate
Robert Schroeder, Alternate

Sewer Commission
1. Sidney Baines
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2. Roger R. Bergeron
3. Frank Kotowski
Todd Lizotte, Council Rep.

Southern NH Planning Commission

1. Mike N. Jolin
2. Richard G. Marshall

Supervisors of the Checklist
1. Robert Ehlers

2. Michael Horne

3. Sally A. Humphries

Town Clerk
Linda Pischetola
Billie Hebert, Deputy

Treasurer
Linda Courtemanche
Ann McLaughlin, Deputy

Trustees of the Trust Fund
1. William Lyon

2. Joyce Rose

3. Kurt Strandson

Zoning Board of Adjustment
1. Richard Bairam

2. Roger Duhaime

3. Gerald Hyde

4. Don Pare

5. Chris Pearson

Phil Denbow, Alternate
Jacqueline Roy, Alterante
Michael Simoneau, Alternate
James Levesque, Council Rep

Central Water Precinct
1. William Alois

2. Everett Hardy

3. William McDonald

4. Richard Montieth

5. Gregory Weir

Carol Hardy, Clerk
Beverly Weir, Treasurer
Kelly Alois, Moderator

Historical Society
1. James Sullivan
2. Bib Thinnes

3. Diane Valade

4. Joyce Werksman

School Board

1. Cheryl Akstin

2. Dana Argo

3. Trisha Korkosz

4. James Sullivan

Becky Berk, Moderator
Frank Bizzarro, Treasurer
Todd A. Dumont, Clerk

Village Water Precinct

1. Tony Amato

2. Leo “Joe” Hebert

3. Michael Jache

4. Clifford Jones

5. James Lyons

Anthony Amato, Moderator
Nancy Philibotte, Clerk

Andy Felch, Treasurer

Joseph Hebert, Superintendent



Assessing Department

Dear Hooksett Residents,

Another year has passed. It was very busy time in the Assessing Office. The Assessor is Todd Haywood
of Granite Hill Municipal Services.

Hooksett has Cheryl Akstin as its full time field appraiser to assist with the data collection and general
assessing duties. Elayne Pierson is the Assessing Clerk an intrical part of the overall coordination of the
Assessor’s Office, who is responsible for assisting the public with routine questions and maintaining
continuity within the office. The Town of Hooksett continues to maintain new technologies to assist the
general public.

The newest technology available is GIS information which can be accessed on the home page at
www.hooksett.org. This enables the user to view town maps via aerial imagery. In addition to the
assessing information there are additional layers available for the user. This is a great tool which is useful
for the general public and nearly all town departments such as Community Development, Building,
Public Works, Water and Sewer, Solid Waste and Public Safety. We are aware the property lines do not
overlay precisely. We hope to have that corrected in the next year or two if the budget allows.

In 2012, the Assessor’s Office processed over 77 abatement requests. Furthermore, the Assessor’s office
will continue on the cyclical data-base maintenance program which entails a complete interior and
exterior data verification when possible for 20% of the town. Our entire town’s weighted mean ratio for
2011 is 109.5%; the median ratio for 2011 is 107.4%.

The Town of Hooksett will be undergoing assessment review by the NH Dept. of Revenue
Administration in 2013 which entails a complete review of all the exemptions and credits. In addition
Hooksett will be conducting a revaluation of all properties in 2013 pursuant to Section 2, Article 6 of the
NH Constitution and NH RSA 75:8a. This means your property assessment will reflect its current market
value as 0f 04/01/2013. Please look forward to subsequent notices regarding the 2013 revaluation.

The entire Assessor’s Database is hosted online at www.visionappraisal.com. This feature allows the user
to search the assessor’s database from the comfort and convenience of their own home. This information
is updated monthly to ensure the most up to date data is maintained.

The NH Assessing Standards Board has a reference manual that was developed specifically for
elected/appointed municipal officials and taxpayers. You may find this by using this link:
http://hooksett.org/Pages/HooksettNH Assessing/Assessing Manual.pdf

There is a computer terminal in the Assessor’s Office for the general public to use so they may search and
print property record cards without staff assistance.

The Assessing Tax Maps are available online at www.hooksett.org as well, for printing and viewing from
the convenience of the user’s home.

As is every year, we invite you to use the resources available to view your property cards. If you have
any questions, please do not hesitate to give us a call or come on in. We are here to serve you, the
taxpayers.

Respectfully submitted,

M%{WM CNHA
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Veterans or Veterans Widow Credit

Must own property on April 1 of year of application.

Must be NH resident for 1 year prior to April 1 of the application year.

Must be residential property.

Must notify Assessor’s Office of any change of address.

Has to have served not less than ninety (90) days in the Armed Forces of the United States in a war or
conflict as outlined in RSA 72:28.

A copy of the DD214, or discharge paper is required when applying for this exemption.

Exemption Credit: $250.00 reduction in real estate tax bill.

Summary of Exemption Information Required for All Veterans Exemptions

Must have served in the Armed Service during the following dates:

World War I — April 6, 1917 and November 11, 1918 (extended to April 1, 1920 for service in Russia)
World War II — December 7, 1941 and December 31, 1946 (including US Merchant Marines)

Korean Conflict — June 25, 1950 and January 31, 1955

Vietnam Conflict-July 1, 1958 and September 1, 1961, if earned Vietnam service medal or expeditionary
medal.

Vietnam Conflict — December 22, 1961 and May 7, 1975.

Any other war or armed conflict that has occurred since May 8, 1975, if earned expeditionary medal or
theater of operations service medal.

Gulf War- If earned Liberation of Kuwait medal or Southwest Asia service medal.

Disabled Veteran or Widow of Disabled Veteran

An exemption to the Veteran if he/she is 100% permanently disabled as a result of service-connected
injury. You must apply with a copy of a letter from Veterans Administration certifying 100% disability,
total and permanent.

A copy of the DD214, or discharge paper is required when applying for this exemption.

Exemption Credit: $2,000.00. Reduction in real estate tax bill.

Blind Exemption

Determined legally blind by the Administrator of Blind Services of the Vocational Rehabilitation
Division of the Education Department.

Exempt each year on assessed value for property tax purposes of his/her residential real estate to the value
of $50,000.00. (Approved May12, 1993 Town meeting).

Exemption Credit: $50,000.00 reduction in assessed value

Elderly Exemption

Those aphplying for the Exemption must qualify by meeting the following guidelines and the deadline of

April 15",

1. The person must have been a New Hampshire resident for at least three (3) years preceding April 1%
in which the exemptions claimed own the real estate individually or jointly, or if the real estate is
owned by such person’s spouse, they must have been married for at least five (5) years.

2. The taxpayer must have a gross income of not more than $35,000.00, or if married a combined gross
income of not more than $50,000.00. Income shall include Social Security, Pensions and Disabilities,
interest from Stock and Bonds, or a part-time job.

3. Total assets requirement of $350,000 excluding the value of your home.

To apply for the first time for an Elderly Exemption ALL of the following documentation must be done
prior to calling for an appointment.
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Statement of application and spouse’s income.
Federal Income Tax Form (if applicable).
State Interest and Dividends Tax Form.
Statement of Social Security Benefits.

s

If granted an exemption, amounts are as follows:

For a person 65 years old to 74 years old - $68,800.00
A person 75 years old to 79 years old - $96,300.00

A person 80 years old and older - $123,800.00

All documents are considered confidential. Due to the time required for the application process, an
appointment will be necessary. For an application and any further questions, please call the Assessing
Department at 603-268-0003.

Applications
It is the responsibility of the taxpayer to properly apply for any exemption or deferral program.

Application deadline for exemptions and credits is April 15 and for deferrals it is March 1 of the current
tax year following the notice of tax. (Tax year is April 1 to March 31).

XX IMPORTANT**%*

Notify the Assessor’s Office of any address changes to insure exemptions are applied to your current
residence and for accurate mailing of tax bills.

Tax Deferral Program (RSA 72:38A)
Any resident property owner may apply for a tax deferral if the person:

Is either at least 65 years old or eligible under title II or Title XVI of the Federal Social Security Act for
benefits of the disabled; and

Has owned the property for at least five (5) years; and

Is living in the home.

Tax deferral may be granted for all or part of taxes due. Annual interest of 5% accrues. Total tax
deferrals shall not be more than 85% of assessed value of a property. Tax deferral may be granted if in
the opinion of the Assessing officials the tax liability causes the taxpayer an undue hardship or possible
loss of the property. Applications must be made by March 1 following the issuance of the final tax bill
for that year. If property is subject to mortgage, mortgage holder must approve, and sign the required
form.

Current Use

In order to encourage appreciation for the environment, conserve land and other resources, and to
maintain open space, there are provisions for placing land in Current Use status where it is taxed at a
lower rate. Many restrictions apply, including in most cases a 10-acres minimum.

Acreage requirement: Current Use land shall consist of a tract of farm land, forest land or unproductive
land totaling 10 or more acres free of structures.

Application Form A-10 must be typewritten and signed with black ink by all owners of record.
Application (Notice of contingent lien) will be recorded at the County Registry of Deeds. The notice of
contingent lien serves as a notice to all interested parties that a lien on the land will be created if and when
the land is changed to a non-qualifying use.
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A 20% recreation adjustment is available for land open to the public. If the land is posted, it will not
qualify for the adjustment.

If filing with a soil potential index percentage for farmland, attach SPI information.

If filing for a stewardship adjustment for forestland, attach forestry plan for the following five (5) years or
more.

Attach map or drawing with interior boundaries, acreage and type of land in each category, also portions
of land not in current use program.

Property owner is responsible for filing fee with application for the recording in Merrimack Registry of
Deeds.

Change in Use Tax:
10% of the full and true value of the land at the time of the change, as referenced in RSA 79-A: 7,1.

TAXPAYER’S RSA 76:16 ABATEMENT APPLICATION TO MUNICIPALITY

An application must be on file to the municipality by March 1, following notice of tax.

Notice of tax means the date the board of tax and land appeals determines the last tax bill was sent by the
municipality.

Municipality has until July 1 following notice of tax to grant or deny the abatement.

If taxpayer is not satisfied, he/she must file an appeal with the Board of Tax and Land Appeals (RSA
76:16-A) or the Superior Court (RSA76: 17) but not with both no earlier than July 1 or no late than
September 1 following notice of tax.

If request is based on disproportionate assessment, the taxpayer has the burden to show the assessment
was disproportionate. To carry this burden, the Taxpayer generally must show what the property was
worth on April 1 of the year appealed. This value and the assessment would then be compared to other
assessments in the municipality. Therefore, comparable properties are an essential part of most abatement
applications.

FILING AN APPLICATION DOES NOT STAY THE COLLECTION OF TAXES; TAXES SHOULD
BE PAID AS ASSESSED. IF ABATEMENT IS GRANTED, A REFUND WITH INTEREST WILL BE
ISSUED.

PROPERTY TAX

Property taxes are assessed to current owner, if known. The tax year runs from April 1 of one year to
March 31 of the next. The real estate taxes in Hooksett are billed twice a year, due on or before July 1
and December 1. Tax bills are sent to the owner of record at the time of the printing of the bills.

THE TIMBER LAW (RSA 79)

“Forest Conservation and Taxation,” as of April 1, 1986, requires the landowner to pay the timber tax.
The law requires that before cutting commences, Hooksett landowners shall complete an “Intent to Cut”
form that must then be filed with the Assessor.

The Assessor is required to process the form and mail appropriate copies to the Department of Revenue
within 30 days after receipt.

The Department of Revenue shall assign an operation number and furnish without cost to the landowner a
certificate (to be posted in a conspicuous place) and “Report to Cut” form.

Failure to file the “Intent to Cut” before starting the cutting operation constitutes a misdemeanor (a fine
can be imposed also up to one year in jail).

Failure to post a certificate shall constitute a violation (a fine can be imposed).

Report of Cut Requirements
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The “Report to Cut” form must be filed with the Assessing Officials indicating all wood and timber cut
within 60 days after completion of the operation. Two copies of this report shall be mailed to the
Department of Revenue.

“Report to Cut” forms are due April 15 of said year. It is necessary to report all woodcuts even if no
wood or timber is cut, if an “Intent to Cut” form was filed.

The landowner and the person who does the cutting of timber must sign the “Report of Cut” form under
penalty of perjury certifying to the accuracy of the volume of wood and timber harvested. Failure to file a
report of cut or falsification of figures shall constitute a misdemeanor (a fine can be imposed).

Doomage: If an owner neglects to file a report or willfully falsifies a report, the Assessing Officials shall
assess doomage, which is two (2) times what the tax would have been, if the report has been properly
filed. Refer to RSA 79:12 for the complete statute on doomage.

RSA 79-D, Historic Barn Tax Incentive

RSA 79-D authorizes the Town of Hooksett to grant property tax relief to barn (and other agricultural
structure) owners who (a) can demonstrate the public benefit of preserving their barns or other old farm
buildings and (b) agree to maintain their structures throughout a minimum of ten (10) years. For this
program, “historic agricultural structure” is defined as a barn or other structure, including the land on
which it is built, which currently or formerly was used for agricultural purposes, and is at least 75 years
old.

The 2002 law is based on widespread recognition that many of New Hampshire’s old barns and other
agricultural buildings are important local scenic landmarks and help tell the story of farming in the state’s
history. Yet many of these historic structures are being demolished or not repaired because of the adverse
impact of property taxes. RSA 79-D is intended to encourage barn owners to maintain and repair their
buildings by granting them specific tax relief and assuring them that assessments will not be increased as
a result of new repair and maintenance work.

On or before April 15 of the new tax year, an owner may seek relief by filing a PA-36-A Discretionary
Preservation Easement Application. If, after a public hearing, the Town Council acts favorably on the
application, it may grant tax relief within a range of a 25 to 75% reduction of the structure's full assessed
value.

For further information or to obtain an application form, contact the Assessor’s Office at 268-0003.

RSA 79-E, Community Revitalization Tax Relief Incentive

Hooksett’s Town Council has adopted a property tax relief incentive aimed at encouraging investment in
the Village center. The program, outlined in RSA 79-E, offers significant tax relief to property owners
who want to substantially rehabilitate a building in a designated area in the Village. For a finite period
the assessed value on a property would not increase due to the rehabilitation. When the approved term is
complete, the property would be taxed at its full value.

There are three conditions: (1) a structure must be located in the Village District as adopted by the
Council, (2) the rehabilitation must cost at least 15% of a building’s pre-rehab assessed value or $75,000,
whichever is less, and (3) a project must provide a public benefit to the town by enhancing the economic
vitality of the Village; enhancing and improving a culturally or historically important structure; promoting
development of the Village, providing for efficiency, safety and a greater sense of community; or
increasing residential housing.

For more details about the program, contact the Assessor’s Office at 268-0003.
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Budget Committee

The Budget Committee’s review and recommendations of the fiscal year 2012-13 municipal
budget is reflective of the expressed mandate of the Town Administrator and Town Council.
The requested mandate of all Town departments was to propose their respective budgets based
on three criteria:

1) Guidance from Town Council was to maintain current levels of service, to review all fees and
review town services -- to see if they appropriately meet the needs of the community.

2) Data-driven information: Improving data-driven practices by using comparisons to other
towns. Routine expenditures need to include measurable metrics. In one or two years there
should be results.

3) Develop a narrative around the budget -- Local government is where quality of life is
preserved. To affect people’s lives, we need municipal government. The Budget Committee
must recommend appropriate funding levels, based on our town government’s requests, and to
inform the taxpayers on how town government’s budget operations affect the community. It is
not just about what is being spent, but what funds are being rightly utilized for the benefit of all
citizens. Economic Development impacts all departments — either with revenue producing funds
or proposed spending reductions.

The Budget Committee’s review of all department budgets adhered to that criteria. Most Town
departments accomplished this goal with an overall 2012-13 budget proposal of (-.18%) decrease
of the entire town’s administrative appropriations, from this current year’s 2011-12 budget.
While some departments submitted a slight increase in their budget, the entire proposed Town
budget was completed and approved by Town Council and recommended by the Budget
Committee, at a lower amount than this current budget year by (-$28,782) of the bottom line
total.

The Town’s current 2011-12 fiscal year budget is set at $15,996,789 in appropriated operational
funds. The Town Council’s proposed 2012-13 operating budget of $15,968,007.00 was
submitted for review to the Budget Committee. The final fiscal year’s 2012-13 bottom line
Town budget was recommended by the Budget Committee at a $15,968,007.00 total -- while the
Default Budget is set at $15,640,927.00, based upon necessary future calculations of submitted
obligations of financial needs. The proposed 2012-13 Default Budget is set at $327,080 less than
the proposed municipal budget. That is calculated at 2.09% less than this proposed 2012-13
recommended budget.

The majority of the Town’s voters ultimately decided at the May 2012 election to maintain the
2012-13 Default Budget of $15,640,927.00 rather than adopting the proposed higher budget
total.

Respectfully submitted,

ere Wenitte

Chairman
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Cemetery Commission

In accordance with NH RSA 289:6 the Town of
Hooksett Cemetery Commission consists of
three (3) trustees. The Hooksett municipal
cemeteries are governed by NH RSA 289 and
290, as well as the Town of Hooksett Cemetery
Commission Regulations.

This year, five cemetery lots were sold and one
deed was transferred. There were a total of
. eleven burials in our cemeteries, five standard
. casket and six of cremains.

: : ' John Danforth resigned effective November 30,
Head's Cemetery 2011 to serve as a Town Councilor. John
Pieroni was appointed in his place with a term ending June 30, 2013.

The very old cemetery commission laptop and printer were turned in and a newer “hand-me-
down” laptop from another department provided as a replacement.

A $7,500 warrant was approved by voters to replace the Riverside Cemetery fence in budget year
2012-2013.

The commission purchased a storage cabinet which is now located in the Municipal Building
second floor file room.

Preventative maintenance treatment products were purchased for the Head Cemetery fence;
application will be completed in the summer of 2012.

The Hooksett Public Works Cemetery Maintenance Division took care of the cemetery, mowing
the turf areas, removing downed branches, and opening and closing graves. The cemetery
Trustees are very thankful for their year round commitment in maintenance and opening graves.
A special thanks is extended to Jodi Pinard for her assistance in scheduling interments and to
Evelyn Horn for assistance with deed preparation and being the full-time Town employee
interacting with the public and coordinating with cemetery trustees.

Respectfully submitted,

Hooksett Cemetery Commission Term ending:
Sharan (Hampagne, Chair June 30, 2014
Wike Horne June 30, 2015

Lok Perane June 30, 2013
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Conservation Commission

June 30, 2012 marks the end of another busy year for the Hooksett Conservation Commission
(HCC). This year included the typical work of mandated responsibilities. Many plans with
wetland impacts were reviewed and recommendations were made to the New Hampshire
Wetlands Bureau, the Hooksett Planning Board, the Hooksett Zoning Board of Adjustment and
other Town Departments as appropriate. The commission also conducted site walks and
continued to provide conservation information to residents.

We are pleased to report that our efforts to maximize the use of the Conservation Current Use
Funds have continued to stay in full swing. Over the past year we purchased a major area that
was a top priority in the Master Plan. We also continue to look for more land to conserve and
are hopeful we will continue to find outside funding sources to help.

At this very moment we are finalizing plans for the Pinnacle! The parking lot is almost
completed and we are working with Kiwanis on developing the trails so that you, the residents
will able to look out over Hooksett at the top of the Pinnacle. This continues to be a very
exciting time for the commission as we are working on new project called the Merrimack
Riverfront Project. We will continue to keep you posted!

Not only have we been working on acquiring land to conserve we also worked with other
commissions and boards to update the Open Space Plan. We are also working with Kiwanis on
helping to improve and extend the trail system.

The Hooksett Conservation Commission meets the first Tuesday of the month at 6:00 pm in the
Town Hall Council Chambers. We encourage all residents to provide input on conservation
related matters. Residents interested in becoming members or interested in participating in a
specific project are urged to contact the Conservation Commission. All of us extend our deepest
thank you to the community for your continued support and interest.

The Conservation Commission would also like to send our deepest sympathies to Robert
Steiner’s Family. Bob Steiner passed away in June of this year. He was a member of the
Conservation Commission.

Respectfully submitted,

Tim Johnson, Chair

Steve Couture, Vice Chair

Cindy Robertson

James Walter

David Hess

Todd Lizotte, Town Council Representative
Frank Kotowski, Planning Board Representative R
Alternate Members: Phil Fitanides and John Turbyne The Pinnacle
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Economic Development Advisory
Committee

In June 2007, the Town Council, upon recommendation of a study committee, established the Town of
Hooksett’s first Economic Development Committee.

The Hooksett Economic Development Committee (HEDC) serves in an advisory capacity and reports to
the Town Council. Members are appointed by the Town Council and include one Council member, the
Town Administrator, and the Town Planner.

Economic development opportunities may be assigned to the HEDC by the Town Council and the HEDC
may recommend economic development opportunities to the Town Administrator, Town Council, and
Planning Board as appropriate.

HOOKSETT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE EFFORTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS

The need for a clear focus on economic development has been and continues to be a core requirement of
the Hooksett Economic Development Committee’s work. Following is a summary of 2012 activities and
accomplishments:

e Economic Development Website — the sub-site within the Hooksett.org site is monitored and
updated as needed.

e Ambassadors Program — Top 10 Business visits — during the course of the year, committee
members along with Town Administrator Dean Shankle visited some of the largest businesses
within Hooksett, getting their input/feedback on issues affecting them.

e Exit 11 Development and TIF planning — HEDC contracted with SNHPC and CRDC to develop a
min master plan for Exit 11. SNHPC was employed to gather public input on potential uses and to
create the borders for a potential TIF district. This work was put on hold and both SNHPC and
CRDC still have services yet to be rendered surrounding this effort.

e Economic Development Master Pan chapter — started in 2011 and completed in 2012, HEDC
submitted the updated Master Plan chapter to the Planning Commission. HEDC contracted with
SNHPC to help lead this effort. This document outlines short and long term strategies to further
economic development with Hooksett. It combines best practice ideas with the real world needs
of Hooksett.

e Monitor Economic Development — at each monthly meeting the Town Planner and Town
Administrator provide details on current and pending projects. In addition, committee members
also present any info they deem relevant to the committee.

e Exit 11 Projects — both Ritchie Bros and State Street Capital presented their projects to HEDC.
Commercial Real Estate Broker forum — HEDC hosted a meeting where most of the major
commercial brokers attended. The goal was to get feedback from the brokers on what Hooksett is
doing right and where we need to improve. The meeting was well received. It was suggested this
meeting occur at least annually or maybe twice a year.

e Chamber of Commerce — HEDC met with the leadership of the Hooksett Chamber of Commerce
and HEDC committee members attended several of the Chamber Business After Hours events.

e Metro/SNHPC Strategic Planning — HEDC members attended the Metro Annual Meeting where
strategic planning was conducted and feedback sought on the direction and services Metro can
provide to its area towns.

e SNHPC Approved Site planning — The Town Planner, along with HEDC members, attended
several SNHPC meetings to provide insight/feedback on the creation of guidelines surrounding
Pre Approved Site requirements.
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MISSION STATEMENT

The Hooksett Economic Development Committee’s mission is to enhance the vitality of the local
economy by retaining existing businesses, encouraging entrepreneurship and attracting new business to
Hooksett, in support of the Town Council’s effort toward the development of public policy and strategies
that result in balanced and sustainable economic growth.

O w

O

W

GOALS

To establish a strong rapport with existing business to retain and encourage expansion within the
Town of Hooksett.
To promote the Town of Hooksett as a destination for new businesses.
Provide support for the Town Council, planning and zoning boards projecting a welcoming and
helpful image to the business and general community.

Assist the Town Council with research and development of new business opportunities.
Coordinate and seek out support for business development from local, state, and regional
organizations such as SNHPC, DRED, and Metro Center.

OBJECTIVES

Continue Ambassador Group to make monthly contacts with identified existing business to
understand their needs and to provide assistance with retention and expansion activities.
Continue to develop and refine Web Site to include economic development page describing
Hooksett’s planning and zoning process and assistance with partners such as DRED, SNHPC,
and other business development agencies.

Recommend economic development projects and opportunities to the Town Council.

Respond to request from the Town Council regarding economic development issues and
opportunities.

Recommend contractual relationships to complete specific economic development activities in
support of the Town Planner and Administrator.

Develop with the Town Planner printed materials describing business opportunities in Hooksett
along with the process for navigating the planning and zoning process.

Respectfully submitted,

Chrasy Hhbyuist

Chairman
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Family Services Department

The Department of Family Services administers General Assistance to families in need under
RSA 165. In this capacity, the Family Services Department provides for basic needs such as
shelter, food, utilities, and medication. The General Assistance program is designed to provide
short-term, emergency assistance until recipients become employed or receive long-term
assistance from the state or federal government. All recipients of General Assistance agree to
reimburse the Town when they return to an income status that allows them to do so.

In the past year, 200 applicants were found eligible for various types of General Assistance, this
is down from 246 applicants from the previous fiscal year, resulting is a decrease of $25,530 in
General Assistance expenditures. As shown below, the majority of help provided was in the
form of shelter assistance (rents, mortgages, homeless shelters).

General Assistance expenditures for July 2011 - June 2012

Shelter $ 78,889.00
Food $ 841.02
Medical $ 2,979.90
Utilities $ 21,642.88
Gas $ 755.00

Total $105,107.80

In an effort to offset costs to the Town, many families were referred to the following local
charitable organizations: The Hooksett Salvation Army Unit, the Hooksett Emergency Relief
Committee, the Hooksett Food Pantry, the Kiwanis Kid’s Kloset, and the Clothing Shed.
Hooksett is fortunate to have organizations such as these, which help to meet a wide variety of
needs while saving taxpayer dollars. For example, thanks to the hard working volunteers and
generous donors of the Hooksett Food Pantry, the Town was able to keep food expenditures at a
minimum.

Another valuable resource for low-income Hooksett residents is the Community Action Program
(CAP) in Suncook. CAP administers the Fuel Assistance and Energy Assistance programs,
including Neighbor Helping Neighbor. CAP also assists through a variety of food programs
such as Commodity Foods, WIC, and Meals-On-Wheels. The Kid’s Kloset, a collaborative
effort of Hooksett Kiwanis Club, Family Services, and the Salvation Army continues to provide
families in need with free, gently used children’s clothing. Families can be referred to the Kid’s
Kloset by contacting the Family Services Department or their child’s school nurse. Open houses
are held at the Town Hall once a month and individual appointments can be scheduled as needed.
In August of 2011, Family Services partnered with the Hooksett Salvation Army and Target to
hold a back to school shopping spree for children in need. Thirty Hooksett children were
selected to participate in this wonderful program in which each child received an $80 Target gift
certificate to purchase needed back to school clothing and school supplies. The children were
paired with community volunteers who generously donated their time to help the children shop.
The program was a great success and we hope to make it an annual event. Additional back to
school assistance was provided through the Brook Ridge Ladies Group, who once again this year
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donated an abundance of supplies. Also, generous financial donations from the Salvation Army
were used for the purchase of new socks and underwear for dozens of low-income Hooksett
children.

In November of 2011, Family Services partnered with Operation Snow Angel, a program
founded by Hooksett resident Adam Gianunzio, to provide new warm winter jackets for 30
Hooksett children in need. Each child was allowed access to the Burlington Coat Factory store
prior to its regular opening time to select any jacket of their choice up to a $75 value. Many
children were able to purchase jackets with matching hats, gloves, and even boots.

Each holiday season the Family Services Department administers holiday assistance programs
for Hooksett families and individuals in need. Food baskets, toys (through the Adopt-A-Family
Program), and winter clothing items (through the Clothes Line Kids Program, a partnership with
Hooksett GE) are provided through the combined efforts and generosity of the Hooksett schools,
residents, organizations, and businesses. This past year over 250 residents were served. Special
thank you to Hooksett GE for your incredible donations of outdoor winter clothing and toys!

Again this past summer, through the sponsorship of the Salvation Army, Family Services was
able to provide summer camp scholarships to 15 low-income children for the Hooksett Fun in the
Sun program. Thank you to all of the Hooksett bell ringers and donors that make these funds
available to our Hooksett families in need!

Regular Family Services office hours are Monday, Tuesday, Thursday, and Friday 10: 00AM-4:
30PM. Applications for General Assistance are taken by appointment. Please feel free to
contact the office at 485-8769 if you would like more information regarding the services offered
by this department.

Respectfully Submitted,

Foy Suggell

Family Services Director
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Hooksett Fire-Rescue
Annual Town Report

This report covers from July 1, 2011 to June 30, 2012

The Hooksett Fire-Rescue is a combination Fire Department with 27 full time line Fire/EMS
personnel, 5 administrative staff personnel, 2 call firefighters and a Fire Department Chaplain
providing Fire, Rescue, Emergency medical services (EMS), and Hazardous Materials services
to the community.

The Hooksett Fire-Rescue Department serves our community 24 hours a day seven days a week
covering 2 Fire Stations, the James H. Oliver Safety Center located at 15 Legends Drive and
Station 1 located on Riverside Street in Hooksett Village. Hooksett Fire-Rescue responded to
2141 Incidents in FY 2011-2012. Over the past 5 years, Hooksett Fire-Rescue’s incident
responses have increased by over 8%

As I write this report we are soon to take acceptance of our new tanker truck, this vehicle will
carry 2500 gallons of water with other firefighting equipment for our rural areas of Town on

board. This vehicle will replace a 1991 International Tanker which carried 1500 gallons of
water. This vehicle will be located at Station 1 once it is placed into service.

Hooksett’s New Tanker 1
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Hooksett Fire-Rescue always looks for ways to streamline our operations, annually writing
grants for fire equipment and personnel. As the town continues to grow, this places more
demands on your emergency services. I would like to thank all of the Fire-Rescue employees for
the great job they do day in and day out.

This year, the Hooksett Police and Fire Departments held a fundraising softball game “Fire
Brigade vs. Blue Knights”. This event raised money for the Veterans Memorial restoration
Project at Jacobs Square, located just north of the Congregational church on Veterans Drive.
Great fun was had by all who participated.

This year Hooksett Fire & Police held an Open House here at the Safety Center. This event was
very well attended. I would like to thank all who attended and who supported this event.

Please visit the James H. Oliver Safety Center to view the piece of World Trade Center artifact
on display in the entrance area. This piece of artifact was donated to Hooksett for the future

ceremonial park which will be constructed on the Safety Center grounds.

Please visit our web site at www.Hooksettfire.org for any Fire Department information.

Incident Type Summary for FY 2011-2012:

I would like to thank the Hooksett Town administrator, Town Council, Budget Committee
members, CIP members and all Hooksett residents for their continued support in Hooksett’s
public safety.

Thank you,

Chief of Department
603-623-7272
mwilliams@hooksettfire.org
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Emergency Management
Annual Report

Over the past year Hooksett Emergency Management was very busy; many new initiatives were
started in town. Hooksett has started a Functional Needs Assessment program which allows for
people in need of assistance during emergencies to fill out a functional needs assessment form,
once completed this information is placed into our CAD system for use when major emergencies
hit. If interested in this program go to WWW.Hooksettfire.org for more information and also to
download the needs assessment forms.

August of 2011 Hooksett Emergency Management staffed and prepared for Hurricane Irene.

October of 2011 was a very busy month for
Hooksett Fire-Rescue and Emergency
Management.  With the October Nor’easter
snowstorm hitting Hooksett very hard, electrical
power was lost to nearly 82% of the community
which required an Emergency Shelter to be

i opened at the Cawley Middle School. This
& Shelter was staffed with many Hooksett
Volunteers along with Fire and Police. Our
Code Red emergency notification system was
used during the storm which notified Hooksett
. residents of our shelter. Since this storm, we
found the need to train our volunteers on shelter management.

~

In January of 2012 we held a shelter management class here at the Safety Center with many of
these new volunteers attending. I would like to personally thank all residents who volunteered
during these times; special thanks go out to Town Councilor Todd Lizotte for stepping up and
putting in countless hours of organizing the volunteers and working at the shelter.

Hooksett’s Emergency management will continue to evaluate and coordinate all levels of
emergencies in this community. Myself and Deputy Harold Murray attended Web EOC training
in Concord NH at the State of N.H. Emergency Operations Center. Web EOC is a very useful
tool used by all Emergency Managers in the State of N.H. during emergencies to implement and
coordinate all Town and State emergencies.

Any questions please call Hooksett’s Emergency Management at 603-623-7272 and ask for
Chief Michael Williams or Deputy Director Harold Murray.

Respectfully Submitted,

Fire Chief/EM Director
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Heritage Commission

RSA 674:44-a states that a “heritage commission may be established in accordance with RSA 673
for the proper recognition, use, and protection of resources, tangible or intangible, primarily man-
made, that are valued for their historic, cultural, aesthetic, or community significance within their
natural, built, or cultural contexts.” Hooksett’s commission was reactivated in July 2003.

The duties of a heritage commission are generally outlined in RSA 674:44-b. A commission has
advisory and review authority and is charged with surveying and inventorying all cultural resources;
conducting research and publishing findings; assisting the planning board, as requested, in the
development and review of those sections of the master plan which address cultural and historic
resources; advising, upon request, local agencies and other local boards in their review of requests on
matters affecting or potentially affecting cultural and historic resources; coordinating activities with
appropriate service organizations and nonprofit groups; and receiving gifts of money and property,
both real and personal, in the name of the town, subject to the approval of the council.

Projects that were completed during the period July 1, 2011, to June 30, 2012, or are continuing:

* Received notice that the Pinnacle was listed on the NH State Register of Historic Places in July
2011. Prepared a framed photo of the Pinnacle and a State Register certificate for display in the
municipal building’s hallway. Proposed the Pinnacle as the cover subject of the 2010-2011 Annual
Town and School Report which was approved by the council.

* Reinstalled 1968 construction plaque at the municipal office building, formerly the Village
School, identifying the third addition.

* Adopted restoration of veterans’ monument at Jacob Square as a joint project with the Merrill-
Follansbee American Legion Post 37. Planned the work in phases so portions could be done as funds
were raised. A softball game benefitting the project was played on June 22 featuring the Blue
Knights (Police Department) versus the Fire Brigade (Fire Department); the teams were
supplemented by town councilors and library and Department of Public Works employees. A great
time was had by all. We thank the departments and others for their support of our project.

* Added a pressed glass ornament/medallion depicting Village School 1937 to our merchandise
line to supplement our town allocation.

* Participated in Old Home Day.

e Participated in the first NH History Week in October. Robie’s Country Store Historic
Preservation Corp., the Historical Society, Head School Society, and Library also participated and
planned events throughout the month. The commission presented a program on “Native American
History of NH” at the former Lincoln Park School.

* Participated in the review of a draft policy by a member of the Conservation Commission for trail
maintenance and development of conservation lands in Hooksett.

* Began work on gathering information for an update to Hooksett Historical Sketches.

* Adopted Rules of Procedure for the commission.
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* Researched and presented a petition to the council to designate Goffstown Road as Hooksett’s
first Scenic Road pursuant to RSA 231:157, 158. The petition was granted in February 2012. A
donor provided funds to purchase signs for both ends of the road indicating the Scenic Road status.

* Adopted the restoration/conservation of two large murals owned by the town and the school
district which reflect Native American life. The murals were painted by William Abbott Cheever of
Ambherst, NH, and given to the town by the owner of the local McDonald’s in 1984. A grant for
conservation services was filed with the NH State Council on the Arts in April 2012 under the
Conservation License Plate Grant Program.

e (Co-sponsored Hooksett Heritage Day on May 20 with the Robie’s Country Store Historic
Preservation Corp., Head School Society, and the Historical Society in recognition of National
Preservation Month, the theme of which was “Discover America’s Hidden Treasures.” The
commission hosted an open house at Head School and a walking tour of Head Cemetery with
historian and author Glenn Knoblock.

* Continued monthly Historic Hooksett display at the municipal building.

Meetings were held at the former Lincoln Park School and the former Martin’s Corner School to
support use of our historic buildings.

The commission meets on the fourth Tuesday of each month at the Hooksett Public Library. We
welcome volunteers interested in our work and would be pleased to receive input from the public.
Contact Hooksett.Heritage@myfairpoint.net or call 669-8926. We occasionally meet at historic
sites in town so watch for postings noting changes of venue.

Respectfully submitted: Kathleen Northrup, Chair; Sally Humphries (resigned August 2011);
Roxanne Kate; David Rogers (appointed October 2011); Peggy Teravainen (appointed August
2011); and Jim Sullivan, Council Representative. Alternates: None.

Head Cemetery tour Sign on
on Heritage Day Goffstown Road
Veterans” Memorial at Jacob Square
Scene from Native American mural at
municipal building Fire Brigade vs. Blue Knights. Go teams!
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Historical Society

The Hooksett Historical Society, now in its 38" year, continues to meet its purpose, which is to bring
together those people interested in history, especially in the history of Hooksett, N.H. and to help them
understand that the history of our community is basic to our democratic way of life, gives us a better
understanding of our state and nation and promotes a better appreciation of our American heritage. To
that end, the Society has continued to discover and collect historical materials, provided for preservation,
cooperated with Town and State officials, and disseminated historical information.

During 2011-2012, the collection has grown through the generosity of donors and Town financial
assistance with the acquisition of items from old Town buildings including an entrance sign from
McDonald’s Restaurant, glass window squares from Tom’s Cabin’s, postcards from Paul’s Cabins, white
Rock Cabins, Indian Cliff, White Star touring boat, and Bay Side Flying Service, to Photos of President
Carter’s campaign visit to Robie’s Store, Field day at Stobie’s Farm, and Joy Land Mobile Home Park.
Other items added to our collection included a Farm kitchen ashtray, a Mount Saint Mary’s College
pennant, old police badge and souvenirs from Howard Johnson’s Restaurant. We continue to categorize
our collection, displaying new items at our Prescott Museum and Town Hall, to the scanning and
photography of our inventory and ensuring the archival protection of our papers, pamphlets and
photographs.

In cooperation of Town and State officials we have sent letters of support for the establishment of a
neighborhood historic district and the preservation of Conservation land on the banks of the historic
Merrimack River. We have participated with the Heritage Commission and Robie’s Country Store
Historic Preservation Corp in Heritage Week, held in October 2011, and on Heritage Day, held on May
20, 2012 with Programs and Open Houses including a special event called “A Night at the Prescott
Museum”. The Society also contributed to the restoration of our Veterans Memorial at Jacobs Square and
a photograph of its Prescott Museum was featured in “Advantage” magazine.

In efforts regarding the dissemination of Historic Information we have continued our newsletter, regularly
updated our Hooksetthistory.wordpress.com website and recently, our creation of a Facebook page. We
have offered informative, exciting and well attended programs throughout the year including, Banjos,
Ballads and Bones-a musical program on songs from the early 20" Century; Don’t throw out that Paper-
the collecting of Ephemera; Having a Fine Time in Manchester- Postcards and Local History; A Walk
Back In Time- Secrets of the Cellar Hole; Government in Exile: Education in Tibet- a program that
served as a counter point to Hooksett’s old One Room school houses, and Willing Sacrifice — a program
commemorating the 150th anniversary of the Civil War and the sacrifice of 13 Hooksett Soldiers.

The Hooksett Historical Society, established in 1974, continues to promote and educate our citizens on
the historic significance of the Town of Hooksett in New Hampshire since its founding in 1822. The
Historical Society thanks the citizens of Hooksett, Hooksett Public Library and the New Hampshire
Humanities Council for their support this year.

"History is who we are and why we are the way we are." David McCullough

Respectfully submitted on behalf of the Historical Society members,

President
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Hooksett Garden Club

The Hooksett Garden Club continues with its commitment to encourage interests in all phases of
gardening, floral design, and horticulture; to continue to aid in the protection and conservation of natural
resources, and assist in the civic beautification of the community. Our meetings are open to all and are
held on the last Wednesday of each month at 6:30 PM at the Hooksett Public Library.

In the fall of 2011, the Garden Club as part of the Beautification Project, wanted to enhance the Memorial
Bridge with flower boxes. This was a project of magnitude, and involved hard work and patience. Its
beginnings were meager, but determination conquers all they say, and in the spring of 2012, the Garden
Club was successful in installing a total of 40 beautiful flower boxes on the Memorial Bridge.

This Beautification Project was and continues to be a joint venture with the Town of Hooksett. This
would not have been possible without the help and generous contribution of time, materials and the
financial generosity of Marcel Mercier of Macy Industries in Hooksett, who made all of the 40 stainless
steel holders that are installed on the bridge and secure the flower boxes safely in place on the bridge rail.
The other factor that makes this project possible is the daily routine from Phil Arnone of Parks and
Recreation and his men, who water and feed the plants faithfully every day in order to keep them looking
beautiful. The Garden Club recognizes the dedication of these men in assisting us in making Hooksett a
beautiful town to live in. We thank you. We had the idea, you made it come true.

I am proud to say that the Hooksett Garden Club has several Beautification areas that the members are
dedicated to caring for. To name a few, there is the water trough, in front of the Historical Society which
is filled to capacity with beautiful flowers...There is the enhanced area at the intersection of Main Street
and Route 3A, called “The Point”, a very large bed filled with flowers and shrubs that is cared for daily
by its members. The magnificent, large planter on Route 3, as you enter Hooksett off Exit #9 from Route
1-93, that has a multitude of beautiful perennials and annuals and is faithfully cared for by dedicated
members of the Garden Club. We are proud of the work that we do in our community. The Hooksett
Garden Club is dedicated to the daily work and care of the Hooksett Library grounds, in keeping the
grounds looking their best.

Our two major fundraisers are our annual plant sale which is held in June and our Christmas wreath sale
in October/November. Both have been most successful. These fundraisers provide the funds for diverse
donations and also involve every club member in a teamwork effort. The success of these two fundraisers
is due in part to the tremendous support and participation of the community.

During the Christmas season, we present poinsettias to Town offices and facilities. During this very
special season, in lieu of exchanging gifts, we make a generous donation to the Hooksett Family Services
for the Adopt a Family program.

On August 11, 2012, we are hosting a beautiful
flower show with 100% membership participation.
This flower show will be professionally judged. It is
open to the general public and will be held at the
Hooksett Public Library.

The Hooksett Garden Club is and continues to be
very active in community involvement and we are
very proud of our accomplishments.

Respectfully submitted,

President
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Hooksett-ites

This organization is open to Hooksett residents aged 55 years and up. They meet at the Hooksett Public
Library weekly on Fridays between 10 am and 2 pm for both social and educational activities. Visiting
“seniors” are welcome to attend our meetings.

At weekly meetings and other shared events, its members benefit from the following:

e Receive news of a friend’s health issues related to falls, illness or hospitalizations;

e Plan day trips to locations of interest, group picnics and organized bus tours;

e Receive personal recognition for birthdays and anniversaries with a cake and ice cream;

e Education or entertainment by members’ story, guest speakers from VNA (Visiting Nurses
Association), Elliot Hospital, or often, a merchant;

Various activities, i.e., Bingo, cards, DVD’s, auctions, food, art, crafts, donations.

e Experience relaxation, much joy and laughter while interacting with peers.

A meal of sandwiches, dessert and beverages prepared and served by volunteer members follows each
meeting. Sub sandwiches purchased from Subway are enjoyed monthly. Shaw’s Supermarket has
catered our luncheon twice a year for the past two years. Because of our symbolic relationship with
Shaw’s, they have implemented some of our suggestions such as, (1) provide smaller, less heavy
shopping carts for the elderly or other residents who often only buy small quantities; (2) raise the height
of the lower shelves in the store aisles; (3) offer complimentary coffee during special hours for patrons.
We are grateful for the value they place in us and in our Town residents.

During holidays, i.e., Valentine’s Day, Easter, Independence Day, Halloween and Christmas, celebrations
include special programs, decorations, parades, songs, and holiday joyfulness. Upon a member’s death, a
candlelight service is held where solemn reverie replaces joy. In addition, the Hooksett-ites re-
implemented donating $10 to the Make-A-Wish Foundation in memory of the deceased. A sympathy
card is also sent to the family.

Both Cawley Middle School Band and Underhill School Carolers charmed us with instruments and
youthful songs.

Community projects the Hooksett-ites participated in this year were:

Filling Easter eggs with jelly beans for an Easter egg hunt hosted by the Library.
Volunteering at the Town Hall as greeters.

Knitting or crocheting helmet liners caps for our Armed Forces oversees.
Visiting sick residents in hospitals and nursing homes.

Donate canned goods to the Food Bank once a month.

Knitting scarves for our Nation’s Olympiads.

Delivery of Christmas cookies to Hooksett’s “shut-ins”.

Our organization is profoundly grateful to the Town of Hooksett for its annual appropriation, which pays
for our annual Golden Age Luncheons. This year’s luncheon was held on May 9, 2012 at the Derryfield
Country Club and attended by 108 guests, 85 of whom were Hooksett residents aged 80 years and over.

Respectfully submitted,

Hottor (Chnae

President
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Hooksett Happy Helpers

This is our 23" year of operation at the same place at 101 Merrimack Street, next to the District
Court building. People donate new and almost new clothing, household items, jewelry, antiques,
etc. which we sell to benefit the community.

We have regular customers from Florida, North Carolina, New York, Lebanon, Turkey and
Dominican Republic, to name a few. It is an excellent place to shop. The price is right.

During the year, we bought $200 worth of dictionaries for 3" Grade children. A total of
$15,364.70 was donated to the Fire Department, which includes the bell for the 911 Memorial.

Our volunteers are named below. They are all special and faithful people who care.

Alpha Chevrette
James Connor
Roger Cournoyer
Nancy Eastmen
Ann Emond
Jeannette Gagne
Tom Keach
Lorraine Keach
Ashley Myers
Priscilla Simoneau
Shirley Stewart
Deneysa Vaillancourt

James Connor and Alpha Chevrette
have been with us since the opening
of the store.

To our donors and shoppers, many thanks for your thoughtfulness and generosity.

Sincerely,

Bornadette (hensette
Chairperson
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Hooksett Library
2011-2012 Annual Report

The Hooksett Library Staff and Board of Trustees are proud to share highlights of a very
successful year marked by continued growth and the innovative use and implementation of the
latest technology.

The library’s collection currently consists of 60,209 items to be checked out at the library, with
4,537 eBooks and 5,883 downloadable audio books available from home. As a member of the
GMILCS consortium, Hooksett Library members have access to 1.15 million items.

EBooks just for Hooksett members. The library is a member of the NH Downloadable
Consortium through which downloadable audio books and eBooks are available to Hooksett
members. This past year, the Library has purchased 201 additional titles or additional copies of
titles of ebooks available only to Hooksett Library members. These 201 additional titles have
been checked out 1190 times and make up over 1/3 of our 3014 ebook checkouts.

EReaders at your library. Are you curious to test drive an e-reader to determine which one
you like best? The library is now lending a Nook, Nook Color, Nook Simple, Kindle, Kindle
Fire, 3 Sony eReaders and a Kobo. To reserve an eReader, visit www.hooksettlibrary.org and
select the eReader of your choice.

A return on your investment. The library purchases eleven free or discount-admission passes
to local museums at a cost to the library of $3,616 annually. Using the number of times each
pass was checked out by a Hooksett Library cardholder we estimate that we saved our members
and their families $20,853!

Computer usage at the library continues to grow and grow! This year the library saw an
increase of 19% in our public computer usage over the prior year with 16,701 computer check-
outs. In addition, the library is now using a reservation and print management system that
streamlines printing and computer use. We estimate that we are saving a full case of paper a
year and printing revenue has increased by 30%.

Summer Reading 2011. We exceeded our goals by signing up over 600 community members
of all ages for our summer reading programs. The children and teens that participated in the
programs logged over 2,000 hours of reading. The adults that participated in our first annual
adult summer reading program with the theme, “Novel Destinations” read 309 books.

Book It to the Library! The library co-sponsored the first ever Kiwanis 5K road race starting at
the Heads Pond Kiwanis trail and ending on the library’s front lawn. The library is looking

forward to the 2™ annual race this fall.

Art Expo. Each Wednesday, Laurie Lafleur hosts a painting class for Hooksett residents at the
library. These talented ladies hosted their first ever art show in September 2011, which was a
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smashing success! Over 100 people attended the showing to view the 45 paintings on exhibit.
We are looking forward to their next art show to be held during September 2012.

Telescopes? Out of this world! A very special thank you to the NH Astronomical Society and
the Hooksett Kiwanis for their joint donation of 2 Orion Star Blast telescopes to the Hooksett
Library. These telescopes are available for Hooksett Library members to borrow and use at
home. In addition, members of the NHAS have provided very popular star viewing nights at the
library. A very special thank you to our own Bob Veilleux for his instrumental role in obtaining
the telescopes and providing fascinating presentations at the library.

TD Bank Affinity Program. The library has been the recipient of a donation of $8831.81 from
TD Bank’s affinity program! The Affinity program provides matching funds for a percentage of
any library patron’s annual balance in their TD Bank savings or checking account, this is
available for personal or business accounts and is done at no cost to the library member. Thank
you to all of our library supporters who have registered their accounts with TD Bank.

We encourage you to keep up with the happenings of the library by registering for our bi-weekly
e-bulletin at www.hooksettlibrary.org or by following us on Facebook!

Now more than ever, the Hooksett Library remains an important resource for Hooksett residents,
offering books, Internet access, movies, entertainment, information and homework assistance,
technical support for eReaders and a host of programs that appeal to all ages. We look forward to
continuing our mission to provide the Hooksett community with the services that help make our
town such a special place in which to live.

Respectfully submitted,

Heather Shumway Rainier
Director, Hooksett Public Library

Library Board of Trustees

Mary Farwell, Chair Tammy Hooker, Secretary

Mac Broderick Barbara Davis, Treasurer

Linda Kleinschmidt

Books and materials in collection as of 07/01/2011: 49,058*
* Does not include electronic items

Books and materials in collection as of 06/30/2012: 60,209**

** Includes electronic items

Books and materials purchased (does not include magazines) 2,627
Donations added to collection (520 replacements of existing titles) 1,583
Books and materials withdrawn from collection 1,896

Library Holdings as of 06/30/2012:

Audio books 2,358 Books 39,655
Downloadable audio books 5,883 EBooks (HPL) 201
EBooks (State consortium) 4,537 Magazines 2,010
Music CDs 1,375 Videos 3,585
Videogames 227 Other 343
Electronic resources 35
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Circulation of Materials
FY 2011-2012:

Audio books
Downloadable audio books
EBooks (State consortium)
Music CDs

Videogames

Electronic resources

11,308
1,247
3,014
9,277
2,922
5,393

Hooksett Library Budget 2011-2012

Income

Expenditures

Automation

Books and Materials
Audio books
Books
E-books
Magazines & newspapers
Music CDs
Videogames
Videos

Custodial supplies
Equipment (New)
Equipment maintenance and
repairs

Maintenance and repairs
Office supplies

Other expenses * Returned
unspent portion of NHRS
appropriation to town

Income

Book Sale
Copies/Fax/Printing
Fines

Interest

Meeting room donations
Other

Disbursements:

Books and media
Coffee & tea service
Greenough — E readers
Library initiatives
Meeting room expenses
Other

$529,757
$17,987.57

$6,941.61
$20,670.56
$1,440.00
$3,430.10
$1,084.05
$490.00
$3,386.11

$1,994.84
$2,399.84
$3,383.80

$5,399.73
$3,794.05
$4,157.06

$4,668.69
$3,687.42
$11,273.74
$465.97
$1,642.00
$415.30

$5,754.92
$1,787.76
$1,326.88
$2,362.67
$1,410.91
$1,203.82

Books

EBooks (HPL)
Magazines
Videos

Other

Payroll expenses
Dental insurance
FICA taxes
Health insurance
Life & disability insurance
NHRS
Unemployment
Wages
Workers compensation
Postage
Programs and services
Remote access database

Staff and trustee expenses
Information Technology
Utilities

Coffee & tea service
Donations/Gifts
Greenough trust

Ladies Night Out
Non-resident fees

TD Bank affinity program

Electronic resources
Copy & printing expenses

Library supplies and equipment

Library programs
Museum passes
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111,390
1,190
6,222
34,674
588

$831.52
$22,877.88
$48,310.84
$2,058.66
$19,501.04
$0.00
$302,348.43
$799.79
$441.66
$2,263.98
$4,209.88

$4,877.02
$8,184.12
$36,492.86

$539.89
$1,238.04
$5,843.78
$780.00
$1,726.95
$8,831.81

$2,568.50
$3,306.51
$1,223.24
$1,038.37
$2,586.00



Planning Board
&
Community Development Department

The Hooksett Community Development Department experienced a slight increase in activity this past
year. The Planning Board reviewed 22 applications from July 2011 through June 2012.

Subdivisions of Land

New Residential 49 (total new lots)
Site Plans

New Commercial-Industrial Sites 5

Revisions to Existing Sites 2
Lot Line Adjustments 7

In addition to the public hearings, the Planning Board also held five workshop meetings for the purpose
of reviewing and discussing proposed changes to the Zoning Ordinance and Development Regulations.
The Planning Board also adopted an update of the Open Space Plan and an Energy Chapter of the Master
Plan. The Board also approved the Capital Improvement Program plan for 2012.

The Town of Hooksett has been awarded a $30,000 planning grant from the New Hampshire Housing and
Finance Authority. This grant will enable the Town to plan for the creation of a Neighborhood Heritage
District for Hooksett Village, which will protect the charm and appeal of this historical area of the
community, as well as create a stimulating and vibrant village center. You will be hearing more about
this program as we begin the process in August 2012!

The Town formed a partnership in 2011 with Manchester Transit Authority for the purpose of providing a
Shopper Shuttle Bus to Market Basket. The bus runs every Thursday beginning at 9 am. For scheduling
information, please go to: http://www.mtabus.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/New-FREE-Bus-Flyer-

MB.pdf

An Internet based mapping program is available for all residents, which has been recently updated. You
can access this information by going to: http:/www.caigisonline.com/HooksettNH/ to view your
property.  Also, please visit the Town’s website at www.hooksett.org for all land use regulations,
applications and Planning Board minutes.

The Hooksett Farmers’ Market has moved to a new location at 1339 Hooksett Road, home of White Birch
Brewing. Stop by the market on Wednesdays from 3-6 pm from June through September. Check out
their website at www.hooksettfarmersmarket.com.

Some of the highlighted projects reviewed and approved by the Planning Board this past year include:

* Circle T Carwash

* Austin Woods Residential Subdivision
* Ritchie Brothers Auction Site

* Heads’ Pond School parcel

* Regency Mortgage
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Public Notice

In accordance with RSA 674:39-aa, any lots involuntarily merged prior to September 18, 2010 may
be restored to pre-merger status at the request of their owner. Requests must be received by the
Hooksett Town Council between July 24,2011 and December 31, 2016.

PICTURED: Standing left to right: Martin Cannata, Rob Duhaime, Frank Kotowski, Tom Walsh, Dr. Dean Shankle, Jr., and Leo Lessard.
Seated left to right: Susan Lovas Orr, John Gryval, and David Rogers.

The following members served on the Planning Board during July 2011 through June 2012:

John Gryval, Chair

Richard Marshall, Vice-Chair

Brendan Perry

Frank Kotowski

Tom Walsh, appointed full member 8/24/11
Martin Cannata

Jack Mudge, resigned 12/1/11

Yervant Nahikian, alternate

Rob Duhaime, appointed alternate member 2/8/12
David Rogers, alternate

Susan Lovas Orr, Council Rep. since 12/14/11
Nancy VanScoy, Council Rep., resigned 12/1/11
Dean E. Shankle, Jr., Town Administrator

Leo Lessard, Town Administrator’s Rep.

The Hooksett Planning Board normally meets on the first and third Monday of each month at the
Hooksett Municipal Building. All meetings are open to the public. The Community Development
Department is open Monday through Friday from 8 am to 4:30 pm. Please stop by or email me with any
questions you may have at jduffy@hooksett.org or dfitzpatrick@hooksett.org .

Respectfully submitted,

% 74/&0 &W, Town Planner

Community Development Department
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Police Commission

The Hooksett Police Commission (Commission) is responsible by law for establishing and enforcing all
rules for the governance of the police force, hiring employees within funding limits, fixing employee
compensation, promoting and terminating employees for just cause along with financial and operational
oversight. (Special Legislation 1975, Chapter 412).

Members of the Police Commission have no law enforcement powers.

The Commission meets at 6:30 PM at the Hooksett Safety Center on the third Tuesday of each month.
Members of the public or other town boards are welcome at these meetings.

The members of the Commission during the past year were Chairperson Joanne McHugh, Clark Karolian
and Kenneth Scherer

Michael Downer was the Hooksett Town Councilor Representative to the Commission during the past
year. The Commission would like to thank him for his support and guidance during the last year.

Staffing
The Police Department consists of five divisions. They are Administration, Prosecution, Detective,

Patrol, and Communications. The lists below show the filled positions in the department as of July 1,
2011:

Sworn Officers

o  Chief
Captain - 1
Lieutenants - 2
Sergeants — 4
Detectives - 3
Patrol Officers - 13

Administrative Personnel and Other Non-Sworn Personnel
e Executive Assistant

Administrative Assistant

Prosecution Assistant

Prosecuting Attorney

Dispatch Supervisor

Dispatchers - 5

Administrative Records Clerk (part-time)

During the past year, Chief Stephen Agrafiotis and Lieutenant Les McDaniel retired.  Sgt. Gary
Blanchette retired as a full time officer, but remains in a part time capacity. Three officers resigned their
positions, two of whom accepted employment at other police departments out of state.

The Commission appointed Captain Jon Daigle as Acting Chief, and promoted Detective Janet Bouchard
to Sergeant and Sergeant Michael Labrecque to Lieutenant.

The department hired Christopher Buker, Paul Mueller and Muzafer Aku as full time sworn police
officers.
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Budget

The approved budget for the fiscal year July 2011 — June 2012 was $3,384,699 as compared with
$3,498,460 for July 2010 — June 2011. During the past two years, the department budget decreased
$528,609. The town vote for the proposed budget beginning for 2013 failed and went into a default
budget; however, a contract for the patrol officers did pass. The department purchased two new police
vehicles, one paid for with the trade of the police prisoner van and the other from the operating budget of
the department.

Audit

In November 2011, the six-month audit conducted by the Public Safety Strategies Group (PSSG) of the
department consisting of interviews, surveys and data analysis concluded. Areas for improvement noted
in the report included communication, staffing, technology, and operations.

The comprehensive research supported the findings and reflected an agency requiring substantial change.
The recommendations were extensive covering all areas of department operations, technology upgrades
and community engagement.

Implementation of Audit Recommendations

In December of 2011, the Police Commission voted to extend and amend its contract with PSSG to
ensure that the Commission and the department had the assistance and tools required to implement the
recommendations and address any operational issues that occur during the transition. Given the day to
day responsibilities of the members of the department and the number of recommendations contained in
the report, continued involvement of PSSG team members allows the department to move forward in the
most efficient and effective manner as possible.

PSSG is assisting the department with all recommendations adopted by the Police Commission,
including, but not limited to the following:

o Creation of a strategic plan

o Review of existing policies and procedures

o Development of new policies and procedures

o Development of deployment strategies

o Review and realignment of detective investigative caseload and development of a case
management tracking system

o Development of strategies to change the organizational culture

o Development of strategies to increase internal and external communications

o Development of updated job descriptions and employee performance plans

o Revamping the school resource officer strategy

o Development of a career development and training process

o Development of an effective disciplinary system

o Review of the current Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) and Record Management System

(RMYS) for upgrades or replacement
o Development of an officer mentoring program

A goal of the implementation is not only to update areas needing improvement, but also to mentor the
department members on the process, allowing them to continue to make changes after the implementation
phase. PSSG reports monthly to the Commission regarding the implementation of the recommendations.

Department Activity

The following outlines some of the activities related to community engagement and police services during
the past year.
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Community Engagement
The department has embraced the implementation of the recommendations and members are participating
in committees to affect change and improve department operations.

The department began hosting training at the James H. Oliver Safety Center allowing department
members to participate in specialized programs while at the same time inviting other agencies to attend
increasing the network of trained officers in the region.

Department members have received specialized training in Child Passenger Safety and Rape Aggression
Defense allowing the department to provide additional services to those in the community.

In March, the department hosted a child passenger safety / car seat checkup event and public safety day in
conjunction with the fire department. This successful event highlighted the specialized services of the
department, and community members were able to tour the station and meet with officers. Many
community businesses and non- profit organizations participated in or contributed funding to make the
day a positive one for both the department and community members.

The School Resource Officer (SRO) coordinated a very successful safety poster contest in the schools
along with participating in reading sessions explaining safety precautions with the students. The SRO
also conducted a presentation to the local Kiwanis.

The department hosted a bicycle rodeo creating a fun and informative day for children. During the event,
children had their bicycles inspected and repaired, and then rode their bicycle through a series of skills
tests.

In the spirit of camaraderie, the Blue Knights (police) softball team played the Fire Brigade (fire
department) in a fundraising game to support the Veterans Memorial Park.

All of the special events allowed department members to work together and promote the police
department to community members.

Other initiatives include:
e The development of a new website (hooksettpolice.org) which is still in progress.
e Upgrading the business computers and servers, which help department members to conduct work
more efficiently and effectively and allows each member to have individual email accounts.

The activities listed are representative of the positive steps the department is taking to improve the
organizational culture and increase community engagement furthering the mission of creating a safe
community.

Police Calls for Service
The department activity level for specific crimes, crashes and citations for July 2011 — June 2012 appear
on the chart below.

Activity 2011 2010 | 2009 2008 2007 | 2006 | 2005 2004 2003 2002
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 | 2007 | 2006 | 2005 2004 2003
Arrests 351 353 376 332 344 481 487 398 357 286
Burglaries 89 101 53 46 32 50 49 39 67 38
Robberies 7 5 7 3 2 3 7 0 7 4
Assaults 87 89 84 78 55 82 67 91 94 100
Thefts 253 215 228 208 233 242 240 237 251 342




Criminal
Mischief

145

129

140

156

142

118

161

183

258

184

Traffic
Accident
Invest.

484

527

527

519

548

557

540

724

647

701

Motor Vehicle
Stops

3,378

3,638

3,240

4,905

5,877

6,361

3,073

1,111

1,143

958

Summons
Issued

657

991

1,146

1,462

1,085

614

824

614

613

772

Hooksett Police Department responded to 88,517 calls for service during the last 12 months.

Conclusion

The past year was a busy one for the police department and the Commission. While the audit was a long
and intense process, the implementation of the recommendations has allowed the department to grow, and
improve its operations. During both the audit and the implementation, the members of the police
department have shown a high level of commitment and dedication to ensuring the quality of life and
safety to the town through its enforcement and outreach efforts.

Due to the many changes and challenges that occurred during the past year, it required the Commission to
meet more often than the regularly scheduled monthly Commission meetings.

The Commission will continue to perform its duties with integrity and professionalism, always mindful of
the primary purpose: providing for the safety and protection of the community.

The Commission and the employees of the police department would like to thank the citizens and
business owners of the Town of Hooksett, the Town Council, Budget Committee and all the departments
in town who have worked with us during the past year. We greatly appreciate your support.

Respectfully Submitted,

Chairperson Joanne McHugh

Commissioner Clark Karolian

Commissioner Kenneth Scherer

Hooksett Police Commission
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Public Works Department

Having completed my first year working for the Town I would like to just state a few of my thoughts.
The changes that have been put into place have been very well-accepted by the complete staff, with more
to come. I have to say that the personnel that are in the Public Works Department are all a pleasure to
work with, considering that they don’t have the pleasure to look out at the weather conditions as some of
us do. They have to be in the rain, snow, wind and below zero weather. That is their office, the outdoors,
dealing with the elements that are put on them. Although we really did have a snow free winter they still
had several road treatments to deal with so we can all get to our own jobs safely.

With the kind weather we encountered this last season, they were able to bring the highway building and
garage up to a clean and safe work place along with some much needed updating in other town-owned
buildings, as well. The department also started to repair some of the problems at the safety center, with
the repair of flashing along the roof line and replacement of some upper masonry work. They were able
to stop a large amount of water leaking into the building. Although this is still an ongoing repair we will
be able to repair a large amount of the work with our own work force and save the taxpayers a large
amount of money.

Before getting into the technical end of the department, I just wanted to say thank you to the public works
staff that is here for the Town everyday no matter what Mother Nature puts on them. They will fight her
back and win as usual.

The Department of Public Works consists of five (5) divisions, Highway, Parks & Recreation, Building
Maintenance, Vehicle Maintenance, and Code Enforcement. In 2012, the Code Enforcement Division
was added to the DPW. This is an exciting time at the DPW as the department is continuing to improve
its day to day operations in all divisions.

The Highway Division has been busy over the last 12 months. There were 21 treatable storms but only
39 inches of snow. 20 of those inches came on October 29, 2011 knocking down power lines and trees
across the town. The cleanup from this storm was extensive and some residents lost power for up to 5
days. We needed to hire out a lot of the tree work for the department does not have their own bucket
truck to remove high limbs and trim the overhang of trees.

During the past year, all streets have been swept and we are 4 of the way through vacuuming out all of
the catch basins throughout Town. During the summer of 2011, the reconstructions of Goffstown Road
was started with the installation of upgraded drainage, tree removal, reclaimed and a base coat of
pavement was put down and the dedication of this to be a scenic road thanks to Kathie Northrup. The top
coat for Goffstown Road will be put down during the late summer months of 2012. The three-year
paving project for both Bicentennial Drive and Smyth Road were also completed in the late summer of
2011.

After many years of resident concerns regarding the wooden retaining wall located on Granite Street, the
wall has now been replaced. The old wooden wall that was being forced into the roadway due to the
wood rotting, and ground pressure bearing down has now been replaced with a concrete rock wall. This
wall is 90’ x 5 in size and now safely addresses all concerns.

The Parks & Recreation Division worked with the Building Maintenance Division and Hooksett Youth
Athletic Association (HYAA) to upgrade both concession stands located at Donati Park. These buildings
have not been upgraded in the past 10 years. The upgrades that were made have brought these outdated
buildings up to code and lengthened their lifespan for years to come. The DPW would like to thank all
those involved and all those who volunteered time, materials and ideas to make these much needed
upgrades happen.
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Another exciting addition to the Parks & Recreation Division is the creation of the Community Garden
that is located at Donati Park. This garden is a wonderful addition and gives residents the opportunity to
grow fresh produce, flowers, or whatever they would like. Each garden plot is an 8x10 space and
residents signed up in May for these spots. The Parks & Recreation Division provided the layout of the
plots and the garden as well as the initial soil mixture to start all of the gardens out right! It was then the
gardeners who made this community garden something special! The gardens look amazing and we look
forward to next year when and if more interest arises we will look to build a community garden in the
south end of Town.

Fun in the Sun is extremely well-attended this year. The campers really seem to be enjoying the new
theme weeks. The Fun in the Sun Day Camp has made some changes and will continue to work on
changes that campers will be excited about. We are hopeful that next year we will be able to add some
different field trips. We are always looking for feedback on what parents and campers like and don’t like.
Please let us know your thoughts!

During this past year the department has invested in software called Facility Dude that now tracks all
vehicle and building maintenance repairs. Now, if a repair is needed on a vehicle or in a building the
request is entered into the software and is assigned to the appropriate person. This not only improves the
response time to the issue but there now is a permanent record of the request and what has been done to
address the issue. This software will provide written documentation when moving forward with any type
of improvement request for the Building Maintenance Division as well as any equipment requests brought
forth by the Vehicle Maintenance Division. The Vehicle Maintenance Division also has the use of this
updated software for tracking the repairs and cost to all equipment small and large, which is very good for
preventive maintenance and the replacement of equipment. The vehicle maintenance division completes
on average 65 work orders a month. They repair minor items such as leaky hoses to major repairs such as
engine replacements. In July of 2012, this division will once again repair the Police Department vehicles.

The Building Maintenance Division performs all maintenance on all town buildings. During this past
year this division has built a handicapped accessible bathroom at the Town Hall so if the need arises, we
will now be able to utilize the Town Hall as a shelter for residents. The Building Maintenance Division
also completes an average of 40 work orders per month to buildings such as the Town Hall, old town hall,
library, safety center, highway garage, transfer, historical buildings, court house, fire station 1, parks and
recreation building and facility buildings. This division multi-tasks and finds solution to every type of
repair request.

The Code Enforcement Division issues all building permits and performs inspections for building,
electrical, plumbing and mechanical work. The department is also responsible for the enforcement of all
Zoning Ordinances, Development Regulations, Health Codes and various Other Ordinances, while
making every effort to balance the rights of the residents and business owners and enforcing the Zoning
Ordinances enacted by the citizens of Hooksett.

Permitting volume this year has leveled off with major projects underway including PSNH’s new TCTM
Facility and extensive renovations to their existing Office Facility, Regency Mortgage, the completion of
the Market Basket Store at Exit 10 and the affordable housing project by NeighborWorks. Also of note is
the demolition of the Peterbrook Motel complex.

Respectfully Submitted,

Lo Lpssard

Public Works Director
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Recycling & Transfer Department
and
Recycling & Transfer Advisory Committee

As always, this has been an extremely busy year for the Department and the Recycling and
Transfer Advisory Committee. Everyone was busy establishing new policy, bidding new
vehicles and barrels, and establishing new routes in preparation of the Automated Curbside Trash
and Recycling Program. The program was implemented to address several important issues;
initiating a curbside recycling program, reducing the cost of trash disposal, and most important to
reduce employee injuries from collecting on the back of the truck.

In May of 2011, the residents voted to begin a curbside automated collection program. The
following July the trucks and barrels went out for bid. The Town of Hooksett purchased 2
trucks, one for trash and the other for recycling. The Peterbilt Company and the Hews Company
with a New Wave body, both out of Bow, were chosen as the truck manufacturers. The Toter
Company received the bids for the barrels. At the end of May the trucks arrived and the men got
a chance to do a little practice and training for the new system. On May 30" the barrels started
to arrive in Town. On June 4" the barrel roll out began. Each resident that had curbside
collection received 2 barrels, one for trash and the other for recycling. True to our word, after
the barrels arrived at your door, the new system began. We are proud of the fact that we were
able to get almost all of the barrels to the residents in one week and not the two that was
predicted. I am also extremely proud of the employees in this department who have really done
a fantastic job learning the new system in the short amount of time they had to train.

The added tonnage from the curbside program which ran during the last two weeks of June
brought the total of recycling this year to 712 tons. This is 190 tons higher than the previous
year. Residents saved $39,000 this year on disposal fees by recycling. I am hoping that the new
curbside collection will only increase the savings. In the first two weeks of the curbside
recycling collection, residents recycled 33% of their trash. Over 66% of regular household trash
can be recycled so I know that once everyone gets comfortable with the new system we can
increase those rates.

In 2011-2012 we also recycled 39.10 tons of electronics, 138 tons of metal, and 440 tons of
demolition. We transferred 4,240 tons of residential trash to Wheelabrator in Concord.

On April 21st, we held our annual Earth Day event. The weather was perfect this year and we
had a great turnout. Residents were disappointed that the new collection trucks had not arrived
but were clearly eager to have the new system begin. Our paper shredding event that day had the
highest participation yet and we will be scheduling the truck from Northeast Record Retention
again next year.

I would like to thank the employees in this department, who did an exceptional job this year
preparing for this new collection system. I am proud of their outstanding efforts to make sure
that the transition into the new collection system was a smooth one. I would also like to thank
Leo Lessard, the Public Works Director, for allowing the Toter Company the use of the garage to
build the barrels. It helped speed the process along.
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Respectfully submitted,

Liane Boyee

Superintendent

and

The Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee

Richard Bairam, Jim Levesque, Bob Worrel, Ray Bonney, Bob Schroeder, Sean McDonald and
Merrill Johnson
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Sewer Commission

The Sewer Commissioners and treatment plant staff were extremely busy this year. The disk
clean-up situation was ongoing into October 2011. Since that time things have quieted down.
There have been some sightings of a few on the NH and Maine beaches as well as
Massachusetts.

Many thanks to the affected NH communities and general public for helping us during the clean-
up process as well as the Blue Ocean Society which is a non-profit group actively involved in
marine conservation through educational programs and the coordination of the NH coastal beach
clean-ups each year.

We also appreciated the effort of those who tried to make light of our situation by using the disks
to make Christmas ornaments, jewelry and other interesting items.

The treatment plant upgrades are, for the most part, complete. Screens and alarms have been
installed as preventative measures and we continue to work with the manufacturer and engineers
to find a resolution to the problem.

The Route 3/Benton Road project brought about a new sewer line to the K-mart pump station.
The pump station was also upgraded with new equipment as the original station was built in
1974.

This year also marked the passing of longtime Sewer Commissioner Ray Robb on March 18,
2012. He served as Sewer Commissioner for 14 years and his hard work and dedication will be
sorely missed.

The Treatment plant facility and office staff continue to stand ready to answer any questions you
may have. The office is open from 8:00 am to 4:00 pm Monday through Friday. Please call us
at 485-7000 or 485-4112 or email us at hooksettsewer@comcast.net with your questions,
comments or concerns. Also, visit our website at www.hooksettsewer.com.

Sincerely,

Board of Sewer Commissioners

SW Em, Chairman

Reger Bergern
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MS-61

NH DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE ADMINISTRATION

MUNICIPAL SERVICES DIVISION

P.0. BOX 487, CONCORD, NH 03302-0487

(603)230-5090

TAX COLLECTOR'S REPORT
For the Municipality of Hooksett Year Ending June 30, 2012

DEBITS
UNCOLLECTED TAXES Levy for Year PRIOR LEVIES
BEG. OF YEAR* of this Report (PLEASE SPECIFY YEARS)
2011 2010 2009
Property Taxes #3110 3,072,109.55 -
Resident Taxes #3180 - -
Land Use Change #3120 - -
Yield Taxes #3185 3,586.26 -
Excavation Tax @ $.02/yd #3187 2,408.28 -
Utility Charges #3189 - -
Property Tax Credit Balance** - (812.06)
Other Tax or Charges Credit Balance** | - -
TAXES COMMITTED THIS YEAR For DRA Use Only
Property Taxes #3110 17,605,779.00 17,658,471.00
Resident Taxes #3180 - -
Land Use Change #3120 - 104,000.00
Yield Taxes #3185 1,242.60 7,909.95
Excavation Tax @ $.02/yd #3187 7,283.90 160.00
Utility Charges #3189 - 127,458.29
OVERPAYMENT REFUNDS
Property Taxes #3110 5,048.42 175,284.45 812.06
Resident Taxes #3180 - - -
Land Use Change #3120 -
Yield Taxes #3185 - - -
Excavation Tax @ $.02/yd #3187 - - -
Interest - Late Tax #3190 - 122,190.28 -
Resident Tax Penalty #3190 - - -
TOTAL DEBITS $ 17,619,353.92 | $ 21,273,578.06 | $ - 18

*This amount should be the same as the last year's ending balance. If not, please explain.
**Enter as a negative. This is the amount of this year's amounts pre-paid last year as authorized by RSA 80:52-a.
**The amount is already included in the warrant & therefore in line #3110 as postive amount for this year's levy.

MS-61
Rev. 12/11
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MS-61

TAX COLLECTOR'S REPORT
For the Municipality of Hooksett Year Ending June 30, 2012

CREDITS
Levy for PRIOR LEVIES
REMITTED TO TREASURER Year of (PLEASE SPECIFY YEARS)
This Report 2011 2010 2009
Property Taxes 12,710,374.80 | 19,957,983.50 - -
Resident Taxes - - - -
Land Use Change - 104,000.00 - -
Yield Taxes 1,242.60 9,711.77 - -
Interest (include lien conversion) - 122,190.28 - -
Penalties - - - -
Excavation Tax @ $.02/yd 1,518.50 2,568.28 - -
Utility Charges - 60,524.47 - -
Conversion to Lien (principal only) - 874,899.52 - -
Cost not Liened - - -
DISCOUNTS ALLOWED
ABATEMENTS MADE
Property Taxes 297.00 136,374.39 - -
Resident Taxes - - - -
Land Use Change - - - -
Yield Taxes - - - -
Excavation Tax @ $.02/yd - - - -
Utility Charges - - - -
CURRENT LEVY DEEDED
UNCOLLECTED TAXES - END OF YEAR #1080
Property Taxes 4,900,155.62 5,428.00 - -
Resident Taxes - - - -
Land Use Change - - - -
Yield Taxes - - - -
Excavation Tax @ $.02/yd 5,765.40 - - -
Utility Charges - - - -
Property Tax Credit Balance** - (102.15) - -
Other Tax or Charges Credit Balance** < >
TOTAL CREDITS $ 17,619,353.92 | $  21,273,578.06 | $ - |
**Enter as a negative. This is the amount of taxes pre-paid for next year as authorized by RSA 80:52-a
(Be sure to include a positive amount in the appropriate taxes or charges actually remitted to the treasui MS-61
Rev. 10/10
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MS-61

TAX COLLECTOR'S REPORT
For the Municipality of Hooksett Year Ending June 30, 2012

DEBITS
Last Year's PRIOR LEVIES

Levy (PLEASE SPECIFY YEARS)

2011 2010 2009 2008
Unredgemed Lie_ns Bala_nce - Beg. Of Year _ - 851,377.28 | 486,430.12 718,185.48
Liens Executed During Fiscal Year 947,349.55 -
Interest & Costs Collected 599.05 38,336.24 47,717.43 55,442.28
(After Lien Execution)

TOTAL DEBITS $ 947,048.60 | $889,713.52 | $534,147.55 | $773,627.76
CREDITS
Last Year's PRIOR LEVIES
REMITTED TO TREASURER Levy (PLEASE SPECIFY YEARS)

2011 2010 2009 2008
Redemptions 69,467.38 | 316,604.27 187,500.46 112,276.21
Interest & Costs Collected 599.05 40,070.11 47,717.43 55,671.38
(After Lien Execution) #3190
Abatements of Unredeemed Liens - 23,858.15 9,615.15 1,664.67 |
Liens Deeded to Municipality - - - -
Unredeemed Liens 877,882.17 | 509,180.99 | 289,314.51 604,015.50
Balance - End of Year #1110 _ _

TOTAL CREDITS $ 947,948.60 | $889,713.52 | $534,147.55 | $773,627.76

Does your municipality commit taxes on a semi-annual basis (RSA 76:15-a) ?__ Yes

Under penalties of perjury, | declare that | have examined the information contained in this form and to the best of

my belief it is true, correct and complete.

TAX COLLECTOR'S SIGNATURE W A7 Botseharnse DATE 7-2612
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Tax Collector

Tax Collector’s Report
July 1, 2011 — June 30, 2012

Motor Vehicle 17761 $2,619,983.37
Decals $ 39,354.50
ucCcC $ 5,430.00
Misc. Income $ 589.11
Grand Total Tax Collector $2,665356.98
Town Clerk
Town Clerk’s Report
July 1, 2011 — June 30, 2012
Dog License Penalty & Fine 1,142 $6,903.00
Vital Statistics $1,403.00
Filling Fees $19.00
Grand Total Town Clerk $8,325.00
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Town Administrator

Dear Hooksett Residents:

This fiscal year (July 2011 — June 2012) was my first in Hooksett; I started as Town
Administrator on September 1, 2011. It has certainly been an interesting year for me. There
have been many things going on, which you will read about throughout this report. One thing I
felt it was important to focus on has been improving communications with the community.

This emphasis on communication has led to a number of new initiatives. First, I now do a public
Town Administrator’s Memo, which the Hooksett Banner generously prints in their paper
weekly. This allows me unfiltered access to share information with citizens in a free and widely
distributed local media outlet.

We are also now live streaming public meetings on the Internet and then making them available
through the Town’s website. This is a relatively low-cost way to allow people to watch their
public officials in action. As time goes on, I hope to be able to make agendas and information
packets available online so that if you are watching it from home you will be able to see the same
information the members have as they discuss business and make their decisions.

A third initiative is an online service request process. If you go to the Hooksett home page you
will now find a “request/complaint” link that takes you to a program called the Citizen Request
Tracker. Not only will this send the request directly to the appropriate department, it will allow
us to better gather data so we can improve our services.

We will continue, with these initiatives and others, to keep you informed of what your local
government is doing and we will continue to improve our services.

I would like to mention a few financial items that occurred during the fiscal year that you might
not see if you don’t pour over the data elsewhere in this report. First, the Safety Center
construction bond was paid off in October. This was a 15 year bond that, with principal and
interest, came to just under $2.5 million. We also finished paying off a 6-year lease of two
pumper trucks for the Fire Department. The total cost with principal and interest was
$602,342.28.

And finally in the finance area, the Town’s auditors certified that our statements are presented
fairly in all material respects and conform to generally accepted accounting principles.
A personal note: I have enjoyed my first year as the Town Administrator and I look forward to

working with all of you to help make Hooksett an even better place than it already is.

Thanks for your support,

LDoar E SM y/z., Ph.D.

Town Administrator

185



Town Council

Dear Citizens of Hooksett,

The 2011-2012 year was marked with change, challenge, and achievement. The Town Council
composition changed with 7 new faces. This new Council worked hard to make positive change.
Everyone involved worked toward a common goal to “Make Hooksett a better place in which to live.” We
thank everyone for their effort, ideas, time and service to our Town as we enter our 190th year.

We appointed a new Town Administrator, Dr. Dean Shankle. Dr. Shankle brings important strengths to
the community with his passion, focus on communications, and charter interpretation. He immediately got
to work to achieve efficiencies in such areas as: the reorganization of the Building Department, bringing it
under the authority of the Public Works Department; hiring both a new Code Enforcement Officer and a
Health Officer; approving new insurance guidelines with the agreement of our valued town employees;
and instituting transparency among departments, local government, businesses, and citizens. There is
increased communication with our Town Administrator's weekly newspaper columns. Dr. Shankle has
also been instrumental in assisting the Town Council with improving our transparency with the public.
Thanks to Dr. Shankle, the public is now able to watch our meetings live or on-demand, on the Town’s
website.

Nancy Comai

T

e T Vil P L | d;* i iy | o
Todd Lizotte Susan Lovas Orr James Sullivan
We revised the Town Council Rules for public input at meetings by allowing for a more timely response.
The Town Council held a best practices seminar for all boards and committees. The seminar was called
Best Boards Win. This seminar provided suggestions for increased communication and opportunities to
educate all of our boards in Hooksett.

The Council adopted numerous policies in regards to investments, fund balances, public access to
conservation lands, indemnity and immunity of councilors, and finally, ice and snow removal.

In efforts to promote conservation, and with the blessing of the Conservation Commission, we approved

the purchase of Quimby Mountain; an easement of Peter Brook; and acquisition of some pristine and
historic property on the Merrimack River for future generations of Hooksett citizens to enjoy. In order to

186



protect the rural character of Goffstown Road, with the assistance of the Heritage Commission, the Town
Council officially designated it as a Scenic Road.

Working with the recommendations of our Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee, we adopted a
single stream recycling system that increases the awareness of protecting our environment as well as
helping to reduce demands on our budget.

The Town Council also took time to recognize individual and special occasions with presenting the
Boston Post Cane, commemorating Heritage celebrations, and requesting that Scouts from Boy Scout
Troop 292 open our meetings by leading those in attendance with the Pledge of Allegiance to recognize
the Troop’s 60th anniversary.

Other business that the Council addressed during the year included taking a role in the successful
negotiation and approval by the voters, contracts with our Fire and Police Unions; increasing safety on
the Route 3A Corridor; and discussions about promoting our town, and increasing future economic
development.

While we recognize the need to continue to grow and learn how to best approach daily challenges, we
look forward to working together with the citizens of Hooksett to improve our town by making sound
decisions on needed changes and always striving for positive achievements!

Respectfully submitted on behalf of the Town Council,

Hooksett Town Council Chair
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WARRANT
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

TO THE INHABITANTS OF THE HOOKSETT VILLAGE WATER PRECINCT IN
THE TOWN OF HOOKSETT AND COUNTY OF MERRIMACK IN SAID STATE
QUALIFIED TO VOTE IN SAID PRECINCT AFFAIRS:-

You are notified hereby to meet at the Hooksett Village Water Precinct Building
located in said Precinct on 7 Riverside Street on Monday the 27th day of
February, 2012, at five o’clock in the evening to act upon the following subjects:-

1. To choose a Moderator for the ensuring year.

2. To choose a Cierk for the ensuing year.

3. To choose a Treasurer for the ensuing year.

4. To choose a Commissioner for the ensuing five years.

5. To sec if the Precinct will raise and appropriate the sum of Four Hundred
Ninety Five Thousand Nine Hundred Eighty Six Doliars ($495,986) for general
district operations. This article does not include appropriations contained in any
other warrant articles. (Recommended by the Commissioners) (
{Recommended by Budget Committee)
6. To see if the Precinet will vote to raise and appropriate Forty Thousand Dollars
($40,000.00) to add to the Tank Maintenance Trust Fund with said funds to come
from Pike Industries.
(Recommended by the Commissioners ) {Recommended by Budget Committee)

7. To see if the Precinct will vote to raise and appropriate Ten Thousand dollars

($10,000) to be added to the Water Main trust fund. Said funds to come from fund

balance (surplus) and no amount to be raised from taxation.

(Recommended by the Commissioners) (Recommended by Budget Committee)

8. To see if the Precinct will vote to raise and appropriate Two Thousand dollars
($2,000) to be added to the Truck trust fund. Said funds to come from fund

balance (surplus) and no amount to be raised from taxation.

(Recommended by the Commissioners) {Recommended by Budget Committee)

9. To see if the Precinct will vote to raise and appropriate Twenty Five Thousand
dollars ($25,000) to be added to the Repair and Replacement trust fund. Said
funds to come from fund balance (surplus) and no amount to be raised from
taxation. (Recommended by the Commissioners)

(Recommended by Budget Comunittee)
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110. To see if the Precinct will vote to raise and appropriate Twenty Thousand
dollars ($20,000) to be added to the Tank Maintenance trust fund. Said funds to
come from fund balance (surplus) and no amount to be raised from taxation.
(Recommended by the Commissioners) (Recommended by Budget Committee)

11. To transact any other business that may legally come before said Meeting.

The Polls will close at 7:00 p.m. at which time the Warrant will be discussed.

) rd :Lﬁ M
Given under our hands and seal this~ day of  in the year of our Lord, Two
Thousand and Twelve.

% W& Z" Michael Jache
CLff Jones

b
@MJ i 7/ .'é"‘/fames Lyons

Leo Hebert

K) P /)/\ ~Anthonv Amato

v

Board of Water Commissioners
Hooksett Village Water Precinct
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We certify that we gave notice to the inhabitants within named, to meet at the time and
place and for the purpose within named, by posting up an attested copy of the within
Warrant at the Place of Meeting within named and a like attested copy at the Hooksett
Town Hall, the Hooksett Public Library, the Hooksett Village Water Precinct being
places in said Precinct on the 20" day of January , 2012.

% Cliff Jones

ames Lvons

i e %2 Leg Hebert
/@ Q:/\—x Anthonv Amato

\

Board of Water Commissioners
Hooksett Village Water Precinct
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Zoning Board of Adjustment

The Hooksett Zoning Board of Adjustment has the power to:

e Decide appeals from the administrative decisions of the municipal officials or boards responsible
for issuing permits or enforcing the Zoning Ordinance.

e Approve Special Exceptions as provided for in the Zoning Ordinance.
e QGrant Variances from the terms of the Ordinance.

e Grant Equitable Waivers

e Grant gravel excavation permits.

During the period of July 2011 through June 2012, the Zoning Board of Adjustment heard the
following applications:

A Total of 20 applications were submitted as follows:

14 Variances

2 Special Exceptions

2 Appeal of Administrative Decision
1 Excavation

2 Re-hearing

0 Equitable Waiver

The Zoning Board of Adjustment revenues collected during July 2011 through June 2012 - $2891

The following individuals were members during 2010-2011:

Chris Pearson, Chair Term expires 6/2014
Roger Duhaime, Vice-chair Term expires 6/2013
Richard Bairam Term expires 6/2012
Gerald Hyde Term expires 6/2013
Don Pare Term expires 6/2014
Phil Denbow, Alternate Term expires 6/2012
Michael Simoneau Term expires 6/2014
Gary Lee Term expires 6/2013
James Levesque Town Council Rep

The Hooksett Zoning Board of Adjustment meets on the second Tuesday of each month at the
Hooksett Municipal Building. All meetings are open to the public.

Respectfully submitted,

Zoning Board Secretary
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Vital Statistics

Deaths
January 1, 2011 — December 31, 2011

Deceased Name Date of Death
Bourque, Diane 01/02/2011
Clark, Barbara 01/02/2011
Foster, Mary 01/09/2011
Wydra, Sr., Eddy 01/11/2011
Oakie, Josephine 01/12/2011
Judd, Dwight 01/22/2011
Hendrickx, Richard 01/29/2011
Zimmerman, Judith 02/01/2011
Little, Roger 02/08/2011
Hall, Kara 02/13/2011
Johnson, Robert 02/26/2011
Reynolds, Barbara 02/28/2011
Marchwicz, Marian 03/03/2011
McDonald, Donna 03/14/2011
Hemeon, Patricia 03/24/2011
Kidder, Sr., Roger 03/26/2011
Holden, Patricia 04/09/2011
Bureau, Doris 04/10/2011
Hirtle, Jr., Clifford 04/10/2011
Horne, Elmer 04/29/2011
Tassie, Barbara 05/12/2011
Bourque, Bette 05/13/2011
Pollack, Lisa 05/14/2011
Lavery, Mary 05/26/2011
Gill, Therese 05/28/2011
Bleczinski, Joseph 06/09/2011
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Deceased Name
Dobles, Robert
Stratton, Claire
Colby, Judith
MacArthur, Abbie

Gendron, David

Hudon, Gloria
Moynihan, Joan
Kidder, Edith
Navarro, Tomas
Crane, Kathleen
Woodcock, Denver
Barmore, Katharine
Desrosiers, Fernald
Delellis, Rudolph
Page, Bertha
Greer, Della
Eisenhauer, Ruth
Smith, Carol
LeClerc, Claire
Hall, Linda
Lord-Shultz, Karen
Lachapelle, Esther
Nye, Barbara
Kersbergen, Anna
Burke, Jr., John
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Date of Death
06/12/2011
06/17/2011
06/22/2011
07/03/2011
07/06/2011
07/19/2011
08/13/2011
08/16/2011
08/22/2011
08/30/2011
09/02/2011
09/18/2011
09/22/2011
09/28/2011
10/01/2011
10/10/2011
10/11/2011
10/17/2011
10/22/2011
10/29/2011
11/12/2011
11/18/2011
11/25/2011
12/15/2011
12/22/2011

Total number of records: 51



Vital Statistics

Marriages

January 1, 2011 — December 31, 2011

Person A
Rodgers, Kelvin B.
Manzalgi, Khaled
Demers, Danny E.

Rahn, Devin P.

Castiglioni, Albert R.

Austin, Brett W.
Caddy, Johnny

Stuart, Christopher Z.

Fortier, Jason D.
Gallagher, Sean M.
Keil, Bridget K.
Cleasby, Jeffrey M.
Hebert, Jeffrey R.
Janosz, Andrew W.
Bixby, Tyler C.
Morin, III, George E.
Bruner, Robert J.
Sullivan, Brian N.
Chapman, David R.
Maraia, Joseph A.
Dearborn, Scott P.
Hayward, Edward

Beaurivage, Scott J.

Robittaille, Edward J.

Moore, James L.

St. Onge, Nathan J.

Person B

Boucher, Amber L.

Abdelzarek, Samira M.

Cruz, Nancy
Robidas, Lindsay R.
Grande, Denise E.
Damone, Nikole A.
Ahern, Tabitha M.
Jensen, Megan L.
Palavicini, Tiffany A.
Seavey, Kelley A.
Cappannari, Ryan A
Stanley, Katie M.
Morse, Tammy J.
Siekaniec, Kathryn
Isabelle, Katie L.
Campbell, Laurie A.
Kimball, Holly B.
Russell, Tabitha M.
Cote, Katlyn M.
Nicholls, Sharon L.
Howe, Lynette K.
Avery, Lisa A.
Kattan, Nadia S.
Dearborn, Nicolle B.
Grant, Jamie A.

Jewett, Shelley A.
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Date of Marriage
02/08/2011
03/18/2011
04/01/2011
05/06/2011
05/22/2011
06/03/2011
06/10/2011
06/17/2011
06/23/2011
07/02/2011
07/02/2011
07/08/2011
07/16/2011
07/17/2011
07/17/2011
07/23/2011
07/23/2011
07/30/2011
07/30/2011
07/31/2011
08/08/2011
08/12/2011
08/21/2011
08/27/2011
08/27/2011
8/27/2011




Person A

Kvetkosky, Thomas J.

Hope-Ross, Jillian M.
Drown, Richard E.
Gagne, Gerard R.
Sanborn, Mark A
Goel, Tarun

Berry Jay S.

Hill, Nathan L.
Rand, Michael A.
Lewis, Randal
Williams, Jarrod S.
Urbanski, Thomas D.
Bourk, Thomas E.

Person B

Vance, Joselin M.
Tannian, Ryan M.
Chandler, Leah
Roy, Robyn E.
Smith, Mary J.
Sharma Sujeita
Medlyn, Amanda B.
Ladieu, Hanna K.
Harpin, Pamela A.
Provost, Fawn M.
Davies, Ashley R.
Turgeon Carolann A.

Hoyt, Samantha E.
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Date of Marriage
08/27/2011
09/09/2011
09/17/2011
10/01/2011
10/08/2011
10/08/2011
10/15/2011
10/15/2011
10/22/2011
11/11/2011
11/11/2011
11/19/2011
12/09/2011

Total number of records: 39



Churches and Civic Groups

Churches

Bethel Christian Fellowship
(www.BethelChristianFellowship.net)

Church of the Nazarene
(www.hooksettnazarene.ocatch.com)

Congregational Church of Hooksett

Emmanuel Baptist Church
(www.emmanuelbaptistchurch.com)

Full Trinity Gospel

Cross Point Church
(http://www.crosspointnh.org)

Harvest Baptist Church

Heritage Baptist Church

Holy Rosary Catholic Church

206 Whitehall Road
7 Silver Avenue

5 Veteran’s Drive
14 Mammoth Road

16 Highland Street
1226 Hooksett Road

361 Hackett Hill Road
21 Londonderry Turnpike
21 Main Street

Civic Groups

American Legion Post #37

Amoskeag Rowing Club

Boy Scout Troop 292

Clothing Bank c¢/o Hooksett Happy Helpers
Cub Scout Pack 292

Elk’s Lodge

Fun in the Sun

Garden Club

Girl Scouts

Historical Society

Hooksett Emergency Relief Commission (HERC)
Hooksett Grange

Hooksett Youth Athletic Association
Hooksett-ites — Senior Group

Kiwanis Club of Hooksett

Knights of Columbus

Lions Club

Old Home Day Committee

Retired Senior Volunteer Program

Retired Senior Volunteer Program

Robie’s Country Store Preservation Assoc.
Voluntary Action Center

Riverside Street
Information

Jeff Scott, Scoutmaster
Bernadette Chevrette
Jason Hyde, Cubmaster
39 Londonderry Turnpike
c/o Parks & Rec

Doris Sorel

Robin Boyd

Jim Sullivan

Joy Buzzell

Bernadette Chevrette
Jay Jennato

Walter Chase

Tom Young

Philip Clouthier
Melody Whitcher
Carrie Hyde
Merrimack County
Hillsborough County
Robert Schroeder
Information

669-6712

627-2971

485-9009
668-6473

622-2851
622-6026

627-2633
641-4921
485-8567

485-7781
668-2130
623-2086
485-4071
485-3888
623-9126
668-8019
622-5880
623-3941
485-4951
485-8769
485-9448
413-822-5284
485-3616
625-5125
485-2330
491-0676
485-0556
224-3452
634-1169
485-3881
668-8601
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